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Breakthroughs beyond limits, innovation embraces victories

CORPORATE PROFILE
AR BN

China Modern Dairy Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Modern Dairy”
together with its subsidiaries, the "Group”) is the leading dairy farming operator
and raw milk producer in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Modern
Dairy operates 42 dairy farming companies in the PRC with dairy cows over
450,000 heads and annualized milk yield of over 2.59 million tons. The Group
is a leading dairy farming operator and raw milk producer in terms of herd size
in the PRC. The Company initiated the production model of “Zero-distance
Integration of Forage Grass Planting, Cows Breeding and Milk Processing within
Two Hours”, which is the first in the PRC that applies integrated production
model with SGS certification. Modern Dairy's products have been awarded
the Gold Prize of Monde Selection which is generally regarded as the “Nobel
Prize” in the food industry, for the past ten consecutive years. In recent years,
our business segment has expanded to feed and forage, intelligent e-commerce
platform and dairy cows breeding.
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“Raise healthy cows, safeguard each and
every drop of milk”
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HIGHLIGHTS
=

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

BZ12A31MBLEE

2023 2022 Change
2023% 20224F 2%
(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB") (BR4ERIZIEASN  FIESBEAARK

millions unless otherwise stated) TAR®BDEB IR
FINANCIAL DATA B RE
Revenue A 13,458 12,295 +9.5%
Cash EBITDA MNote I8 £ EBITDAMEY 2,496 2,740 -8.9%
Profit for the Year F R F 185 580 -68.1%
Net Cash from Operating Activities KEEBMERe TR 5,449 1,577 +245.5%
Net Free Cash Inflow (Outflow)Nete 2 BEEEMACKL) FEE 0= 1,568 (2,414)  N/ATER
Net Asset Value per Share (RMB)Nete) BREEFE(ARET) W 1.42 1.42 -
Earning per Share (Basic) (RMB cents) SRRAF (ER)(ARED) 2.23 7.16 -68.9%
KEY OPERATING DATA FTEREHE
Total Raw Milk Sold EEN RS (BNE)

(ten thousand tons) 255 233 +9.4%
Herd Size (heads) BEREGR) 450,562 405,358 +11.2%
Average Milk Yield TR E (W, e )

(tonnes/head e year) 12.6 12.2 +3.3%

Notes:

m Cash EBITDA is defined as earnings before finance costs and tax
having added back: i) depreciation and amortisation charged to
profit and loss; ii) other gains and losses, net; iii) impairment losses
under expected credit loss model, net of reversal; and iv) loss arising
from changes in fair value less costs to sell of dairy cows.

2) Free cash flow is defined as the net cash generated from operating
activities less the net cash outflow from investing activities.

(3)  Equity attributable to owners of the Company at the year end divided
by the number of ordinary shares in issue as at 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2022, respectively.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.0045 per ordinary share (2022: RMB0.0142).
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HIGHLIGHTS:

With the corporate vision of "establishing a whole dairy value
chain, innovating with digital intelligence, and becoming a global
dairy farming leader”, while focusing on the core business of raw
milk and driven by digitalization and ecological approaches, the
Group's businesses cover the entire dairy value chain of the dairy
industry’s upstream sectors, including breeding, forage plantation,
feeds, dairy farming and dairy value chain e-commerce platform.
With an excellent management team, leading scientific research
and innovation, highly digitized intelligent value chain and efficient
cost control, Modern Dairy has achieved organic synergy between
its core raw milk business and new value chain businesses, which
has empowered the overall business of our Group to develop
stably and robustly.

° Strong Growth in Core Business: Raw milk production,
being the core business of the Group, has performed
solidly. During the year, both the average annualised milk
yield (“AMY") per milking cow and the total milk yield have
reached record highs, and there has also been a significant
increase in the herd size and sales revenue from raw milk.
As of 31 December 2023, the Group had invested in and
operated 42 dairy farming companies in mainland China,
and the number of dairy cows reached 450,562 heads,
representing a yoy increase of 11.2%. The AMY per milkable
dairy cow reached an industry-leading level of 12.6 tons as of
31 December 2023, representing a yoy increase of 3.3%, and
is expected to grow continuously. Total raw milk sold reached
2.55 million tons during the year, representing a yoy increase
of 9.4%, with sales revenue amounting to RMB10,264 million,
representing a yoy increase of 3.2%.
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HIGHLIGHTS

i &

Strong Development of New Business: Along with last
year's successful acquisition of Aiyangniu (an e-commerce
platform company) and development of new businesses
including Liangyuan Technology, Modern Feed, Modern
Grassland and Meng Yuan Genetics etc., the Group's
businesses have expanded to the operation of value
chain e-commerce platform, forage and feed production
and premium cow semen sectors. These new businesses
collectively contributed sales revenue of RMB3,195 million
for the Group during the year, representing a yoy increase of
35.9%. These new businesses have brought new sources of
profit to the Group, and strengthened the vertical layout and
security of industry value chains, while synergizing with the
core business to build an industry-leading digital intelligence
technology economic moat.

Initial Results of Fund Controls: During the year, the
Group persistently strengthened its internal cost reduction
and efficiency improvement control measures and actively
explored external upstream and downstream synergies
to cope with the operational pressure from the industry.
Moreover, the Group timely adjusted its working capital
management strategy by reducing investment expenses, and
recorded net free cash inflow of approximately RMB1,568
million (2022: net outflow of approximately RMB2,414 million),
representing a yoy turnaround and effectively helping the
Group control the scale of interest-bearing borrowings. As of
31 December 2023, the Group's interest-bearing borrowings
amounted to RMB11,497 million, a year-on-year decrease of
7.8%.

Stable Rating Outlook: During the year, Modern Dairy was
again assigned a "BBB” investment grade credit rating by
Standard & Poor's with a stable outlook, making it the first
Chinese dairy farming enterprise in the People’s Republic
of China (“China” or “PRC"), to receive such a rating, which
fully demonstrates the capital market’'s confidence in the
Company’s performance in terms of sustained growth and
financial stability. The credit rating affirms the international
credit rating agency'’s recognition of the Company’s and
China's large-scale dairy farming model, and also facilitates
the Company to secure more competitive financing terms.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023
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Excellent Product Quality: Modern Dairy abides by the
mission of "“raising healthy cows, safeguarding every drop of
good milk”. From forage grass planting, cows breeding to
milk processing, the Group utilises digital intelligence to carry
out 24/7 all weather monitoring of each link in the whole dairy
value chain to ensure the quality and safety of raw milk. As a
result, the Group’s farms were certified as the “High Quality
Milk Project”. Our branded pure milk has been awarded the
Gold Prize of the Monde Selection for ten consecutive years.
In response to customer demands, Modern Dairy launched
a speciality milk track and arranged A2 milk exclusive farms
to provide more high-quality and safe milk products for
consumers.

HIGHLIGHTS
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Excellent ESG Performance: ESG is an integral part of our
core competitiveness. We keep focusing on the dual synergy
of "ecological industrialisation ® industrial ecologicalisation”
development, which integrated economic development
and environmental conservation to the Group's business.
During the year, the Group has been awarded the “Green
Development Typical Case” by the China Dairy Industry
Association. The Group's domestically pioneered medium-
temperature anaerobic fermentation and waste treatment
system is an excellent case of low-carbon emission and
has been successfully included in the report of the United
Nations Global Compact. Our pioneering practice in resource
utilisation was also selected for inclusion in the COP28 “2023
Corporate Climate Action Case Studies”.
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HIGHLIGHTS

aE
Production of Raw Milk (‘0,000 tons) Unit Yield per Milkable Cow (tonnes/head ¢ year)
RBEE EW) RELAFEE M FE.F)
A9.5% A3.3%
259 12.6

j%ﬁ A A WA

161

2021 2022 2023 2021 2022 2023

Unit Cost of Sales of Raw Milk (RMB/kg) Cost of Sales (RMB/kg)
AT PHEERKRARYE AR HERKPAMARYE AR
Y1.7% Cost of feeds Other costs
FRA A HAhpK A

2.97 2.92
2.33 234

2.10

0.69 0.64  5g

2021 2022 2023 2021 2022 2023 2021 2022 2023
Gearing Ratio (%) Net Interest-bearing Liabilities (RMB100 million)
EESBHER % FEEEBEREERT)
A27 ppt BDH Y 11.2%
62.3% 99.2

59.6%

2021 2022 2023 2021 2022 2023

6 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023




Net Interest-bearing Gearing Ratio (%)
FEEABHE v

V33 ppt EDE
46.0%

42.7%

2021 2022 2023

Control the scale of interest-bearing liabilities
(RMB100 million)

ERARAEREw)

124.7

2021 2022 2023

Optimization of interest-bearing debt structure

BEEBEREL

HIGHLIGHTS
S

Net Leverage Ratio (%)
FEMELER (%)

v 10.8 ppt BEH

85.2%

2021 2022 2023

Steady decline in financing costs (%)

BERARREBL TE (%)

3.74%

3.56% 3.49%

2021 2022 2023

[ Short-term debts
HHAETS

' Long-term debts
REIER

2023
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CORPORATE CULTURE PANORAMA

ETWHAR+ WaAE¥a B¥AHK

g Raise healthy cows, éﬁ Deploy the whole industry chain,
% innovate with digital intelligence,

Mission '%, %\ '@' e m g& % Vision ﬁk @ ’ﬁ & 'g- 5' 'gﬁ %

f d each and d f milk
e and be a global dairy farming leader

Yoot B,

Core Values
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g% HRES TURAR 5p @ il
22 = gEE N TEIEE FHEMHER
s 2 REBE FAEAE ST eyl
3~ HEE% BFEH 417 e
o N __ = e T B A
ESY EiRERR RBE BN EX- :
8 — R life and lect risk 2 Respect science and lead innovation.
3 . e € and never Negiect rsks. 5 Be proactive and responsible,
- Fight the virus, be healthy, be cautious. and be true to our words,
a Quiality comes first, never be compromised. Mak o db . -

Save energy, reduce carbon footprint and waste. ae concrete steps and be proactive.

Y. Respond quickly and be attentive to details.
" "
(= SA S, o] x
z f BAEA THENE :L ﬁ BREREE
Q = N o
BT B A RTER iy REFERBRM
fe ERBAE BURR Sk E AFAE REGRYE
g RA%ER HERE g RERNERBE
g Value talents from all walks of life. E; Uphold principles and be pragmatic.
Reward talents based on merits. Stop speculation and opportunism.
Good at empowering and be successful together. Be fair and open.
Say no to bias and backstabbing. Speak with truth and substance.
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Enterprise Spirit

Re 2% HQalEY

Born to be strong and go beyond ourselves

S QeI

Culture Concept

TR L T D P
FEA—R L N EEER
Operational concept Management concept

EERESEX RMBE— - HAREL
HEABARREEREN HERD  BREE  BER

A)

EEPELER - DNF - DIE - DE
High standards, high quality and efficiency BREEMERK - TRULATL ©

Put heads together to achieve win-win results
and build a green and sustainable development
of the whole industry chain ecosystem

Efficiency-first and cost-advantages
Teamwork and courage to take responsibility and act
Fairness, justice and openness
Empower the team and achieve mutual success

BERER ATER AlFER
Quality and safety concept Talent concept Innovation concept

EREMEE BTRRLRIR - RIFTERE) R -
HEBRIPRE EXER  EERE - LUEERER  SE288H -
BREREL BEXEENFA BRALHER S
BRIBELKLEZ - Committed to cultivating the fastest-growing, SIBITESmERRE -

most professional, most valuable and

most respected talents in the industry Innovation drives the future forward,

and take value growth as the direction,

Excellent quality
Friendly environment

Life supremacy advocate the innovative spirit of full participation and
Bottom lines of incorruptibility daring to be the first so as to lead the high-quality
development of the industry




FARM MAP AND SNAPSHOT OF THE GROUP

EEHNSEVEBRER

REKE

Inner Mongolia Region
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Baoji Farm
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Wuzhong Farm
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Fuminfeng Farm
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Changji Farm
FERS
Yilei Farm
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Xinyuan Farm
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Northeast Region
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Saibei Region
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Saibei Farm Il Tongliao Farm

Aaanshan Farm
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efei Farm
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South China
Sea Islands
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Shangzhi Farm
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Hengsheng Farm
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Northern China Region
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Tangshan Farm
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Central China Region
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Shanghe Farm
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Wenshang Farm
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Snapshot of farm
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PRODUCTS OF THE GROUP AND ASSOCIATES
KERBENTEM

A2 SERIES
A2Z 5

DNA MILK

DNA4 13

A2 genotype dairy cows, screened by DNA detection, contains rare A2 3
casein which is naturally compatible with the human body and facilitates
nutrient absorption. The supply is limited due to its scarcity.

DNARRIE BEmEA2ERFA Y - S ALHA20EER  BA
BMAR  APREERY  BERKD  REMHE-

30-MINUTE-BEFORE-SLEEP MILK
EERI30 415

To have a glass of milk before going to bed and to fall asleep easily. Helpful

to calm down, relieve stress and improve sleep quality by adding GABA
nutrition which is needed by human body.

MERT— ) BEREHBL - A ABATGABA B LISHE BN FEEBE -
RIRE S - IRITERES -

LACTOSE MILK SERIES
REPBRI

DREAMCAP 200% HIGH CALCIUM LACTOSE MILK
B 4]§5200%5 S8+ 15

Lactose-free, gentle on the stomach. Each box is rich in 500mg of

high calcium, which helps to strengthen bones and teeth. With

added vitamin D, it enhances calcium absorption.

mILNE - WEBES - SREE500mgmil - B 1B EHE o A
HERD - RS HRUBR -

HOLSTEIN SERIES
fer Hif 38 2 5

HOLSTEIN PURE MILK

157 H 38 44 4 43

Holstein pure milk, from a good selection of
Holstein cows, contains 3.2g of high-quality milk
protein per 100ml for everyday nutrition with a
rich and favourable taste.

FUEEEFABENIR - ®1002H 232885
ER #RERE XK WEEE ORERE-

o0 9
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PRODUCTS OF THE GROUP AND ASSOCIATES
S B L QR E M

GOLD-AWARD SERIES
SRR

PREMIUM-PACKAGED PURE MILK

EE R4

China Aerospace Special Edition, witnessing the historical

moment of China’s aerospace. Made from 100% fresh milk, retaining the
natural taste of milk. Each 100ml contains 3.2g of high-quality milk protein,
every drop is rich in original nutrition.

PEMRBRIRER  REBEPEMRNELKZ - &M

100%E4 LR - RBEPBEANRIK - B100EHE3.29BEIEH -
—HHMEREERLEE

GOLD AWARD HIGH CALCIUM MILK

SREEHIH

High in calcium from good dairy farms. Each 100ml contains 3.2g of high-quality milk protein.
Vitamin D is added to facilitate calcium absorption. It is nutritious, pure and rich in taste. It has
won the Gold Award of Monde Selection for four consecutive years.

=I5RE S - BI100Z2A 5125257 - FAIMAKERD - REFGHRK - £#8EE - 4
EBR - EBENFREUARRmETERSEE -

GOLD AWARD PURE MILK
SHRAHI
It is produced by self-owned farms with high-quality milk sources. It has

won the Gold Award of Monde Selection for four consecutive years.
BRYS  BEPR  EENFREUHRRnMETERGEE -

GOLD AWARD 2-HOUR PURE MILK

SR2NEGHFD

SGS-certified fresh milk, collected from pasture and processed within 2
hours. Sourced from Holstein cows. It has won the Gold Award of Monde
Selection for ten consecutive years.

HSGSRE @ ST AEF IR IRERIF I8 I TIEHIFE2/ NS LAR © 38
BREVENG MR - EETFREERARRmETEAGE R -

-

/ HRBE
7

SEC=FFER FERRKUREERFARLT
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MAJOR AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS
FTERERKE

Gold Prize of Monde Selection

HRRERRETERGER

Modern Dairy was awarded the Gold Prize of Monde Selection for the tenth consecutive year,
symbolizing that our premium quality branded milk was widely recognized by consumers.
ERUEEB0FREUARDRETE SR ERERMSEENRMNEZESHEEENS
Bk o

Top 20 Leading Agricultural Industrialization Enterprises in Anhui Province
(ZREBEERERLZE208)

Modern Dairy was awarded the title of “Top 20 Leading Agricultural Industrialization Enterprises in
Anhui Province”, which signified recognition and acknowledgment of the Company's achievements
and contributions in the field of agricultural industrialization in Anhui Province, and highlighted the
Company'’s position as one of the leading operators in promoting and advancing agricultural practices
and technologies in Anhui Province.

ARUEES(LREAREERCEBRLR200) WS - ERZFRAUEELRERREFRCALHK
AMEEGE TRAMEE » MRHE T ARBERSNHELRE RREBMRIM S BB -

BBB Investment Grade Rating Assigned by Standard & Poor’s
BEERTRERBBBYH

Modern Dairy was again assigned a “BBB” investment grade rating by Standard & Poor’s, with a stable
outlook. Modern Dairy became the first dairy farming company in the world having been assigned an
international credit rating of investment grade. This fully affirms the recognition received by the Company
for China’s large-scale farming model from international credit rating agencies. Such grading established
a positive image for the industry in the international capital market.
ARBREFBRESTERTREMBBBIA  FEAREA/RTE - ARHEEREHERESEKER
RRREFNPFERELE - ERVHBTERGEATERBEARANEPERARICEEERANE
E o REREEBREATSTHLT RIFTER -

Green Development Typical Case

RoRREARRG

Modern Dairy was awarded the “Green Development Typical Case” from the China Dairy Industry
Association which recognised outstanding contributions in the field of green development in China.
ARUEESTEAERIZEGSGERRANE) L ERZERENGFEERBEME TRER
Bt o

ﬁ - »
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MAJOR AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS
TERIENKE

¢ 05 i» National Core Breeding Farm For Dairy Cows

N :

e [BRPFROBES [RE

Tongliao farm, one of our dairy farms was awarded the title of “National Core Breeding Farm for Dairy
Cattle”, which affirms the development direction and achievements of the Group in the breeding

industry.
SEETBEERSEBRNTROBES RS BETARAEEE T ENERHERT A RATARGH
AR e

¥ 06 i» Transformation from Digitalization

B BPEER

Modern Dairy was honored with the “2023 CDI China Digital Enterprise TOP20"” award and “2023 Dingge
Award for Digital Transformation Pioneer List” by the Annual Jury Committee, symbolizing our success in
digitalization transformation.

B M 2023CDIF BB F L 2 3 TOP20) }2[2023 » S E BEH T WA L BE | FEAZTGRE - 12
wE RPIEBF BRI -

¥ 07 ¢ ESG Achievement

" ESGHEIE

Modern Dairy was honored with the “2023 Netease New Energy Annual ESG Pioneer Enterprise Award”,
and was listed on the “2023 Bloomberg Green Finance ESG50 Annual Environmental Rankings”. Our
pioneering practice in resources utilization was selected for inclusion in the COP28 “2023 Corporate
Climate Action Case Studies”.

BRBERRE2023F R B B[ FEESGR B LRI RBRKF[2023Z AR S ESGS0-TE F EIREFEE
B - HFINEREFALEEEAECOP28(20231h X RIRTTENZRPIE) -

WA
e
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o
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£
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“Modern No. 1” Genomic Liquid Phase “Chip”
et HEMBIRMFIERARENS A

Meng Yuan Genetics independently developed “Modern No. 1" Genomic Liquid Phase “Chip”, filling
in the domestic commercial dairy cows genomic “chip” market. We have completed the preliminary
construction of the milk production trait prediction model, which is the first genomic reference
population model in China that can be used for predicting dairy cow-related traits.

SEBREETMEIBRARURIZERERBIER EMEARECHFERAITR I0ZES - BATHKT
ENUERTEAREN YT HERE  2RARLSBEANG @A BARNTENEEEREAINERNEA2ZEE

i}go
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MAJOR AWARDS AND ACHIEVEMENTS
T2 RIERIKE

R
4

Employer Branding Award for DEI
DEVE X m i K&

In December 2023, Modern Dairy was honored with the “2023 Employer Branding Award for DEI (Diversity,
Equity, and Inclusion)”. We place great importance on the management philosophy of corporate

428
o
R
T4

A

diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI). Building a DEI culture within the Group helps enhance personnel
management capabilities and strengthens the Company’s brand development.
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In October 2023, more than 200 core members of our Group, along with the talents of the Mengniu milk
source division, gathered in Dunhuang with the belief of “Born to be Strong”. We embarked on the
challenging journey of the Xuanzang's Road — Gobi Challenge. The race lasted for 3 days and 2 nights,
covering a total distance of 88 km. It was not only an extreme challenge but also a remarkable feat.
Facing the interwoven sand dunes, relentless winds and sands, and the boundless expanse of the desert,
we overcame each obstacle one by one. The Gobi Challenge not only allowed us to embody the culture

of resilience, but also strengthened our unity, power and resilience.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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Mr. ZHAO Jiejun
HEEEE

Chairman of the Board
EFSLE

Dear Shareholders, BALMEER -

2023 is a year full of challenges. The macro economy was complex  2023%F * R mkEN—F - ZELCEEHS

=

and volatile, but there were also rare opportunities. B ERIPFEERGHS -

During the year, as Modern Dairy enhanced our core A BREELDRIAL] - EREHDER LXK
competitiveness and continued to work hard and diligently in the — FIRFEEEXH - NHTE @ BERBITEASR
raw milk business in pursuit of perfection, we managed to maintain B FRIELAES - FEFER LR KER - &
our leading advantages in terms of industrial costs and scale. fI#E—FTEEXENR  ERASEHERES
In terms of our new business, we sought to expand and further Z/ERE E @ BB HREBIEHERL - BFHEX
improve the layout of the value chain, maximizing synergy and 1t °

profits on the basis of improving the security of the Group's supply

chain.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

With an excellent management team, leading scientific research
and innovation, a highly digitized intelligent value chain and
efficient cost control, Modern Dairy has achieved highly efficient
synergy between its core raw milk business and new value chain
businesses during the year. Despite the challenging external
environment, the Group’s overall business recorded robust growth,
with revenue increasing by 9.5% yoy to RMB13.4 billion and profits
amounting to RMB185 million. We rewarded our shareholders for
their support with a dividend payout ratio of approximately 20% for
four consecutive years.

In 2023, our raw milk production has demonstrated solid
performance, with the herd size reaching more than 450,000
heads and total sales reaching 2.55 million tons, a yoy increase of
9.4%. The average annualised milk yield per milkable dairy cow
reached an industry-leading level of 12.6 tons, representing a yoy
increase of 3.3%. We abide by the mission of “raising healthy cows,
safeguarding every drop of good milk”. Most of our farms were
certified as “High Quality Milk Project”, and our branded pure milk
has been awarded the Gold Prize of the Monde Selection for ten
consecutive years. In response to the diverse needs of consumers,
Modern Dairy deployed forces on the speciality milk track and set
up A2 milk exclusive farms to provide more high-quality and safe
milk products for consumers.

The new businesses initiated previously have entered the right
track one after another with milestones being achieved one by one,
such as Aiyangniu becoming the largest e-commerce platform in
the domestic dairy value chain, land resources under the control of
Modern Grassland exceeding 1 million acres, Modern Feed ranking
among the top two in the dairy cattle feed industry nationwide
and the “Modern No. 1” genomic phase “chip” independently
developed by Meng Yuan Genetics filling the domestic gap.
The strong development of such new businesses has not only
brought new sources of profits to the Group, it also strengthened
the vertical layout and security of the industry value chains of the
Group, while synergizing with our core business to strengthen the
Group's industry-leading digital intelligence technology economic
moat.
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By upholding the corporate spirit of “born to be strong,
leap beyond ourselves” and on the basis of expanding and
strengthening our own business, Modern Dairy is continuously
committed to deploying forces for and developing its value chain
vertically and horizontally, empowering innovation with digital
intelligence and setting a benchmark for the industrial peers with
an aim to provide customers with high-quality fresh raw milk, offer
high-end and reliable milk sources to dairy manufacturers and help
manufacturers produce healthy and diversified products as a return
to consumers. Modern Dairy will continue to actively undertake
the responsibility of revitalizing the national dairy industry through
leading the industry transformation into a sustainable development
model of digital intelligence innovations while achieving low-
carbon environmental protection, and will also keep improving the
ecology of the whole value chain to develop ourself into one of the
world’s leading and socially responsible dairy farming groups.

Finally, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the
management and our employees for their contributions over the
past year, as well as our partners and shareholders for their trust
and long-term support. Modern Dairy’s ability to achieve success
steadily relies on the hard work of all members of the Group, and
we hope to continue to work with all of you together in the future
to create new chapters by building on past achievements.

Zhao Jiejun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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Mr. SUN Yugang,
BERBILE
Chief Executive Officer

Dear Shareholders, BM SRR

On behalf of the management of China Modern Dairy Holdings ZARAEREXABIRAHBEILRER A G HEEN B
Ltd. and its subsidiaries, | am pleased to present the annual results R FIEIEE @ RARSMAREZHARMEEZE
of Modern Dairy for the year ended 31 December 2023 to the 2023F12HA31HILFEMEFELE -
shareholders.
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2023 was a year of perseverance and progress. In the face of
various challenges and pressures, we remained steadfast, worked
pragmatically and resolutely implemented the cost-orientated
strategies by upholding the corporate spirit of “born to be strong
and leap beyond ourselves”. We led the industry in nine aspects
(performance, output, cost, technology, dairy value chain, safety
and quality, social responsibility, sustainable development and
brand reputation) and achieved leap-forward development in terms
of low operating costs, high economic benefits, high performance
achievement, high employee happiness index and high-quality
development.

Striving for progress and reaching new heights in performance.
This year, Modern Dairy produced more than 2.5 million tons of
high-quality raw milk, continuing to lead the industry in terms of
costs. New businesses brought new impetus, such as Liangyuan
Technology, Aiyangniu, Modern Grassland, Modern Feed and
Meng Yuan Genetics have been taking significant strides in their
development. Our entire-value-chain synergized successfully,
leading to satisfactory completion of the tasks and goals assigned
by the Board. Modern Dairy has achieved dazzling and industry-
leading performance.
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CEO'S STATEMENT
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Bracing against the wind and tide, and heading for the lead.
This year, Modern Dairy has made great strides in strategy, culture
and action consensus. We successfully drew the long-term strategic
blueprint “Green Leadership 2030 Success Portrait”, lighting up
the road to development. We solemnly released the five cultural
concepts of “operation, management, quality and safety, talent
and innovation” to illuminate the future for paving the way out of
the dilemma. We organized the Gobi Challenge event to highlight
the power of belief and persistence and to build momentum for
the journey ahead.

Promoting digital intelligence with low carbon footprint,
safeguarding the greenery landscape. This year, Modern Dairy
has been seeking transformation in “green” and development
in “digital intelligence”. With SAP as the core, we integrated
peripheral full-business chain systems such as ERP, OA and SRM
to open a new era of “digital cattle farming”. We took the lead
in releasing industry-leading dual carbon targets, and we were
selected into the COP28 2023 Corporate Climate Action Case
Collection” and were listed on the 2023 Bloomberg Green ESG50
annual environmental list, promoting the green, low-carbon
and sustainable development process of the entire industry. We
have also established the first public welfare brand in the animal
husbandry industry, “Dairy Farming For Good", to help revitalize
rural areas.

Seeking benefits for employees and striving to be the best
employer. This year, Modern Dairy focused on improving the
efficiency of human resources, comprehensively carrying out
talent training, accurate performance matching mechanisms and
launching a one-stop health and welfare platform. The Group's
overall level of commitment was high, and the Group is the only
animal husbandry group winning the “2023 DEI Employer Brand
Award”, truly allowing its employees to live a happy life of wealth,
prestige, status and respect.

Looking back on 2023, our nearly 9,000 employees had been
painting the great dream of “revitalizing China’s dairy industry”
on the industrial chain track. This has made the morale to achieve
Modern Dairy’s ambition of “"breakthroughs beyond limits,

innovation embraces victories” even higher.
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The year 2024 is not only a critical year for fully implementing the
spirit of the 20th National Congress of the Communist Party of
China, but also the first year for the implementation of the “Green
Leadership 2030 Success Portrait”. Modern Dairy will unswervingly
promote Chinese-style modernization and implement the new
development concepts in a complete, accurate and comprehensive
manner. Specifically, we will continue to pay attention to six
aspects (the country, society, win-win partners, employees,
shareholders and technology), and deeply focus on five major tasks
(strengthening farming, expanding forage, creating an efficient
platform, improving breeding and genetics and adding value by
deep processing), aiming at striding forward towards “555 Goals”
and the grand blueprint of "achieving first-class technology and
talents, creating first-class industry leadership”. Moreover, we will
focus on profit and quality upgrading, and adhere to the main tone
of “reducing costs, increasing yields, unifying patterns for input
and output; strengthening the system building, ensuring strict
compliance and leading by green example”. We will make endless
breakthroughs and innovate to win the future by fully implementing
the "44621" Action Plan, adhering to "4 Constants” as the business
strategy, "4 Effects” as the management goals, promoting "6JIAN"
as a guarantee for action and sticking to “Two Bottom Lines”.
In this way, we will create a striving system of “moving towards
the first”, accelerate the construction of a new development
pattern, promote high-quality development, and strengthen our
determination to achieve success in 2024.

Practice enriches knowledge, more knowledge leads to better
practice. There will inevitably be difficulties along the way of
marching forward. But we are ready for a protracted war. | always
firmly believe that we are the best team, a team that can fight
tough battles and win battles, because we have strategic goals with
clear directions and precise paths and we have emulous employees
who dare to break through and surpass ourselves. We will surely
be able to make progress while maintaining stability, reinforcing
stability through advancement and adhere to the principle of
“establishing the new before abolishing the old” amidst the great
changes of times, thus helping China’s dairy industry to achieve
stability and long-term development.

Sun Yugang
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of China Modern Dairy
Holdings Limited (“Modern Dairy” or the “Company”) is pleased
to present the audited annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2023 (the "year” or "2023").

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

In 2023, China’s dairy industry achieved high-quality development
despite many challenges and pressures arising from slow market
recovery and high costs for the dairy industry, with the support
of national policies and technological innovations. According to
statistics of the National Bureau of Statistics, China’s raw milk
production reached 41.97 million tons in 2023, representing an
increase of 6.7% year-on-year, which was the fourth consecutive
year of maintaining a growth rate of more than 6%. At the same
time, China’s dairy cow annual yield also increased to 9.2 tons,
representing an increase of 5.7% year-on-year ("yoy"). However, the
price of raw milk showed a continuous downward trend, resulting in
a continuous decline in the profitability of dairy farming.

On the international market, China’s import of dairy products
declined in both volume and value in 2023. China imported a total
of 3.058 million tons of various dairy products, representing a
decrease of 10.0% yoy, which was also the second consecutive year
of decline in China’s dairy product imports since 2015. The import
value was USD12.082 billion, representing a decrease of 13.3% yoy.
Among them, the import volume of whole milk powder was 777,100
tons, representing a decrease of 24.9% yoy. The import value was
USD2.923 billion, representing a decrease of 34% yoy. The average
price was USD33,762/ton, representing a decrease of 12.1% yoy.
These data reflected the stage imbalance of domestic raw milk
supply and demand, which has also led dairy companies to reduce
their reliance on external dairy products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In terms of policies, on 13 February 2023, the Central Committee
of the Communist Party of China and the State Council issued the
"Opinions on Promoting the Key Work of Rural Revitalization in an
All-round Way in 2023", which was the 20th Central No. 1 document
since the 21st century to guide the work of “agriculture, rural areas
and farmers”. The document emphasized the need to strengthen
the support of agricultural science and technology and equipment,
promote the breakthrough of key core technologies in agriculture,
implement seed industry revitalization actions, and promote the
green development of agriculture. At the same time, in April
2023, the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs also issued the
“China Agricultural Outlook Report (2023-2032)", which reviewed
and forecasted the market situation of China’s main agricultural
products. The report predicts that in the next 10 years, China’s
milk production and consumption will both increase significantly,
dairy product imports will continue to increase, and the price
of fresh milk will generally show a fluctuating upward trend. In
addition, in December 2023, the National Food Safety Standard
Review Committee solicited opinions on 21 national food safety
standards (drafts for comments), including the national standards
for "Ultra-high Temperature Sterilized Milk” and “Sterilized Milk”.
“Ultra-pasteurized milk” and other specialty milk products are also
expected to have their first national standards. The introduction of
these policies and standards will provide more powerful guarantee
and guidance for the development of China’s dairy industry.

Faced with multiple difficulties of raw milk’s stage oversupply,
price decline, cost increase, etc., China’s dairy farming industry
is in the most difficult situation in more than a decade. Under
such circumstances, innovation is the key to breaking through the
predicament. The upstream animal husbandry industry will continue
to support the genetic evaluation and breeding of bulls by
accelerating the “seed source” independent process, improve feed
conversion efficiency by developing feed resources, and vigorously
develop intelligent dairy farming to improve production efficiency
and quality. With the help of these innovative measures, China's
dairy industry will be able to enhance its own competitiveness and
sustainable development capabilities, and provide consumers with
dairy products of higher quality.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE W LD

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

During the year, the Group firmly implemented the three-year
strategic plan, implemented cost-orientated strategies, focused
on “three-JIAN (diligence, simplification, synergism) (in Chinese
pinyin: Qin Jign, Jidn Hua, Jian Shdo)”, reduced four types of
expenditures, and implemented eight major initiatives, with the
aim to achieve low operating costs, accomplish high operating
indicators, attain high economic efficiency, and secure high reward
for employees. Thanks to the concerted efforts of the management
and all employees, the performance of the Group's main operating
indicators was better than expected. The average annualised milk
yield (“AMY") of milkable cow was 12.6 tons per head (2022: 12.2
tons per head), representing a yoy increase of 3.3%. And the total
milk yield was 2,588 thousand tons (2022: 2,364 thousand tons)
during the year, representing an increase of 9.5% yoy.

During the year, the Group's sales revenue recorded RMB13,458.2
million (2022: RMB12,295.1 million), representing a yoy increase of
9.5%. Among which, the sales revenue of raw milk amounted to
RMB10,263.7 million (2022: RMB9,945.1 million), representing a yoy
increase of 3.2%. The sales revenue of the new business segments
amounted to RMB3,194.6 million (2022: RMB2,350.0 million),
representing a yoy increase of 35.9%.

DAIRY FARMS

Leveraging on the world's first model of “integration of forage
planting, cow breeding and milk processing”, Modern Dairy is
currently a leading dairy farming operator and raw milk producer
in the PRC in terms of herd size and volume of annual production.
With farms spreading across the nation, we are equipped with
unique geographical advantages. Most of our dairy farms are
located at regions with fine climate and ample feed supply, and
are adjacent to processing plants of dairy products to ensure that
procedures from the milking to processing could be completed in
the shortest time and the nutritional value and freshness could be
maintained at the highest level.

The Group continues to renovate the cowshed equipment and
improve the ventilation system; adjust the feed formula and
increase the frequency of feeding; enhance the dryness level of
the bedding materials and improve the bedding comfortability by
applying drying technologies; and increase the frequency of sink
cleaning to ensure healthy drinking water. By doing so, the Group
continuously improves and enhances comfortability for milkable
cows so as to raise milk production.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is continuously exploring the application of emerging
technologies in farm production. By using collars and pedometers,
we can discover the estrus and illnesses state of cows, thereby
improving the breeding and health standards of the cows. Through
image recognition technology, we monitor the feeding and identify
the risks, enabling a timely detection and automated supervision.
Through the "Pasture Security Cloud Management Platform”,
we can oversee potential hazards and monitor dangerous work,
ensuring that all farm operations comply with safety regulations
and improve the safety management standards of farm production.
Each farm is equipped with modern cowshed equipment, logistics
systems, environmental protection facilities, 24/7 intelligent
monitoring systems, and with veterinarians stationed in farms to
make sure that each cow inhabits in a comfortable and healthy
environment and produces high-quality raw milk.
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Herd Scale BEEAE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Heads Heads
g 58

Dairy cows L4
Milkable cows e 218,711 199,793
Heifers and calves NFLEE RN 231,851 205,565
Total FEE 450,562 405,358

As at 31 December 2023, the Group invested and operated a
total of 42 dairy farming companies with 450,562 dairy cows in
mainland China (2022: 405,358 heads), representing a yoy increase
of 11.2%. The Group is a leading dairy farming operator and raw
milk producer in terms of herd size in the PRC. The proportion of
milkable cows to the total number of dairy cows decreased by 0.8
percentage points to 48.5% in 2023 (2022: 49.3%) yoy, mainly due
to the significant increase in the number of the Group’s heifers and
calves in the stage of expansion, resulting in the decrease of the
proportion of milkable cows. The Group will continue to optimize
and adjust the herd structure so as to achieve sustainable, healthy
and stable development.

v =y
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE W LD

Milk Yield

During the year, the Group recorded AMY of 12.6 tons per milkable
cow (2022: 12.2 tons), representing a yoy increase of 3.3%. The total
annual milk production of the Group grew by 9.5% yoy to 2.588
million tons (2022: 2.364 million tons). The increase in milk yield was
attributable to effective herd management, genetic improvement
over generations, and an increase in the number of cows reaching
peak stage of lactation. Milk yield is affected by a number of
factors, including the frequency of lactation, breed, comfort level,
health, genetics and feed mix. The Company has been conducting
research on each factor, inviting foreign and domestic cow experts
to regularly station and give guidance at the farms, and through
interactive sharing amongst industry experts and staff training, to
improve milk yield and cow health.

OVERVIEW OF OPERATING STRATEGIES

Based on the broad outlook of the dairy industry and the current
market situation, we will implement the business strategy of “One-
Focus, Three- Shifts, Three-Focuses”. One focus: to focus on
cost leadership strategy and bring into play our core competitive
advantages in cost reduction and efficiency. Three shifts: Firstly, we
will shift from a single strong dairy industry to a full value chain and
further improve the layout of the whole industry chain. Secondly,
we will shift from simply building our own farms to diversifying
our farming operation model and efficiently integrating industry
resources. Thirdly, we will shift from upgrading the processing
side to upgrading the raw milk side, and increase the production
of specialty milk. Three focuses: focus on scientific standardisation
of dairy feeding management; focus on promoting the process of
digital intelligence innovation and focus on promoting low-carbon
green transformation development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Focus on Cost-lead Strategies

In response to the huge pressure on the farming industry brought
about by the continued rise in the prices of major bulk materials
in recent years, we need to adopt a three-pronged approach. The
first is to expand the size of the herd and continue to improve
yields, thereby diluting unit costs. Secondly, we will strengthen
cost management, and through accurate grasp of market trends,
close linkage adjustment between formula and market price of
materials, and implementation of precision feeding and effective
farms management, we will smooth out the impact of rising feed
prices, reduce the unit cost of one kilogram of raw milk sold, and
continue to maintain unit feed cost of one kilogram of raw milk
output at the leading level in the industry. Thirdly, we will increase
our operational management efforts, tap potential and cut costs,
vigorously implement benchmarking improvements, save other
cash costs and improved efficiency. We are committed to our cost
leadership strategy, adhering to the concept of “all costs can be
reduced”, and will continue to dig deeper to reduce unit costs so
as to achieve our industry-leading cost strategy.

Further Improving the Whole Industrial Chain

In 2023, the whole industrial chain had been completed. We will
continue to develop new fields such as intelligent e-commerce
platform, feed business, grass farming and breeding industry to
form a whole industry chain layout with raw milk as the core which
is multi-faceted and multi-services. Through the four diversifications
of “business diversification, customer diversification, product
diversification and service diversification”, the Group has been able
to cope with and mitigate the fluctuations of the raw milk market
cycle and enhance its anti-risk capability.

Promote the Diversification of Ranching Operation Mode
Actively promote the light asset operation model, implement
leasing operation, entrusted management, technology export, etc.,
implement the diversification of ranch operation model, innovation
and transformation, efficient integration of industry resources,
reduce ranch capital expenditure, enhance return on assets,
and effectively export the Company’s advanced management
experience. At the same time, provide high-quality employment for
rural workers and help revitalise the countryside.
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Accelerate the Share of Specialty Milk Matching

Customise the layout of farms according to market demand and
increase the proportion of specialty milk production. Change the
past situation of upgrading dairy products at the processing end
and shift to upgrading raw milk end in a timely manner. Actively
develop speciality milks, including A2, organic milk and selenium-
rich milk, to match the dairy upgrade, raise the integrated milk
price, improve the gross margin of the raw milk business and
enhance profitability.

Focus on Scientific Standardisation of Dairy Cows Feeding

Management

We actively carry out scientific feeding and breeding actions,
improve breeding techniques, enhance cow survival rate and
improve overall cow health; continue to optimise cow genetics
and enhance herd fitness; improve barn environment and raise
feeding standards, benchmarking with advanced farms at home
and abroad to achieve sustainable and stable improvement in unit
yield. We insist on the concept of “good cows naturally produce
good milk” and attach great importance to the quality of raw milk,
with the quality of raw milk passing rate at 100% as an important
measurement target for raw milk quality and a lifeline for the long-
term development of the Company.

Focus on Advancing the Digital Intelligence Innovation
Process

We strive to create digital intelligent pastures. Give full play to
the Aiyangniu platform to disintermediate procurement and
transparently compare prices among multiple parties, effectively
reducing procurement costs. Make good use of the Yunyangniu
platform to provide targeted AloT intelligent solutions to realise
the systematic integration of cows from breeding, feeding, health
management to milk production modules. With its competitive
advantages in loT services, big data analysis and artificial
intelligence analysis, it will integrate into the ecological sharing
platform of Aiyangniu Technology and promote the digital vision of
Modern Dairy to be implemented as soon as possible.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND
EPIDEMIC PREVENTION

The Company's various milk quality indicators are better than
the EU standards. Food safety indicators are set in the raw milk
production process, and the whole process is strictly monitored
to ensure that the raw milk quality meets the standards. Since
Mengniu increased its stake in the Company, the Group and
Mengniu have enhanced cooperation in product testing, unified
inspection standards and processes, improved testing efficiency
and product quality. The Group strictly complies with relevant laws
and regulations for epidemic prevention management, conducts
health rating management for dairy cows, cautiously controls the
environment of farms, refines the management of farms, provides
epidemic prevention and protection for dairy cows, and establishes
quarantine and health check plans for cows, to ensure the health of
cows.

Based on resource recycling, the Group has built a green recycling
industrial chain of “forage planting — cow breeding — fertilizer
treatment — biogas power generation — fertilizer back to the field”.
Each farm is equipped with large-scale biogas power generation
facilities and comprehensive utilization facilities for biogas fertilizer,
which absorbs, digests and environmentally treats the manure. For
sustainable development, the Group will continue to implement
high-standard environmental protection policies and implement
rigorous epidemic prevention measures in our farms.

Carbon Dioxide Peaking & Neutrality Project

The Company always takes green and sustainable development
as its core concept. It has fully launched the dual-carbon project,
and started to carry out carbon inventory and certification work to
further determine the goal and vision of carbon emission reduction.
At the same time, various departments are actively implementing
green action measures for carbon reduction, helping to achieve the
overall goal of “carbon peaking and carbon neutrality”.

Last year, Modern Dairy launched the Dual-carbon Project, and has
also set a quantitative target for carbon intensity emissions by 2035.
Modern Dairy has labelled farms with over 10,000 cows and ultra-
large-scale farms with low carbon emission intensity as models and
stars of “carbon emission reduction” into the strategic plan, aiming
to provide strong evidence for the synergistic development of
low-carbon and quality improvement and efficiency enhancement
and boost the confidence in the sustainable development of the
industry.

Taking 2021 as the base year, the Group aims to have it unit carbon
emissions to be reduced by 7%, 15% and 20% by end of 2025, 2030
and 2035, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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LAUNCH OF “FRESH"” ESG STRATEGIES

RS Be5||E  MERE
i mETERE  BEABRIFRE

Vision: Green leads, harmonious coexistence

[FRESHI T #3453 R B 3% 4

Mission: Quality guards health, responsibility creates a better future
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In March 2024, we unveiled the “FRESH" sustainable development
strategies with “Green leads, harmonious coexistence” as our core

principle. The Group will focus on implementing green actions
based on five key strategies: Future, Responsibility, Environment,
Society, and Health.

We are actively pursuing the dual carbon goals, aiming to become
a pioneer in the green and low-carbon sector. We are exploring
new and improved resource recycling models, constructing globally
leading digitalized ecological farms, enhancing our sustainable
development governance system, and achieving top-tier ESG
performance. Our goal is to empower the sustainable development
of the Company, establish environmentally friendly green dairy
farms, actively shoulder more social responsibilities, drive rural
economic development, and create a “"Happiness-oriented”
enterprise that provides consumers with high-quality nutrition,
outstanding products, and excellent services.

With “"FRESH" as our guiding principle, we deeply integrate
scientific technology with the entire dairy value chain, collaborate
with upstream and downstream operators, and wholeheartedly
compose a new chapter in the sustainable development of Modemn
Dairy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EIEE 8 R DT

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW B &R
Sales Revenue SHEWA
Business Analysis E3 SR
The following table sets forth the details of the consolidated TXR#EHIIEBEZF12A31HIEFEAHFRAR
revenue for the years ended 31 December: 4 -
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARBTT
Raw milk business EREYIES Y 10,263,657 9,945,090
New business ERS 3,194,566 2,350,001
Consolidated revenue iR ON 13,458,223 12,295,091

During the year, the Group recorded sales revenue of RMB13,458.2 G » REBREHEWRAARKE13,4582H8
million (2022: RMB12,295.1 million), representing a yoy increase of ~ JL(20224F : AR¥12,2951H&7T) ' AR
9.5%. Among which, the sales revenue of raw milk amounted to ~ 9.5% ° EFREEHNHE R AZEARE10,263.78
RMB10,263.7 million (2022: RMB9,945.1 million), representing a yoy — #7L(2022%F : AR¥E9,945 18 & L) AL R
increase of 3.2%. The sales revenue of the new business segments  3.2% ° ¥TE B RBERFRAZE AR, 194,67
amounted to RMB3,194.6 million (2022: RMB2,350.0 million), &7T(2022% : AR¥2,350.08&7T) * AiLiEK

representing a yoy increase of 35.9%. 35.9%
Raw Milk Business FER ¥R

The following table sets forth the details of sales revenue, sales TEREIIFATRFENRENAHEERA - HEE
volume and average selling price (“ASP") of raw milk for the years ~ RFHEEFIE

indicated:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
Sales Sales Sales Sales

revenue volume ASP revenue volume ASP

SHEWA HEE TIHEE  HEMA HEE  THERE

RMB'000 tons RMB/ton RMB'000 tons RMB/ton

ARET T W AR®T /M ARETT WE AREIT MR

Raw milk JFRH 10,263,657 2,546,924 4,030 9,945,090 2,327,351 4,273
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE W LD

The Group's total revenue of the sales of raw milk increased by
3.2% yoy to RMB10,263.7 million during the year (2022: RMB9,945.1
million). The increase was mainly due to the increase in sales
volume of raw milk.

ASP of raw milk has decreased by 5.6% yoy to RMB4.03/kg during
the year (2022: RMB4.27/kg). This was mainly due to the downward
trend of selling prices in the domestic raw milk market.

Total sales volume of raw milk increased by 9.4% yoy to
approximately 2.55 million tons during the year (2022: 2.33 million
tons), mainly due to the increase in the number of milkable cows
and the rise in AMY per milkable cow.

New Business

New Business refers to the Group's feeds and forage and intelligent
e-commerce platform, etc. During the year, total sales revenue
of the New Business segments amounted to RMB3,194.6 million
(2022: RMB2,350.0 million), representing a yoy increase of 35.9%.
Among the New Business segments, sales revenue generated from
the feeds and forage business amounted to RMB2,537.8 million
(2022: RMB1,851.3 million), representing a yoy increase of 37.1%,
while revenue from the intelligent e-commerce platform business
for livestock industry achieved RMB656.8 million (2022: RMB498.7
million), representing a yoy increase of 31.7%. The management
expects that the New Business segments will continue to grow and
contribute profits to the Group.

COST OF SALES

The Group's cost of sales primarily consisted of cost of raw milk
and feeds sales. The following table sets forth the breakdown of
the cost of sales of our products for the years indicated:

FA-REDESERAR/ARKE10,26378E
70 (2022F : AR¥9,945.1887T) @ Rt K
32%  TERARAEERMPFEERLLIER -

FRN - BHNEFHEBAEARKL.03T./ 2
(20224 : AR¥4277T,/NT) AL T
5.6% - TEHRARBEARCINTHER NITHE
2,

FA - REHNARE = 4952558 B8 (20224F : 2338
WA) - RIELIEAN9.4% » B R BN IR IER) I
EURSBENFNFCEEFMEAATR

e

MEBREAENRBETFEEBSE - RER -
MEBRBEHKESRAARKE3 194688
TT(2022%F + AR¥2,350.08&7T) - RILER
35.9% - AR MEREEXBHHRSHERAAR
#2,537.8A &L (20224 : AR®1,851.38 8
TT)  RHIER371% - EREHETFEEBKER
WAANREE656.8F & T (20224 + ARM498.78
&B7T) - RILER31.7% - IR BT E BRI
BREERY RAEEHRANEER -

8 & A

AR B G 8 R E B RSB R B A R BT R B 6
PRI o TSR 871 AN S B R A FTUTS 4F JE HO 3 88 X
R4 -

2023 2022

20235 20224

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARBFIT

Raw milk business Y UESL 7,350,674 6,850,047
New Business EDS 2,979,536 2,178,065
Total cost of sales BT HER A 10,330,210 9,028,112
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year, the Group’s cost of sales amounted to
RMB10,330.2 million (2022: RMB?9,028.1 million), representing a yoy
increase of 14.4%, mainly due to the increase in sales scale of raw
milk and New Business.

Raw Milk Business

During the year, the cost of sales of raw milk business amounted to
RMB7,350.7 million (2022: RMB6,850.0 million), representing a yoy
growth of 7.3%, mainly due to the increase in the sales volume of
raw milk.

During the year, the prices of key bulk feeds remained at a high
level. The Group implemented various measures to streamline the
procurement process so as to reduce purchasing costs. The Group
has effectively alleviated the impact arising from the increase in the
prices of certain feeds through improving the formula, adjusting
the feed mix, enhancing the health of cows and raising AMY per
milkable cow. During the year, the Group kept the average feed
cost of raw milk before inter-segment offset at RMB2.34/kg (2022:
RMB2.33/kg), approximately the same as the last year. And the
Group has broadened sources of income and reduced other
expenditure concurrently. During the year, the Group kept other
costs of raw milk at RMB0.58/kg (2022: RMBO0.64/kg), representing
a significant decrease. As a result, during the year, the Group kept
the average unit cost of raw milk before inter-segment offset at
RMB2.92/kg (2022: RMB2.97/kg). The Group's cost-control ability
maintains at an industry-leading level.

New Business

During the year, the cost of sales of New Business amounted to
RMB2,979.5 million (2022: RMB2,178.1 million), representing a yoy
increase of 36.8%, mainly due to the growth in sales scale of New
Business, which is in line with the growth in sales revenue of New
Business.

B E & am Mo T

FRN - AEBEHEEKAARE10,330.288 7T
(2022%F : AR¥9,0281EE L) ' ALLEER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Overall Gross Profit and Profitability
The following table sets forth the breakdown of gross profit and
gross profit margin of our business for the years indicated:

REEFRBFEE
TREINAREEBRARFEENENRENER
R4

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Gross profit Gross profit

Gross profit margin  Gross profit margin
EF EF = EF EF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARET AREEFIT
Raw milk business R B E 75 2,912,983 28.4% 3,095,043 31.1%
New Business HEB 215,030 6.7% 171,936 7.3%
Total BT 3,128,013 23.2% 3,266,979 26.6%

The Company'’s financial performance is highly correlated with
market prices and costs of raw milk and also affected by the milk
yield of each milkable cow. In general, when milk prices increase,
the Company'’s profitability will increase correspondingly under
normal operation condition. When milk yield improves, the unit
cost of sales of raw milk will correspondingly decrease.

The gross profit of the Group's raw milk business amounted to
RMB2,913.0 million (2022: RMB3,095.0 million), representing a
decrease of 5.9% yoy, which was mainly due to the fact that the
gross profit contributed by the increase in the sales volume of raw
milk cannot fully offset the decrease in gross profit caused by the
decrease in the ASP of raw milk. Although the average unit cost of
raw milk has decreased, it was not enough to offset the decrease in
the ASP of raw milk, causing the gross profit margin of the Group's
raw milk business to decrease by 2.7% yoy to 28.4% (2022: 31.1%).
The gross profit of the Group’s New Business was RMB215.0 million
(December 2022: RMB171.9 million), representing an increase
of 25.1% yoy, which was mainly due to the increase in the sales
revenue of new business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Losses Arising from Changes in Fair Value Less Costs to
Sell of Dairy Cows

Losses arising from changes in the fair value of dairy cows less
costs to sell dairy cows were RMB1,280.4 million during the year
(31 December 2022: RMB988.2 million), representing an increase of
29.6% yoy, mainly due to the decrease in market price of beef, the
decrease in selling price of raw milk and the increase in the herd
size during the year.

Gains Arising on Initial Recognition of Raw Milk at Fair
Value Less Costs to Sell at the Point of Harvest

During the year, the gains arising on initial recognition of raw milk
at fair value less costs to sell at the point of harvest amounted
to RMB2,678.0 million (2022: RMB2,887.5 million), representing a
decrease of 7.3% yoy, mainly due to the decrease in the ASP of raw
milk.

International Financial Reporting Standards requires that raw milk
harvested was initially measured at fair value less costs to sell, and
the difference between the fair value less costs to sell and the
actual costs incurred was booked to profit or loss account.

Other Income

During the year, other income amounted to RMB221.1 million
(2022: RMB201.6 million), representing an increase of 9.7% yoy,
which mainly consisted of government grants and interest income,
of which interest income accounted for RMB67.5 million (2022:
RMB60.4 million), while the government grants amounted to
RMB127.5 million (2022: RMB109.9 million). Government grants
mainly consisted of subsidies for agricultural projects and subsidies
for the operations of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEH B RS T

Operating Expenses R
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARETTT
Selling and distribution costs SHE RS H A 377,784 369,887
Administrative expenses THHEX 852,386 730,203
Total operating expenses KRR AT 1,230,170 1,100,090

The total operating expenses was RMB1,230.2 million during the
year (2022: RMB1,100.1 million), representing an increase of 11.8%

FR KERAXBBEASARE1,230288T
(2022 : AR®1,100.1887T) © FLIER11.8% -

yoy. The analysis is as follows: DT
Selling and distribution costs HERDHMAX
2023 2022
2023F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT
Transportation costs and others EWBREM 356,712 352,349
Taxes and surcharges i Re Bt 21,072 17,538
Total selling and distribution costs HEN DAY A% 377,784 369,887

40

Selling and distribution costs mainly consisted of
transportation costs for the raw milk business, transportation
costs and other expenses (mainly salaries and other daily
expenses of the sales department) for new business, as well
as taxes and surcharges related expenses. During the year,
the Group's selling and distribution costs stood at RMB377.8
million (2022: RMB369.9 million), which was basically the same
as last year. Among these, 1) transportation costs for the
raw milk business were RMB234.9 million (2022: RMB207.5
million), a yoy increase of RMB27.4 million or 13.2%, which
was mainly due to the increase in the Group's raw milk sales
volume; and 2) transportation costs and other expenses
for new business were RMB121.8 million (2022: RMB144.8
million), a yoy decrease of RMB23.0 million or 15.9%, which
was mainly due to the slowdown in economic growth and the
recovery of market logistics capacity, resulting in a reduction
in overall bulk logistics costs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly included remuneration of
management staff (including equity-based share award
expenses) and depreciation charges of office buildings,
staff quarters and facilities, and other daily administrative
expenses. During the year, the Group’s administrative
expenses amounted to RMB852.4 million (2022: RMB730.2
million), representing an increase of RMB122.2 million
or 16.7% yoy, which was mainly due to the following: 1)
the Group has equipped some of the new farms that
were gradually put into production with experienced
management personnel and necessary resources to ensure
stable operations in the early stages, thus increasing
administrative expenses. There was a certain lag in the
release of the production capacity and benefits of these
new farms, but the Group expects that these new farms will
continue to contribute to the Group's performance after
reaching full production capacity; 2) there is an impact of the
different periods during which the administrative expenses
of companies acquired by the Group are included in the
Group's consolidated financial statements in the respective
years; and 3) with the expansion of the Group’s business
scale, in order to match the Group's strategic development
needs, the number of management personnel has been
appropriately increased and investment in informatization and
digital intelligence construction has been increased, resulting
in a corresponding increase in administrative expenses.
During the year, the Group was honored with the “2023 CDI
China Digital Enterprise TOP20” award and “Dingge Award
for Digital Transformation Pioneer List” by the annual jury
committee, symbolizing the Group's success in digitalization
transformation. The Group is committed to establishing a
sound talent development and incentive system to safeguard
the realization of the Group's strategic objectives. During
the year, the Group achieved a significant increase in major
operating indicators, which was far beyond expectations and
had brought satisfactory incentive results.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB WL

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED
CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

AHEEERER T RERSE MKk
el

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETT

Impairment losses recognised in respect of: YR IRMER AR EEE

Trade receivables JEUE 5 BR N 17,216 1,965
Other receivables H e IR IR 62 30
Total BE 17,278 1,995

During the year, the impairment losses under expected credit
loss model, net of reversal of the Group amounted to RMB17,278
thousand (2022: RMB1,995 thousand). The Group has assessed the
corresponding expected credit loss of its trade receivables based
on the principle of prudence, resulting an increase in expected
credit losses based on the expected credit loss model. However, it
does not indicate the ultimate actual losses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Gains and Losses, Net

During the year, net gains arising from other gains and losses
amounted to RMB5.2 million (2022: net losses of RMB376.7 million)
mainly consisting of net amount of foreign exchange (gains)/
losses, fair value (gain)/loss on derivative financial instruments. The
breakdown of other gains and losses is as follows:

B E & am Mo T

Hib s kBB FEE

FR - AEEHSEMEEMBEIEEN RS
FREAARES2BEIT(2022F : BEFEAR
376 7EBETT) 0 TEEIEIMNE (W), EIRF
B TESRMTENATFEUWRS), BES - &
i s K ESIERR AN T ¢

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
Other gains and losses, net: Hih e R e 8 EEE .
Net foreign exchange loss HNE B 18 58 77,638 377,346
Loss/(gains) on disposal of property, plant HEME - BERRENEER
and equipment (W) 12,081 (15,322)
Loss/(gains) on termination of lease ®IFTRERHEMER ()
agreements 10 (3,652)
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets REAMELEENEE 12,386 165
Gain on disposal of assets classified as held BRESBAFIELHENEENKE
for sale (4,470) -
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary BRE—FFARMEX 215 =
Impairment losses of property, plant and ME - BE KR EREREE
equipment - 1,895
Gain on remeasurement of previously held B EZRFANERN NS
interests (5,050) =
Fair value gain on structured deposits mBUEERN AR BEKE - (2,465)
Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative financial PESTRIANAFEEER,
instruments (Weaw)
Foreign currency forward contracts HMNERBIE XY 59,371 2,172
Foreign currency option contracts SNEHRRES XY (74,430) (53,321)
Capped and floored cross currency swap HEHERX X i (80,640) 69,844
Changes in other liabilities Hith & (B (4,034) -
Others H A, 1,750 =
Total A&t (5,173) 376,662
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEw LN

Finance Costs

During the year, the Group's finance costs amounted to RMB521.2
million (2022: RMB379.6 million), representing an increase of
37.3% yoy. Among which, 1) the financial costs for interest-bearing
borrowings were RMB433.1 million (2022: RMB368.9 million), a
yoy increase of 17.4%, which was mainly due to the growth in the
average size of interest-bearing borrowings, and the average
financing cost rate of the Group's interest-bearing borrowings
continued to decline; and 2) the financial costs for lease liabilities
were RMB72.4 million (2022: RMB36.8 million), a yoy increase of
96.7%, which was mainly due to the increase in the scale of lease
liabilities.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE

COMPANY

The Group's cash EBITDA amounted to RMB2,495.8 million during
the year (2022: RMB2,740.2 million), representing a decrease of 8.9%
yoy. The cash EBITDA margin was 18.5% (2022: 22.3%), with a yoy
decrease of 3.8 percentage point (“ppt”).

Taking into account the above factors, profit attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to RMB175.2 million during the year
(2022: RMB562.5 million), with a yoy decrease of 68.9%.

During the year, basic earnings per share of the Company (the
“Share”) was RMB2.23 cents (2022: RMB7.16 cents per Share).
Diluted earnings per Share was RMB2.21 cents (2022: RMB7.13
cents per Share).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2023, the net gearing ratio, which was
calculated on the basis of the amount of total interest-bearing
borrowings less cash and deposit assets as a percentage of the
total equity, was 74.4% (as at 31 December 2022: 85.2%) with a yoy
decrease of 10.8 ppt.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s available and unutilised
credit facilities were approximately RMB6,989.0 million (as at 31
December 2022: RMB5,759.9 million). Having considered (i) cash
flow forecast from operating activities of continuing operation; (ii)
existing financial resources and gearing level of the Group, the
Directors believe that the Group's financial resources are sufficient
to meet its debt repayment, day-to-day operations, contracted
capital expenditures as at 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Operating Activities

During the year, the Group's net cash inflow generated from
operating activities amounted to RMB5,449.0 million (2022:
net cash inflow of RMB1,577.1 million), which increased by
RMB3,871.9 million yoy. The Group has adjusted its working capital
management strategy in a timely manner to reduce the occupation
of working capital, resulting in an increase in the net cash inflow
generated from operating activities.

Investing Activities

During the year, the Group’s net cash outflow from investing
activities amounted to RMB3,881.1 million (2022: net cash
outflow of RMB3,991.5 million), which is decreased by RMB110.4
million yoy, mainly due to the adjustment of the merger and
acquisition strategies during the year, resulting in a decrease in
the consideration paid for equity acquisitions compared to the
previous year.

Financing Activities

During the year, the Group's net cash outflow generated from
financing activities amounted to RMB1,633.9 million (2022: net cash
inflow of RMB2,588.2 million), mainly due to fine tuning of financing
strategies which led to the increase of net repayment of interest-
bearing borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB WL

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2023, the total interest-bearing borrowings of

BEER

R2023F12A31H » ZEBEMNBEEBREEAA

the Group was RMB11,496.7 million (2022: RMB12,470.9 million), R#11,496.78 870 (2022F : AR®12,47098
representing a yoy decrease of 7.8%. &) - RILRA7.8% o
Details are set out as below: ZBERSWHAT
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Borrowings: B
Bank borrowings HRITER 7,390,443 8,583,585
Other borrowings EHAufE R 547,225 293,819
Long term bonds EHES 3,559,003 3,493,016
Short term debenture HHRES - 100,522
11,496,671 12,470,942
Carrying value repayable: FEEEREE -
Within one year —F AR 2,595,271 4,989,334
Between one to two years —Z2ZFR 2,364,698 1,852,203
Between two to five years —EZHFER 6,163,635 4,955,736
Over five years AEMNUE 373,067 673,669
11,496,671 12,470,942
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEw® RO

The following is an analysis of the respective borrowings:

o Bank borrowings

During the year, the annual interest rate of bank borrowings
varied from 1.50% to 8.16% (2022: from 1.65% to 8.16%).

The table below sets forth the short-term and long-term bank

borrowings as at 31 December 2023:

BERERDHWT

RITHER

RAFER  RITEROFRRERE A
1.50% % 8.16%(20224F : 1.65%%=8.16%) °

TRIE 2023412831 B R AR KR

I

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTT
Bank borrowings: RITER

Unsecured borrowings AR E R 5,949,895 7,071,053
Secured borrowings BHEIRER 1,440,548 1,512,532
7,390,443 8,583,585

Carrying amounts repayable: FEEEREE :
Within one year —F LR 2,206,484 4,831,164
Between one to two years —FEEMFERN 2,364,698 1,772,370
Between two to five years MEERFNA 2,634,750 1,453,997
Over five years HEFEAE 184,511 526,054
7,390,443 8,583,585
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB WL

48

Other borrowings

During the year, the annual interest rate of other borrowings
varied from 3.35% to 7.65% (2022: from 3.59% to 12.00%).

The table below sets forth the short-term and long-term other

H {5 5K

RAFEER  HMERNFNXEREE
3.35% % 7.65% (20224 : 3.59%%12.00%) °

TRIER2023F 1283 BNE LR REH

borrowings as at 31 December 2023: fb A& R
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREFIT
Other borrowings: HnfE ¢

Unsecured borrowings R RE R 531,807 268,403
Secured borrowings BIRHER 15,418 25,416
547,225 293,819

Carrying amounts repayable: FEEEREE :
Within one year —F AR 353,251 22,704
Between one to two years —FERMFRA - 79,833
Between two to five years MEZERFNR 5,418 43,667
Over five years HEFEMNE 188,556 147,615
547,225 293,819

Long term bonds REIES

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T

Carrying amounts repayable: FEEEREE :
Within one year —F LR 35,536 34,944
Between two to five years MEEZRFNR 3,523,467 3,458,072
3,559,003 3,493,016
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GROUP STRUCTURE

Save for disclosed in this report, during the year, there was no
material change in the structure of the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of ordinary shares in
issue of the Company was 7,915,662,048 shares (31 December 2022:
7,915,662,048 shares).

As at 31 December 2023, the net assets attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately RMB11,201.0 million
(31 December 2022: approximately RMB11,264.1 million), the net
borrowings of the Group (total interest-bearing borrowings less
cash and deposit assets) amounted to approximately RMB8,813.2
million (31 December 2022: approximately RMB9,921.7 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND PLEDGE OF

ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, no buildings and equipment of the
Company (31 December 2022: nil) were pledged as security for the
Group's borrowings.

As at 31 December 2023, biological assets with carrying value of
RMB695.4 million (31 December 2022: RMB831.8 million), no time
deposits (31 December 2022: RMB131.4 million), trade receivables
of RMB12.9 million (31 December 2022: RMB19.7 million) and
properties of RMB24.0 million (31 December 2022: RMB127.0
million) were pledged as security for the Group's borrowings.

Except as disclosed above, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEw LN

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s capital commitments in
relation to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
amounted to RMB281.1 million (31 December 2022: RMB261.8
million) with a increase of RMB19.3 million yoy.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the Group had no
significant investments during the year.

PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the Group does not
have any concrete plans for material investments and capital assets.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, our Directors
have confirmed that, as of 31 December 2023, there were no
circumstances that would give rise to a disclosure requirement
under Rules 13.13 to 13.19 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this report, no other material
events occurred during the year and up to the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES

The Group mainly operates its business in mainland China,
and the foreign exchange risks related to its operations are not
significant. Even so, the Group still strictly monitors and controls
potential financial risks. The Group’s major financial instruments
include equity instruments at FVTOCI, trade and other receivables,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, bank borrowings, other borrowings, long term bonds,
short term debenture and derivative financial instruments. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group was primarily subject to foreign currency risk from the
movement of the exchange rates between RMB against USD. We
manage the foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews
of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures and may enter
into foreign currency option contracts or capped and floored cross
currency swap, when necessary, to manage its foreign exchange
exposure.

We manage the interest rate risk (if any) by performing regular
reviews of the Group's net interest rate exposures and may enter
into interest rate swap contracts, when necessary, to manage its
interest rate exposure.

For credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit limits and credit
approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an
internal credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s
credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and
scoring attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action
if necessary is taken to recover overdue debts.

The management believes the risks associated with the financial
instruments were properly managed and didn’t pose material
impact to the Group's operation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEw LN

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION

OF EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately 8,873
employees (31 December 2022: 8,455 employees) in the PRC and
Hong Kong. As a result of continuous expansion of the Group's
business scale, the number of employees increased during the
year, and the total staff costs of the Group amounted to (excluding
equity-settled share award expense) approximately RMB1,087.0
million (2022: RMB976.0 million).

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the
Group pays fixed contributions to publicly administered pension
insurance plans on a mandatory basis. Payments to defined
contribution retirement benefit under the state-managed
retirement benefit schemes in the PRC (the “State-managed
Retirement Benefit Schemes”) are charged as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contribution. The PRC employees of the Group are eligible
members of the State-managed Retirement Benefit Schemes
operated by the government of the PRC. The employees of the
PRC subsidiaries of the Company are required to contribute
in accordance with employee pension insurance and other
insurance benefits requirements on monthly basis to the State-
managed Retirement Benefit Schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the State-managed
Retirement Benefit Schemes is to make the required contributions
under the schemes. Employees in Hong Kong are provided with
retirement benefits, under the Mandatory Provident Fund scheme
and medical insurance.

In 2023, based on the needs of business development, the Group
formulated a human resources strategy consisted of five key
initiatives, i.e. reshaping cultural strength, upgrading organizational
management, accelerating echelon construction, deepening talent
recruitment and innovating performance incentives. Its industry-first
“four-wheel drivers” leadership model and “diamond” professional
power model, through attracting, retaining and cultivating the
Company's elite professionals, aimed to create capable generalists,
build a first-class talent supply chain system and realize the talent-
driven strategy. Moreover, the Group strictly abided by various
relevant laws and regulations and offered standardized salary,
performance evaluation policies and diversified welfare policies to
attract and retain employees, striving to provide all employees with
the remuneration and benefits they deserve and being committed
to achieving the Group's strategic goals together.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Upholding the principle of “safety and quality come first”,
the Group is proactive when it comes to fulfilling its social
responsibility. The Group devotes great effort to strike a balance
between business growth and social responsibility, so as to convey
the Group's care and blessing to all stakeholders. The Group is
committed to improving the quality of its products by providing
consumers with a commitment to provide healthy, safe, nutritious
and high-quality dairy products. Meanwhile, it adheres to the
production principle of energy conservation and environmental
protection.

The Group actively promotes the economic development of the
surrounding areas where the farms are located and increases the
income of local residents. The Group actively implements the
precise poverty alleviation policy, responds to the call of poverty
alleviation, and is devoted to poverty alleviation within the industry
and society. Firstly, the contracts of silage planting were signed
with local farmers in the farming areas to reduce the impact of
natural disasters on crop harvest and simultaneously solve the
local employment problem. The Group’s farms provide multiple
jobs throughout the country, effectively alleviating the pressure of
surplus rural labor force and increasing the income of local farmers.
The Group also undertakes social responsibility and promotes
local economic development through measures such as making
direct donation of materials, money and paying visits to nursing
homes. During the year, the Group has made charitable and other
donations amounted to approximately RMB5.04 million.

PROSPECTS

With the corporate vision of “establishing a whole dairy value chain,
innovating with digital intelligence, and becoming a global dairy
farming leader”, the Group will focus on “three-JIAN (diligence,
simplification, synergism) (in Chinese pinyin: Qin Jian, Jidn Hua,
Jidn Shao)”, reduce four types of expenditures, and implement
eight major initiatives. All departments are cohesive and eager to
actively respond to internal and external challenges. During the
year, the Group adhered to the operational strategy of “One-Low,
Four-High”, which refers to low operating costs, high economic
benefits, high performance achievements, a high employee
happiness index and high-quality development. We will continue to
solidify our conventional core business of raw milk production and
concurrently and dynamically fine tune the New Business segments
in response to any headwind.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEw LN

Modern Dairy will adhere to the full dairy value chain layout,
highly emphasizing the combination of ecology and technology,
continuously upgrading various nodes in the cycle from "a blade
of grass to a glass of milk”. Meanwhile, we will fully leverage the
complementary synergies of breeding, feed, forage, intelligent
e-commerce platforms and raw milk business to enhance
the Group’s comprehensive business capabilities, corporate

management level, operational performance and risk resilience.

In 2024, Modern Dairy will spare no effort to build the “striving
system towards to be the first” and adopt “Breakthrough Beyond
Limits, Innovation Embraces Victories” as our motto. While
ensuring safety and maintaining integrity, we will benchmark
against the best, explore growth opportunities, and inspire talented
individuals. We are committed to our principles of strategies, cost-
leading, full dairy value chain layout, and prioritizing talents, while
driving high-quality development through innovation. It will provide
a strong guarantee for the continuous expansion and upgrading
of the domestic Chinese dairy consumption market and lead the
industry in achieving a substantial development.

In the future, guided by the “Five-Year Leading Plan”, Modern
Dairy will continue adhering to “technological innovation”. We will
enhance digitalization throughout our entire value chain, speed up
our transition to green practices, ensure a smooth succession of
talents, and promote industry collaboration. Our aim is to provide
higher-quality raw milk to our downstream partners and contribute
to the industry’s high-quality development.

We expect that the herd size of dairy cows of the Group could
reach more than 500,000 heads by 2025, with an annual milk yield
of 3.6 million tons. Modern Dairy will continue to actively undertake
the responsibility of revitalizing the national dairy industry through
leading the industry towards a sustainable development model
of digital intelligence innovations and low-carbon environmental
protection, and will also keep improving the ecology of the whole
dairy value chain to build itself into one of the world’s leading and
socially responsible dairy farming groups.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SUN Yugang, aged 43, is an executive Director of the
Company and chief executive officer of the Group. Mr. Sun was
a manager of the finance and investment department of Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Co., Ltd. between May 2002
and March 2007. Mr. Sun was the chief financial officer, executive
director and vice president of the Company from March 2007 to
September 2016. Mr. Sun re-joined the Group in November 2019 as
an executive Director of the Group. He was promoted to the chief
executive officer of the Group on 30 June 2022. Mr. Sun graduated
from Inner Mongolia Finance and Economics College, majoring in
accounting. Mr. Sun received his master of business administration
degree from China Europe International Business School in 2023.
Mr. Sun has extensive management and operation experience in
corporate finance, international financing, corporate governance,
investment, mergers and acquisitions and the dairy industry.

Mr. ZHU Xiaohui, aged 53, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company and the vice president of
the Group on 1 July 2021, and has been re-designated as an
executive Director of the Company and the chief financial officer
of the Group on 30 November 2021 and has been in charge of
finance, procurement, information and compliance management
since January 2024. Mr. Zhu joined Fuyuan International in August
2014 and served as the vice president of Fuyuan International
from August 2014 to December 2018, the senior vice president
of Fuyuan International from December 2018 to June 2019 and
the vice president and the secretary of the board of directors of
Fuyuan International since March 2020. Prior to joining Fuyuan
International, Mr. Zhu had spent approximately 18 years with
COFCO Group and approximately 4 years with Dalian Wanda
Group Inc., Ltd serving as senior management positions. Mr. Zhu
has over 30 years of experience in corporate governance, financial
management, financing, investment, mergers and acquisitions, and
management of large enterprises, and also has extensive operation
and management experience in the dairy farming industry. Mr. Zhu
graduated from Guangdong University of Foreign Studies with a
bachelor’'s degree in international business administration and the
University of International Business and Economics with a master’s
degree in business administration.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
E=ENEREEE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHAO Jiejun, aged 47, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in January 2019 and was appointed as
the vice chairman of the board of directors of the Company in
July 2021. He was redesignated to the chairman of the board of
directors of the Company on 1 February 2023. Mr. Zhao is currently
the vice president and the head of milk sourcing and animal
husbandry industry chain business unit of Mengniu Group, and is
responsible for strengthening and collaborating the management
of animal husbandry industry segment. Mr. Zhao has served
successively as regional manager, sales director, general manager
of operation and general manager of planning and logistics of
Mengniu Group. Mr. Zhao also currently serves as a non-executive
director of China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited (stock code:
1432. HK). Mr. Zhao has almost 20 years of experience in the dairy
industry and, with profound leadership, he specializes in both
sales management, supply chain management and dairy farms
segment management. Mr. Zhao has in-depth knowledge of the
PRC dairy market and great foresight in the PRC dairy industry.
Mr. Zhao graduated from Beijing University of Aeronautics and
Astronautics with a master’s degree in information engineering and
management.

Mr. ZHANG Ping, aged 59, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2016. Mr. Zhang Ping joined
Mengniu Group in 2014 and was appointed as an executive director
of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (stock code: 2319.HK) in
December 2021. He is currently a vice president and the chief
financial officer of Mengniu Group. Mr. Zhang Ping is also a non-
executive director of Yashili International Holdings Ltd (former
stock code: 1230. HK) and China Shengmu Organic Milk Limited
(stock code: 1432. HK), and a non-independent director of
Shanghai Milkground Food Tech Company Limited (stock code:
600882.SH) which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr.
Zhang Ping is also a director of a number of Mengniu’s subsidiaries,
including its major subsidiaries Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy
(Group) Company Limited and Inner Mongolia Tegaoxin Dairy Co.,
Ltd* (NEHFEMAEMABRAF]). He has over 33 years of
experience in the fast-moving consumer goods industry,
specializing in management of operation, finance and audit, as well
as risk control. Mr. Zhang Ping worked in Swire Beverages group
companies as manager responsible for internal audit and system
development, finance director, general manager of bottler
manufacturing company and chief executive officer of Coca-Cola
Bottlers Manufacturing Holdings Limited. Mr. Zhang Ping
graduated from the Beijing Information Science and Technology
University with a Master’s Degree in Management Engineering.

*  For identification purposes only
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHEN Yiyi, aged 49, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director in February 2023. Mr. Chen is also a vice president
and head of strategic management of Mengniu Group, and is
responsible for the strategic and investment management. Before
joining Mengniu Group, Mr. Chen worked for many well-known
international companies such as Nestle SA, International Paper Co,
Tetra Pak Sidel, China Resources Enterprise and listed companies
in Hong Kong and Mainland China for 25 years serving as the
national commercial manager, North Asia regional director, vice
chief strategy officer, president and executive director and other
senior management positions. Having served in the fast-moving
consumer goods industry such as dairy and retail industry for
many years, Mr. Chen has had extensive experience in industrial
operation integration, strategic planning management, corporate
cooperation and mergers and acquisitions and industry-wide vision
and international business experience. Mr. Chen graduated from
Fudan University with Bachelor's degree in law.

Ms. GAN Lu, aged 41, joined the Group as a non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2020. Ms. Gan is the chief
investment officer of Beijing Hosen Capital Management, LLP
("Hosen Capital”), one of the first private equity management
institutions registered with the China National Development
and Reform Commission pursuant to the new equity investment
regulations. Ms. Gan is also the person-in-charge of the office of
Hosen Capital in Hong Kong. Ms. Gan joined Hosen Capital in
2018. Ms Gan has over 14 years experience in the financial and
investment sectors. Before joining Hosen Capital, Ms. Gan worked
for the Hong Kong office of New Hope Group Co., Ltd, for four
years as head of its Hong Kong office and chief investment officer
of its financial division. Ms. Gan also worked for China International
Capital Corporation Limited (CICC) in Beijing and Hong Kong
for six years as the head of the Hong Kong operations support
coordination department. Ms. Gan graduated from The University
of Hong Kong with a master’s degree in business administration.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
E=ENEREEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Shengli, aged 58, is an independent non-executive Director
of the Company. Mr. Li is currently an independent non-executive
director of AUSTASIA GROUP PTE. LTD. (stock code: 2425. HK). Mr.
Li graduated from Shihezi Agricultural College with a bachelor's
degree in animal husbandry and veterinary science in July 1987.
He then obtained his doctorate degree in animal nutrition science
from China Agricultural University in July 1996. Since 2003, Mr. Li
has been with China Agricultural University, working as an assistant
professor and professor in multiple times. Mr. Li is currently the
vice-director (Animal Nutrition) of the State Key Laboratories,
director of the Sino-US Dairy Research Center of China Agricultural
University, director of the Sino-Dutch Dairy Development Center,
chief scientist in national dairy products industry technology system,
a specialist to the China School Milk Programme and a specialist
in the Cattle and Poultry Research Centre of Beijing Sanyuan
Breeding Technology Co,. Ltd. Mr. Li is a specialist to the Working
Committee of National Dairy Herd Improvement Programme
(DHI) of the Dairy Association of China and the chairman of China
Institute of Animal Husbandry and Veterinary Cattle Chapter.
Up to October 2022, Mr. Li served as an independent director
of Xinjiang Tianrun Dairy Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, stock code: 600419). In 2007, Mr. Li obtained a patent
on Rubeili (2Lf&#)), a type of high- energy and high-protein
supplementary feed for dairy cows. Mr. Li was awarded the second
prize and a prize of the Beijing Science and Technology Award in
2000 and 2007, respectively, and was recognized by the Beijing
Municipal Government as “"Top 10 Scientists with Contribution to
the Economic Development in Rural Villages of Beijing” in 2009.
He also received the first prize for advancement in science and
technology awarded by the Education Department in 2012, the first
prize for Chinese Agricultural Science awarded by the Ministry of
Agriculture in 2013 and the second prize of National Scientific and
Technological Progress Award in 2014.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LEE Kong Wai Conway, aged 69, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lee is currently an
independent non-executive director of West China Cement Limited
(stock code: 2233. HK), Chaowei Power Holdings Limited (stock
code: 0951. HK), NVC International Holdings Limited (stock code:
2222. HK), GCL New Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 0451.
HK) and Intchains Group Limited (a company listed on NASDAQ
Stock Market, stock code: ICG). Mr. Lee was an independent non-
executive director of Guotai Junan Securities Limited Co., Ltd
(stock code: 2611. HK), GOME Retail Holdings Limited (stock code:
0493.HK) and WH Group Limited (stock code: 0288. HK) until 30
November 2023, 21 September 2023 and June 2022, respectively.
He was also an independent non-executive director of Yashili
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1230. HK, whose shares
have been delisted since 5 July 2023), a subsidiary of Mengniu.
Mr. Lee is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, The Chartered Accountants, Australia and New
Zealand, the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Macau
Society of Certified Practising Accountants. Mr. Lee was a member
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Hunan
Province from 2008 to 31 December 2017. Mr. Lee has over 30 years
of experience in public accounting and auditing, corporate finance,
merger and acquisition and initial public offerings. From September
1980 to September 2009, Mr. Lee served as a partner of Ernst &
Young and held key leadership positions in his development of the
firm in China.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENSAEEE

Mr. CHOW Ming Sang, aged 51, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 1 July
2021. Mr. Chow was the general manager of the Risk and Control
Department of the Tahoe Group (the shares of which are listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code: 000732. SZ)
from October 2018 to June 2019, overseeing the company'’s risk
management and corporate governance of all business sectors
like residential, commercial, hotel, education, insurance, medical,
estate management and ageing care. Mr. Chow is currently the
managing director of Beijing Xinshi Anye Management Consulting
Co., Ltd. and an independent non-executive director of Teamway
International Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1239. HK) and
Redco Healthy Living Company Limited (stock code: 2370. HK).
He was an independent non-executive director of China Rundong
Auto Group Limited (delisted, prior stock code: 1365. HK) until
August 2020.

Mr. Chow obtained his bachelor degree in Business Administration
(Accounting) from Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
in 1995. Mr. Chow is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a Certified Internal
Auditor. Mr. Chow has over 27 years working experience in various
industries in auditing, corporate governance and risk management
advisory where he was the advisory partner of Ernst & Young (China)
Advisory Limited since 2007 and was responsible for managing the
Risk Advisory sub-service line's strategic growth and development
in various regions of Mainland China since 2011. From 2014 to 2016,
Mr. Chow became the Committee member of The Internal Controls
General Standards Committee of The Ministry of Finance (PRC) (F
BB BEAEEHIEEZEGERE),

and Big Four partner being appointed as a committee member.

the only Hong Kong resident

Mr. Chow is also involved in promoting innovation where he acts
as start-up coach of over 20 incubators and accelerators in China
and Hong Kong to assist young entrepreneurs in enhancing their
business from financial and strategic development perspectives.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. GUO Wenju, aged 53, is the secretary of the Party Committee
of the Group. Mr. Guo joined the Group in July 2021. He served
as the deputy secretary of the Party Committee in Mengniu Group
from March 2010 to June 2017, and served as the deputy secretary
of the Party Committee and secretary of the disciplinary committee
in Mengniu Group from July 2017 to December 2020. In 2017,
he obtained a master’s degree from the graduate school of the
Central Party School.

Mr. HAN Chunlin, aged 51, is the vice president and the head
of the second operation center of the Group. Mr. Han is also a
director of Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd. and Helinger Modern
Farming Co., Ltd., both of which are subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Han joined the Group in September 2008 and was appointed
as executive director of the Company on 14 November 2008 until
1 April 2020. From February 2006 to July 2008, Mr. Han served
as the deputy general manager of marketing in Crayon Xiaoxin
(Fujian) Food Co., Ltd. From January 1999 to September 2004, Mr.
Han worked as a marketing manager in the liquid milk department
of Inner Mongolia Mengniu. Before that, Mr. Han worked as the
branch manager of the milk powder department of Inner Mongolia
Yili Industrial Group Co., Ltd. from July 1994 to January 1999.
Mr. Han has over 17 years of experience in the Chinese catering
industry and has extensive experience in marketing and ranching
operations. Mr. Han obtained a bachelor’'s degree in biology
from Inner Mongolia University, China in July 1994, and a master’s
degree in agricultural promotion from China Agricultural University
in 2015.

Mr. ZHANG Xue, aged 56, is the vice president of the Group, the
chief engineer of the technical department of the Group. Before
joining the Group in 2021, Mr. Zhang has been working in ranch
technical positions and ranch management for nearly 30 years. He
served as the vice president and chief operating officer of Fuyuan
International from October 2013 to August 2021, responsible for
the overall technology and operations of Fuyuan International.
Mr. Zhang has extensive experience in ranch operation and
management and is proficient in ranch design, dairy farming and
professional technical management in all aspects of the industrial
chain. He is one of the famous ranch management experts in China.
Mr. Zhang obtained a doctorate degree in animal nutrition from
the Bingen Institute, Germany in 2001.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
E=ENEREEE

Mr. SONG Weizheng, aged 43, is the vice president of the Group
and the acting CEO of Modern Forage. Mr. Song joined the Group
in January 2020 and was in-charge-of the procurement center of
the Group, and in August 2021, he was in charge of procurement
and sales. He was in charge of procurement, sales and engineering
management and in charge of Modern Forage from January 2023
and January 2024, respectively. Before joining the Group, Mr. Song
worked in Mengniu Group from December 2001 to December
2019 as the head of the quality inspection department, the head
of the production department, the manager of the milk source
department, the general manager of the milk source region, and
the general manager of the big dairy unified procurement. Mr.
Song has extensive experience in procurement and sales. Mr. Song
obtained a master's degree in bioengineering from Inner Mongolia
University in July 2010.

Ms. YUAN Li, aged 48, is the vice president and head of human
resources & administration of the Group. Ms. Yuan joined the
Group in July 2021. Before joining the Group, she served as
manager, deputy director, director of operation management
department, project director of sharing center, and general
manager of human resources center of milk source business
department of Mengniu Group Headquarters Human Resources
Center. She has participated in and successfully led important
projects such as organizational reform at all levels, human
resources system construction, mechanism innovation, and process
optimization of Mengniu Group for many times. She has rich
theoretical and practical experience in the field of human resources
management. Ms. Yuan obtained a master’'s degree from Inner
Mongolia University of Technology in 2014.

Mr. ZHAO Zunyang, aged 45, is the vice president and the head of
the first operation center of the Group. Mr. Zhao joined the Group
in April 2010 and served as deputy general manager of the ranch,
chief nutritionist and assistant vice president of the Group. Mr. Zhao
was promoted to the vice president of the Group on 1 January
2024. Before joining the Group, Mr. Zhao had experience in state-
owned enterprises, foreign enterprises and American ranches in
the industry. He was proficient in dairy cow nutrition technology
and had rich experience in ranch operation and management.
Mr. Zhao received a bachelor's degree in animal husbandry from
China Agricultural University in July 2000, a master’s degree in
animal nutrition from China Agricultural University in June 2003 and
a doctorate in dairy nutrition from Virginia Tech University in the
United States in May 2008.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. MA Lijun, aged 50, is the vice president and the head of
safety and quality of the Group. Mr. Ma joined the Group in
February 2024. Before joining the Group, he served as director
of quality inspection of the Quality Center, deputy director of the
Finished Product Quality Management Center, director of the
Quality Management Review Center, senior director of the Quality
Management Review Department and senior director of the
Inspection Management Department of Mengniu Group. He has
rich professional knowledge and practical experience in the field
of safety and quality management. Mr. Ma received a bachelor’s
degree in food science and engineering from Inner Mongolia
Agricultural University in 1999.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERBMSE

The board (the “"Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and the management
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are
committed to upholding a high standard of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)") and the Company as a whole.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Part 2 of
Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
The Company has, throughout the year and up to the date of this
announcement, complied with the code provisions set out in the
CG Code except for the deviation from code provisions C.1.6.

Code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code provides that non-
executive Directors should attend general meetings and develop
a balanced understanding of the views of the shareholders of the
Company. One non-executive Director was not able to attend
the annual general meeting and extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 6 June 2023 due to his other business
engagements.

Save as disclosed above, the Board has reviewed the Company's
corporate governance practices and is satisfied that the Company
has been in compliance with all applicable code provisions of the
CG Code.

THE BOARD

Role of Directors

The Company is headed by the Board which assumes the
responsibility for leadership and control and be collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board is accountable to
the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) for managing
the Company in a responsible and effective manner. Every Director
is committed to act in the best interest of the Company and to
contribute their expertise and knowledge to the Company. The
Board formulate strategic and holistic strategies, and monitors the
Group's performance on behalf of the Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNA

The Board determines the objectives, strategies and policies of the
Group. In addition, the Board monitors and controls operating and
financial performance in pursuit of the Group's strategic objectives.
The day-to-day management of the Group's business is delegated
to the chief executive officer and the management of the Group
under the supervision of the executive Directors of the Company.
In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to
the board committees of the Company (the “Board Committees”).
Matters reserved for the Board and Board Committees are those
affecting the Group's overall strategic policies, financial objectives,
dividend policy, changes in accounting policies, material acquisition
and disposal of assets, investments and other significant matters.

For the year, the Board has polished the Group's Corporate Culture
Panorama which aligns with the Group’s mission, vision, core
value and strategy. Leading by enterprise spirit “Born to be strong
and go beyond ourselves”, the Directors and the management
team promote the corporate culture, sharing the same vision
and philosophy, together we strive for the better future of the
Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Sun Yugang, Mr. Zhu
Xiaohui, four non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Zhao Jiejun, Mr.
Zhang Ping, Ms. Gan Lu and Mr. Chen Yiyi and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Shengli, Mr. Lee Kong Wai,
Conway, and Mr. Chow Ming Sang.

All Directors are aware of their collective and individual
responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised their duties
of care, skill and diligence. Comprehensive directors and officers
liability insurance coverage is in place to provide protection to the
Company, the Directors and senior management.

The Company has maintained on its website (www.moderndairyir.com)
(the "Company Website"”) and the website of Hong Kong Exchange
and Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) (the "HKEX Website")
an updated list of its Directors identifying their roles and functions.
Composition of the Board, by category of directors, is explicitly
identified in all the Company’s corporate communications.

There was no financial, business, family, or other material
relationship between the Directors of the Company and in
particular, between the Chairman of the Board of the Company
and the Chief Executive Officer.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SEELERE

The biographical details of the Board members are set out in the
"Directors and Senior Management” on pages 55 to 63 of this
annual report.

Non-executive Directors

The non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors give the Board the benefit of their skills, expertise, varied
background and experiences. Through active participation in Board
meetings and serving on various Board Committees, the non-
executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors
bring in independent judgment and make valuable contributions to
the effective direction and strategic decision making of the Group.

Each of the non-executive Directors is appointed for a specific term
of 3 years, subject to retirement by rotation under the Articles of
Association.

Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors
Each of the independent non-executive Directors is appointed for
a specific term of 3 years, subject to retirement by rotation under
the Articles of Association. Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr.
Chow Ming Sang, two of the independent non-executive Directors,
have the appropriate accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The
Board has received from each independent non-executive Director
a written annual confirmation of their independence and is satisfied
with their independence in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all independent non-executive Directors
meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The number of independent non-executive Directors
of the Company is three and represents at least one-third of the
Board as required under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNA

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway holds five listed issuer directorships
as the date of this annual report. As advised by Mr. Lee that he
is a full time professional director and has high attendance for
all kind of board meetings, such that the Company believes Mr.
Lee can devote sufficient time to the Board and each of Board
Committee he engaged with listed issuers and in compliance
with Appendix C1 C.1.6 to the Listing Rules. As independent non-
executive Directors with in-depth understanding of the Company's
operations and business, Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee Kong Wai
have expressed objective views and given independent guidance
to the Company over the years, and they continue demonstrating
a firm commitment to their roles. Although Mr. Li Shengli and Mr.
Lee Kong Wai, Conway have served as independent non- executive
Directors for more than 9 years, the Board considers that the long
service of Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway would not
affect their exercise of independent judgement and is satisfied that
Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway have the required
character, integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role of
independent non-executive Directors.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for determining the policies for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company's policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(c)  to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

(e) to review existing employee incentive schemes of the
Company; and

() to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules (CG Code) and Appendix C2 (Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SEELERE

During the year, the Board has fulfilled the corporate governance
functions by reviewing the Company’s corporate governance
practices.

Chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) and Chief Executive
Officer (“CEO")

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the Board is
functioning properly, with good corporate governance practices
and procedures. The Chairman also steers the Board and the
Company towards its corporate goals.

The CEOQO is responsible for the effective implementation of the
overall strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board as well as
the daily operation of the Group. For the year, the CEO was Mr.
Sun Yugang, the executive Director. Mr. Lu Minfang resigned as
non-executive Director and Chairman of the Board, and Mr. Zhao
Jiejun, the non-executive Director was promoted by the Board
as the Chairman of the Board, both changes took effect from
1 February 2023.

With the support of the CEO and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed
on issues brought up at Board meetings and that they receive
adequate and reliable information in relation to matters discussed
at Board meetings and also other affairs of the Group on a monthly
basis in order to enable the Directors to assess the Group's
performance, position and prospects in sufficient details.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year, the company secretary of the Company has
undertook not less than 15 hours of the relevant professional
training to update his skills and knowledge. The company
secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board process, as well
as communication among Board members, with Shareholders and
management.

All Directors have access to the advice and service of the Company

Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures, all applicable rules
and regulations are followed.
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CORPORATE GOVERNA

BOARD PROCEDURES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has held four
meetings to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operations
and financial performance of the Group. The Directors participated
in person or through electronic means of communication. Details
of the Directors’ attendance at the Board and Board Committee
meetings and the annual general meeting and extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 6 June 2023 are set out
as follows:

EESER
HE2023F12A3MHILEFE r EFRTHKX
G R ERERBUNAEER  EBLMER
B -EEFARINEBETEAIRNES - EBF
HEEEE  EFXLELIBNRARFINR2023F
6AOARITHRERAFAE RBRRENRKEIER
MFFIEEAT

Number of Board meetings, Board Committee meetings and general
meetings attended/held during the year

FRLE/BTEZEEE ESZREEERRRAERY

General Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination
Meeting Board  Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee
Name of Director EE=fF BRRAE EEg ENREZEE ¥FHzEE REZEE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Sun Yugang (Chief Executive Officer) REREE(EH) 1/1 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
il TEA TiEf
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Chief Financial Officer) AEBELE(BREIHE) 11 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
TER ki A
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Lu Minfang "1 ESmz e N/A 1/4 N/A N/A 171
el TER TER
Mr. Zhang Ping RTEE /1 4/4 22 171 N/A
TER
Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Chairman of the Board) e’ BEERE (EESLE) ™ 11 44 N/A N/A N/A
TaA TER TER
Mr. Chen Yiyi "e2 e /1 44 N/A N/A N/A
il T TiEf
Ms. Gan Lu Rt 11 44 N/A N/A N/A
TER ki @A
Independent Non-executive Directors BUkHTES
Mr. Li Shengli FHREE 11 4/4 N/A 171 N/A
ayek: TR
Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway ThERE 11 4/4 22 N/A 11
TER
Mr. Chow Ming Sang RRERE 171 44 22 1n 171
Notes: B5E -

m

Mr. Lu Minfang resigned as non-executive Director and Chairman of

m

the Board on 1 February 2023 and Mr. Zhao Jiejun was redesignated
as the Chairman of the Board on the same date.

February 2023.

Mr. Chen Yiyi was appointed as a non-executive Director on 1

@

Wiy,
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The Board and each Director have separate and independent
access to the Company’s senior management for information and
may make inquiries if necessary. Directors of the Company who
considers it necessary to seek independent professional advice in
order to perform his/her duties as a Director of the Company may
convene, or request the Company Secretary to convene, a meeting
of the Board to approve the consultation of independent legal
or other professional advisor for advice at Company’s expenses.
For regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
board papers of the meeting are sent to all Directors before
the proposed date of a meeting. Additional Board meetings, if
necessary, are arranged and held as and when required. During the
year, the Chairman met with the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
executive Directors to exchange views on matters concerning the
business development, management and corporate governance of
the Group.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.
The Board recognizes the importance and benefits of conducting
regular evaluation of its performance. An internal Board evaluation
would conduct annually in the form of questionnaire or other
methods with the aim of soliciting valuable feedback, improving
the effectiveness and enhancing accountability of the Board.

Every Director is entitled to access the advice and services of
the Company Secretary with a view to ensure that the Board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are complied
with. All minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are open
for inspection by any Director during normal office hours with
reasonable advance notice.
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CORPORATE GOVERNA

Appointment, Re-election of Directors and Removal

In accordance with the CG Code and the Articles of Association,
all Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
are subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.
Each Director has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years. The Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at each annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with article 17.18 of the
articles of association of the Company. Directors appointed as an
addition to the Board or to fill a casual vacancy on the Board will be
subject to re-election by the Shareholders at the following annual
general meeting or the following general meeting of the Company
after the appointment and be subject to election at such meeting
pursuant to Article 17.2 of the Articles of Association. Also, when
an independent non-executive Director proposed for re-election
has served the Company for more than nine years, his or her re-
election will be subject to a separate resolution to be approved at
the annual general meeting.

DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted board diversity policy (available on the
Company Website), which sets out the approach to diversity of
Board members. In determining the Board’s composition, the
Company considers a range of diversity elements, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and education, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. All appointments of the Board
will be made based on meritocracy and objective criteria while
taking into full account of the interest of Board's diversity. The
Company highly recognizes the benefits of having a diverse
Board with various insights from different perspectives. The
Nomination Committee has primary responsibility for identifying
and nominating, for approval by the Board, suitably qualified
candidates to become members of the Board.
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As at date of this report, the Board comprises nine Directors with
one lady and eight gentlemen with different backgrounds and
professionalism. Three of the Directors are independent non
executive Directors, each of whom promoting a critical review and
control of the board management process. Having reviewed the
board diversity policy and the Board’s composition, the Nomination
Committee considered that the requirements of the board diversity
policy had been met and no measurable objective had been set to
implement the board diversity policy.

In 2023, the Company’s gender ratio of the workforce (including
senior management) is 67.62%:32.38% (male to female)
(2022: 67.32%:32.68%), maintaining a good and healthy gender
ratio of the workforce. The Company endeavours to eliminate
gender discrimination, supports gender equality, and protects
the legal rights and benefits of female employees. The Company
follows all internationally recognised human rights policies stated
in the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the
International Bill of Human Rights and other core conventions
of the International Labor Organization. The Company treats
employees with different nationalities, ethnicities, races, genders,
religious beliefs and cultural backgrounds equally and fairly,
prohibits the employment and use of child labour, respects and
protects the legitimate rights and interests of all employees. For
details, please refer to the Company’s ESG Report.

The Board will from time to time review the diversity policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant. The
Company shall be responsible for arranging suitable training for
all Directors at the Company’s expense. The Group continuously
updates the Directors on the latest development regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. For newly appointed Director, an induction
package will be given to ensure that he has a proper understanding
of the operations, business and governance policies of the Group.
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A summary of training received by the Directors for the year ended
31 December 2023 according to the records provided by the

Directors is as follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Attending briefings,
seminars, conference
and/or reading
materials relevant

to the director’s
duties and
responsibilities

RIFEEMRENE  EFNEE2023F12H
3B IEFEMEZ ISR T -

Directors BE=x HEHAS - -
CEVYEL 2]
FHRESRENEY
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Sun Yugang (Chief Executive Officer) REM AL #EZ) v
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Chief Financial Officer) KEBLEEENEE) v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Lu Minfang Nete [E BN v
Mr. Zhang Ping et v
Mr. Zhao Jiejun B E v
Mr. Chen Yiyi BRZ— %4 v
Ms. Gan Lu Hiz+ v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Li Shengli FHNEE v
Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway FAREE v
Mr. Chow Ming Sang JEFRZE R4 v

Note: Mr. Lu Minfang resigned as non-executive Director and Chairman of

the Board on 1 February 2023 °
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BOARD COMMITTEES

In order to oversee particular aspects of the Group, the Company
had established five Board Committees under the Board,
namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee, Sustainability Committee, and the
Strategy and Development Committee with the defined terms of
reference in line with the CG Code. Except the terms of reference
of Sustainability Committee and the Strategy and Development
Committee, the terms of reference are published on the HKEX
Website and Company Website. The Board Committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances upon request. Details of these Board committees
including their composition, major responsibilities and functions
and work performed are as follows:

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Li Shengli
and other members are Mr. Zhang Ping and Mr. Chow Ming Sang.
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent non-
executive Director and the majority being independent non-
executive Directors of the Company.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company'’s policy
and structure for the remuneration for all the Directors and senior
management of the Group, and make recommendations of
the remuneration packages for all the executive Directors, non-
executive Directors and the senior management to the Board.

The Company’'s emolument policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees including executive Directors
and senior management of the Group is based on the skills,
knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s
and the Group's affairs, and to uphold a fair and competitive
remuneration assessment mechanism. The remuneration
packages are also determined by reference to the Company'’s
performance and profitability, remuneration level in the industry
and the prevailing market conditions. The emolument policy for
independent non- executive Directors, mainly comprising Directors’
fees, is subject to annual assessment with reference to the market
standard. Individual Directors and senior management would not
be involved in deciding their own remuneration. The Remuneration
Committee has been provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties.
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During the year, the Remuneration Committee has held two
meetings and reviewed, discussed and approved the remuneration
for the executive Directors and senior management of the Group
to ensure that the level of remuneration is linked to their level of
responsibilities undertaken, reviewed the remuneration policy and
made recommendation to the Board for the remuneration for the
non-executive Directors for its approval. Remuneration Committee
has also reviewed the remuneration policy and employee incentive
schemes of the Company, as well as reviewing and approving
matters relating to share scheme of the Company under chapter 17
of Listing Rules.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management
(excluding Directors) by band for the year ended 31 December

2023 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HK$)

FRFHZESRTMASHE - LEHN  &®
EHERSERTEERSREEE 2 S A
PR B K P B2 S AR 2 0 B (/KT 1 8 30 28 B
MR - YHIFTES 2 HFMRAESSRHRZ
mAHEEL - HTMEZ B & IR AR B R0 B
BR KB BB R 8 R B G M AL ER E TR RIS
TTEREARARANRMEEEBHNTIA -

BREEERE TNEES)EHE2023F12831H 1
FEZMESSHENT

Number of persons

P <& %2 B (78 7o) BB A B
0-5,500,000 1
5,500,001-6,000,000 2
6,000,001-6,500,000 0
6,500,001-7,000,000 0

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 12 and 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lee Kong Wai,
Conway and Mr. Chow Ming Sang and one non-executive Director,
Mr. Zhang Ping. Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr. Chow Ming
Sang posses the relevant professional qualifications required under
the Listing Rules. The chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Lee
Kong Wai, Conway.

"
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The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to oversee
the Group's financial reporting system, risk management system
and internal control procedures, and to review and monitor
the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the applicable
standard. The Audit Committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year. Major
work completed by the Audit Committee during the year includes:

o reviewed the Group's annual report, interim financial
information and annual consolidated financial statements;

J reviewed significant accounting and audit issues;

o reviewed the external auditor’s qualifications, independence
and performance;

o reviewed the external auditor's management letter and the
management's response;

o reported to the Board on matters relating to the Audit
Committee under the CG Code;

J assisted the Board to evaluate on the effectiveness of
financial reporting procedures and internal control system;

J reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's
systems of internal control and risk management and the
effectiveness of the internal audit function, including advising
on identification of connected parties and formulating
relevant policies;

J reviewed the connected and continuing connected
transactions entered into by the Group or subsisting during
the financial year before recommending them to the Board
for approval;

J reviewed the strategies for the development of
environmental, social and governance of the Group;

J reviewed the utilisation of annual caps on certain continuing
connected transactions of the Group; and
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o reviewed adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's systems
of anti-corruption policy and whistle-blowing mechanism, and
reviewed the arrangements that employees of the Company
and those who deal with the Company can use, in confidence,
to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal controls or other matters.

Nomination Committee

Currently, the Nomination Committee comprises one non-
executive Director Mr. Zhao Jiejun and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr.
Chow Ming Sang. Mr. Zhao Jiejun was redesignated by the Board
as the chairman of the Nomination Committee along with the
resignation of Mr. Lu Minfang who resigned on 1 February 2023.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships; assess the independence of
independent non-executive directors; and make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors
and succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman of
the Board and the chief executive. The Nomination Committee has
been provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held one meetings
and has reviewed and recommended the structure, diversity, size
and composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board. It reviewed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors. It also made recommendations to the Board
on retiring Directors for re-election at the annual general meeting
held on 6 June 2023.

The terms of reference of the nomination committee are available
on the Company Website and the HKEX Website.
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Nomination Policy

The Company adopted a nomination policy for directorship (the
“Nomination Policy”, available on the Company Website) in 2018
which supplemental to the Terms of Reference of the Nomination
Committee of the Board (the “Nomination Committee”). It aims
at setting out the processes and criteria for the nomination of a
candidate for directorship in the Company and ensures that all
nominations of Board members are fair and transparent in order
to facilitate the constitution of the Board with a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that is appropriate to the
requirements of the Company'’s business.

Strategy and Development Committee

The Strategy and Development Committee comprised one
executive Director, Mr. Sun Yugang, three non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Zhao Jiejun, Mr. Chen Yiyi and Ms. Gan Lu, and one
independent non- executive Director, Mr. Li Shengli. The Strategy
and Development Committee is chaired by Mr. Zhao Jiejun.

The principal duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include advising on long-term development strategies and
significant investments of the Group, and conducting studies and
making recommendations on important matters that would affect
the development of the Company.

Sustainability Committee

The principal responsibilities of the Sustainability Committee
include evaluating and making decisions on the Group’s
sustainability, environmental, social and governance development
strategies, reviewing the Group's sustainability strategies,
objectives and risk identification and monitoring the performance
of implementing ESG strategies.

Members of the Sustainability Committee comprise Mr. Sun
Yugang and Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (executive Directors), Mr. Zhang Ping
(non-executive Director) and Mr. Li Shengli and Mr. Lee Kong Wai,
Conway (independent non-executive Directors). Mr. Zhang Ping is
the chairman of the Sustainability Committee.
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The Group's external auditors are Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The
Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment of external
auditors and reviewing the non-audit services (including any
potential conflict of interest) performed by the external auditors.
The amount of fees charged by the auditor generally depends
on the scope and volume of the auditor’s work. For the year, the
remuneration to the auditor of the Company were approximately
RMB2.9 million (2022: RMB3.0 million) for audit services and
RMB1.52 million for non-audit services, including RMB1.35
million for interim review and RMBO0.17 million for other service
(2022:RMB1.79 million, including RMB1.4 million for interim review
and RMBO0.39 million for other service).

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group. Meanwhile, the Directors are
responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting policies
are selected and applied consistently; and that judgments and
estimates made are prudent and reasonable. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023, the requirements of the International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards and Interpretations
(collectively "IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and the applicable laws were complied with.

The Board was not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon
the Group's ability to continue as going concern. The Board has
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

The reporting responsibilities of external auditors of the Company
are disclosed in “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 125 to
131 of this annual report.

Pursuant to code provision D.1.2 of the CG Code, the management
of the Company has provided all members with monthly updates
giving a fair and understandable assessment of the Company's
performance, financial position and prospects in sufficient detail
to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge his
duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 3 of the Listing Rules during
the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for annually reviewing the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control system of the Group.
The scope of the review is determined and recommended by
the Audit Committee. The review covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. Such review also considers the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of the staff of the
Company in relation to its accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programmes and budget. Risk
management and internal control review reports are circulated to
the Audit Committee members and the Board in accordance with
the approved scope.

During the year, the Group has complied with Code Provision
D.2 of the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The major features of
the risk management and internal control systems are set out as
below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

] Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

J Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

. Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitoring of the
residual risks.

The Board together with senior management monitor and assess
risk regularly, boost related management standards and evaluate
investment projects. Based on the risk assessments conducted for
the year under review, no significant risk was identified.
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Internal Control System REREEEE RS

The Company has in place an internal control system. The ZARAFRERBRNINEILERE - ZE2HIERFEAEE
framework of the system enables the Group to achieve objectives #ESEIR BRIEEH B RME - MiEmE S
regarding effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability 1A RETEAEAZMEROEEZ - ZIERHAE
of financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and ~ FXEFH5I/REAT :

regulations. The components of the framework are shown as follow:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and e
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for e
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group's
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should
be managed.

o Control Activities: Action established by policies and e
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried
out.

° Information and Communication: Internal and external e
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

. Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain  ®
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.
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Internal Audit

Internal audit is an independent function reporting to the Audit
Committee and senior management of the Group. It provides an
independent and objective assurance to safeguard the Group's
operations. It effectuates a systematic and disciplined approach to
evaluate and improve the Group's process on risk management,
internal control and governance. The risk based audit plans ensure
that high risk areas of the Group’s operations and resources are
specifically attended to ad hoc reviews are conducted on areas of
concern where necessary.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the adequacy
of resources, training programmes, budget, qualifications and
experience of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
staff in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and fulfill
the requirement of the CG Code regarding risk management and
internal control systems in general. During the year, the internal
audit department has conducted audit on farms at different regions
of the Group and reported to the senior management. The internal
audit department of the Group has also reviewed the connected
transaction of the Group and report to Audit Committee.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted for the year,
no significant control deficiency was identified, and the financial
internal control system, and risk management system, procedures
and policies are in place.

The Audit Committee is satisfied that the risk management system
and internal control system maintained by the Group are sufficient
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the
Group's assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use
or disposition, and that transactions are properly authorized and
proper accounting records are properly maintained.
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Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Group has formulated an internal code on Information
Disclosure to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of information disclosure of the Group in accordance
with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules. The
Internal Code provides for detailed rules in the following areas.

- basic principles of information disclosure

= information that needs to be disclosed and the criteria
thereof

- duties of the parties responsible for information disclosure

= procedures for the circulation, review and disclosure of
information

- confidentiality of the undisclosed information

- information communication system with investors, securities
analysts and the media, etc.

- accountability and handling measures
The senior management has reviewed the risk management and
internal control system of the Group for the year and considered

them to be effective and adequate.

The Group will continue to enhance the system to cope with the
changes in the business environment.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy on 17 December 2018 (the
“Dividend Policy”). Under the Dividend Policy, the declaration and
payment of dividends shall be determined at the sole discretion
of the Board. The Company’s ability to distribute dividends will
depend on, among others, the profits, operating results, cash flow,
financial condition, contractual restrictions, capital requirements
and other factors of the Company which the Directors consider
relevant, and the interests of the shareholders of the Company. The
remaining profit will be used for the development and operation of
the Group.

The Company’s distribution of dividends shall also comply with any
restrictions under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the
laws of Hong Kong, the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association
of the Company, as well as subject to the approval of shareholders
of the Company.

MECHANISMS ENSURING INDEPENDENT
VIEWS AVAILABLE TO THE BOARD

The Company has put in place a mechanism as set out below to
ensure independent views and input are available to the Board
during the year.

Composition of the Board and Board Committees

The Board endeavours to ensure the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive directors (“INED(s)”) and at least one-
third of its members being INEDs (or such higher threshold as may
be required by the Listing Rules from time to time). Apart from
complying with the requirements prescribed by the Listing Rules
as to the composition of certain Board committees, INEDs will
be appointed to other Board committees as far as practicable to
ensure independent views are available.
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Independence Assessment

The Nomination Committee must strictly adhere to the Nomination
Policy and the independence assessment criteria as set out in
the Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and appointment
of INEDs. Each INED is also required to inform the Company as
soon as practicable if there is any change in his/her own personal
particulars that may materially affect his/her independence.

The Nomination Committee is mandated to assess annually the
independence of all INEDs by reference to the independence
criteria as set out in the Listing Rules to ensure that they can
continually exercise independent judgement.

Compensation

No equity-based remuneration (e.g. share options or grants) with
performance related elements will be granted to INEDs as this
may lead to bias in their decision making and compromise their
objectivity and independence.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the
above mechanisms on an annual basis.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Company attaches great importance to the construction of
clean government and anti-corruption work. We have established
management systems and set up the discipline inspection office
to implement various requirements on anti-corruption work to
strictly manage corruption issues and ensure that every member of
the Company adheres to the bottom line of business ethics. The
Company has perfected the anti-corruption policy, strictly prohibits
the employees from accepting any form of rebates, agency fees,
facilitation fees and gifts, and strictly prohibits management
personnel from taking advantage of their positions to seek personal
benefits for relatives and specific related persons to prevent
conflicts of interest. The Company strengthens the supervision
and inspection of high-risk nodes and fields, encourages internal
mutual supervision, and continues to carry out training to deepen

the awareness of integrity.
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Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group always upholds the practice of integrity and law-abiding
spirit among the Group from all levels. All employees all well aware
and supported about the importance of anti-corruption. The Group
has along well established whistle-blowing policy so encourage and
allow employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
matters of financial reporting, compliance, and other malpractices
at the earliest. Employees can raise concerns, in confidence,
about possible improprieties such as misconduct and malpractice
in any matter related to the Group. Complaints received will be
handled in a prompt and fair manner. The policy aims at protecting
the whistle-blowers from unfair dismissal, victimisation, and
unwarranted disciplinary actions. Anti-corruption-related trainings
are conducted annually among all farms and subsidiaries. During
the year, all employees have received anti-corruption training,
including seminars, online training and publicity articles. The Group
will reviewed the mechanism and whistle-blowing policy annually
and to ensure its effectiveness.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Effective Communication

The Company discloses relevant information to Shareholders
through the Company’s annual report and consolidated financial
statements, the interim report, as well as the annual general
meeting. The section under “CEQ's Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of the annual report facilitate the
Shareholders’ understanding of the Company’s activities.
The annual general meeting allows the Directors to meet and
communicate with the Shareholders. The Company’s consolidated
financial statements and each of the required disclosure of
information are dispatched within the prescribed period imposed
by laws and regulations.

To manage its relationship with the investment community, the
Group meets regularly with the press and financial analysts and
participates frequently in other conferences and presentations.

To further promote effective communication, the corporate website
is maintained to disseminate Company announcements and other
relevant financial and non-financial information electronically on a

timely basis.
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Shareholders may at any time send their written enquiries and
concerns to the Company, either by post or facsimiles, together
with his/her contact details, such as postal address, email address
or fax number, via the company secretary whose contact details are
as follows:

The Company Secretary

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd.
Room A, 32/F., COFCO Tower
262 Gloucester Road

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 28510525

Fax: (852) 2851-6980

SHAREHOLDERS RIGHTS

Procedure for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings may require an extraordinary general meeting by a
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary either
via personal delivery or mail (Attn: Board of Directors/Company
Secretary, at Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong “Hong Kong Principal Office"”)
or via email (info@moderndairyir. com). The Board shall proceed
duly within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition to
convene a general meeting to be held within a further 21 days.
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Procedures for Director’'s Nomination and Election by
Shareholders

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
director for election as a director at a general meeting, the
shareholder should lodge at Hong Kong Principal Office, (a) a
written notice signed by such shareholder (other than the proposed
person) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting of his/
her intention to propose such person for election; and (b) a written
notice by the proposed person indicating his/her willingness to be
elected together with the personal information of the proposed
person as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and consent
of publication of his/her personal information. The period during
which the aforesaid notice may be given shall be seven days (or
such other period as determined and announced by the Board).
Such period will commence on the day after the dispatch of the
notice of general meeting and end no later than seven days prior
to the date of such general meeting. The Company would take
appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements, once valid

notice is received.

Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board's
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s Hong Kong
Office. The Company Secretary forwards communications relating
to matters within the Board's purview to the Board.

Procedures for Making Proposals at Shareholder’s Meeting
Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to
the operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to
be discussed at general meetings. Proposals shall be sent to the
Board pursuant to the following address via personal delivery, mail
or courier to: Attention: Shareholder Communication, Board of
Directors, Hong Kong Office.

The Board may, in its sole discretion, consider if such proposals
are appropriate and shall be put forward to the Shareholders for
approval at next annual general meeting or at an extraordinary
general meeting to be convened by the Board, as appropriate.
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Voting by Way of Poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, all votes of the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting must be taken by
poll. The chairman of the meeting will therefore demand a poll
for every resolution put to the vote of the annual general meeting
pursuant to article 14.6 of the Articles of Association. The relevant
details of the proposed resolutions, including biographies of each
Director standing for re-election, will be included in the circular
to Shareholders dispatched together with this annual report.
The Company will announce the results of the poll in the manner
prescribed under Rule 13.39(5) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3
of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during the year.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company adopts a proactive policy in promoting investor
relations and communications. When the Company announces its
interim and annual results, management will normally meet with
institutional investors, financial analysts and financial media, provide
briefings on the business progress and recent developments of
the Company. The Company has regularly participated in investor
summits and conferences to enhance communication with the
investment community. Investors are welcomed to send their
enquiries to our investor relation at info@moderndairyir.com or
browse the Company’s website (http://www.moderndairyir.com) for
latest update information of the Group. Therefore, the Company
has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the above
shareholders’ communication policy conducted during the year
and is satisfied that the policy has been implemented effectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWREE

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased to
present its report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group” or "we/us”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
“year” or "2023") which were approved by the Board on 25 March
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries is production and sale of raw
milk to customers for processing into dairy products, and trading,
production, and the sales of feeds business. The Group also
engaged in new business areas such as feed business, intelligent
e-commerce platforms and forage grass planting (the “New
Business”).

The particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 47 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year and the state of affairs of
the Company and the Group as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements and the notes on pages 132 to
298.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group, including a fair review of
the Group’s business, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties faced the Group, particulars of important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
financial year, an indication of likely future development in the
Group's business, key performance indicators, environmental
policies and performance, and the Group's key relationships with
its employees, customers and suppliers and others that have a
significant impact on the Group and on which the Group's success
depends, is set out in the sections of this annual report headed
"CEQO's Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”,
"Corporate Governance Report” and in the notes to the financial
statements.
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Other than financial performance, the Group believes that a high
standard of corporate social responsibility is essential for building
up a good corporate and social relationship and motivating
staff and creating a sustainable return to the Group. We are
committed to contributing to the sustainability of the environment
and community in which we conduct business and where our
stakeholders live.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s main operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries operating in the PRC while the Company itself is
incorporated in Cayman Islands its shares listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “"Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”). The Group's operations are mainly regulated by
the applicable laws and regulations of Cayman Islands, Hong Kong
and PRC. For the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date
of this report, the Board was not aware of any non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Company.

Please refer to the discussions in this report and the “Corporate
Governance Report” for further details on the Group's compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In view of the Board, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules the year under
review. Details of the Company’s work in corporate governance
during the year are disclosed in the “"Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 64 to 89 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group strictly endeavoured to comply with laws and
regulations regarding environmental protection and adopted
effective environmental technologies to ensure our products meet
the required standards and ethics. A discussion on the Group’s
environmental policies and performance is contained in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report ("ESG Report”)
prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide of Stock
Exchange will be released separately in April 2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company's
listed securities during the year, except that the trustee of the
share award scheme of the Company, pursuant to the rules of
which, purchased on the open market of the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange a total of 62,123,000 (2022:
9,200,000 shares) ordinary shares of the Company as restricted
shares at a consideration of approximately HK$48,488,000
(equivalent to RMB44,470,000) (2022: HK$10,962,000 (equivalent to
RMB?,073,000)).

PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of RMBO0.0045 (2022: RMB0.0142) per ordinary share for the year
ended 31 December 2023. Upon shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, which will
be held on Wednesday, 12 June 2024 (the “2024 AGM"), the
proposed final dividend will be paid on or about Friday, 28 June
2024 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Thursday, 20 June 2024. Currently,
the Company is not aware of any arrangement under which a
Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

No interim dividend was paid during the year (2022: nil).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 6 June 2024 to Wednesday, 12 June 2024, both days
inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ eligibility
to attend and vote at 2024 AGM. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at 2024 AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration
with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 5
June 2024.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 18 June 2024 to Thursday, 20 June 2024, both days
inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement
to the proposed final dividend. In order to establish entitlements to
the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration
with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at the same
address as set out above not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 17
June 2024.

DONATIONS
Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year amounted to approximately RMB5.04 million (2022: RMB6.71

million).

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets
and stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and support
are values at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation
and benefits policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well as
the individual performance of employees. Other fringe benefits,
mandatory provident fund, share options, restricted share award,
employee partnership program and cash-based incentive award
are provided to retain loyal employees with the aim to form a
professional staff and management team that can bring the Group
to different levels of success.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS

The Company adopts an open, fair and impartial procurement
policies, and takes the lead in formulating industry standards
as a win-win approach for a healthy development of the dairy
industry. The quality and safety of feed are always our primary
consideration. We have established long-term cooperation
relationship with a number of suppliers, and strived to ensure that
they are in compliance with our undertaking on quality and ethics.
We require the suppliers to observe our undertaking on integrity.
We have stringent requirements in supplier selection and that
they must satisfy the qualification requirements in quality, safety,
nutrients, historical record and overall performance etc. and pass
our constant examination and evaluation before becoming our

qualified suppliers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS

To provide high quality products and services to customers are
always our mission. Customers’ need and demand are always
our top consideration. With the increase of income and the
popularization of health concepts, the demand of dairy products
is increasingly augmented with a growing tendency for diversified
products.

We, together with Mengniu Group expand the sales network and
increase sale forms, setting up outlets in large supermarkets. By
doing so, we hope to gradually develop customers, deliver our
fresh milk products in time, and meet consumers’ demand.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every
Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all loss or liabilities (to the fullest extent
permitted by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands) which he/
she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of
his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Company.
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REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of each Director is determined with reference
to the duties, responsibilities, performance of the Directors, the
results of the Group and the prevailing market rate.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in page 64 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 136 and note 49 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Company’s distributable reserves,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately RMB7,650.1 million as at 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB7,762.63 million).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 299 to 300.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Particulars of the interest-bearing borrowings of the Group as at
31 December 2023 are set out in notes 28, 29, 30 and 31 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The turnover attributable to the Group’s primary customers,
Mengniu Group, accounted for approximately 70.7% (2022: 74.8%)
of the Group's total turnover for the year. The Group's five largest
customers contributed in aggregate 78.4% (2022: 81.6%) of the
Group's total turnover for the year.

During the year, the five largest suppliers of the Group in
aggregate represented 12.8% (2022: 15.2%) of the Group's total
purchases. Purchases from the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 3.1% (2022: 5.5%) of the Group's total purchases.
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Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” and the interest in Mengniu of Mr. Lu
Minfang, Mr. Zhang Ping, Mr. Zhao Jiejun and Mr. Chen Yiyi as
disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives'’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” below of this report, none of the Directors or any of
their associates or any shareholder (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's top five largest
customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Sun Yugang (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lu Minfang (Chairman of the Board,
resigned on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Vice Chairman of the Board,
re-designated as Chairman of the Board on 1 February 2023)
Mr. Zhang Ping
Mr. Chen Yiyi (appointed on 1 February 2023)
Ms. Gan Lu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Shengli

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway

Mr. Chow Mang Sang

By virtue of Article 17.2 of the Articles of Association, the Board
shall have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

In accordance with Article 17.18 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, Mr. Zhui Xiaohui, Ms. Gan Lu and Mr. Chow Ming
Sing retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming 2024 AGM as at the date of this report.
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Long Servicing INEDs

There is no independent non-executive Directors who has served
the Board for more than 9 years and re-election of each of them
will be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the
Shareholders pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of independence
has been received from each of them.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages
55to 63.

Directors’ Services Contracts

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the 2024
AGM has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory obligations.

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTION

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transaction” from page 108 to 117 in this report, none
of the "Related Parties Transactions” as disclosed in note 46 to
the consolidated financial statements for the year under review
constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or
non-exempted continuing connected transaction under the Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS — LONG AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company and
their respective associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")) as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")

were as follows:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company

EEED -RRY - HEAROKRES
MEFRRKXR

R2023F12A31H » EFERARAREEITHRAE
MEEZENBEARARARRERE 2B (E&
BHRHEERG (EEEFESNE)((EBEHFRH
BB EXVED R - BN REFHH - ¥
BERBEERRPEEHEIS2EAELRAR A
GFEMZEMOES AR  REEMEITA
EEHETELRR SR ESTRI([ZESFA]) BN
RN NEBHRIFINER AR INT ¢

REQRTARGREBROOFR

Number of Approximate

Shares or percentage of

underlying shareholding

Name of Director Nature of interest Shares interest

[ 8vies IR REBA

EEpE EHMHE HERGHE ERls4

Mr. Sun Yugang Beneficial owner 12,038,287 0.15%
FEEM & A ERFAA

Mr. Zhu Xiaohui Beneficial owner 6,808,593 0.09%
N EmiFEA
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Interest in Associated Corporation
Long positions in the shares of the associated corporation are set
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out below:
Number of Approximate
shares in percentage of
associated shareholdings
Name of Director Name of associated corporation corporation interest
RAEBEE IR
E=nSR HECEE RS RIDEE Bo
Mr. Zhao Jiejun China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited 2,184,481 0.06%
HEHELE FESFIEBRAT
Mr. Zhang Ping China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited 1,856,272 0.05%
RFELE PRERFAEFRAA
Mr. Chen Yiyi Nete China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited 2,197,904 0.06%
R — PERFIAXRERAA
Note: Bt

Mr. Zhang Ping, Mr. Zhao Jiejun and Mr. Chen Yiyi are non-executive
Directors of the Company. Mr. Zhang Ping is also the executive director
and chief financial officer of Mengniu Group. Mr. Zhao Jiejun is the vice
president and the head of milk sourcing and animal husbandry industry
chain business unit of Mengniu Group. Mr. Chen Yiyi, is a vice president
and head of strategy management of Mengniu Group, and is responsible
for the strategic and investment management of Mengniu Group. As at the
date of this report, Mengniu holds 56.36% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company and their
respective associates had any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register of the Company required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group's business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS,
OPTIONS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

There is no conversion or subscription rights under any convertible
securities, warrants or options or similar rights issued or granted by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year or subsisted
at the end of the year. In addition, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Company, or existed during the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Deemed Disposal of Equity Interest in a Subsidiary
Reference is made to the announcement dated 1 February 2024 (the
“Announcement”, terms used in this section shall have the same
meanings as defined in the Announcement), that Modern Farming
Wuhe, China Agricultural, Anhui Suida and Modern Farming
entered into, among others, the Capital Injection Agreement,
pursuant to which, China Agricultural subscribed for approximately
25.4% of the enlarged registered capital of Modern Farming Wuhe
by way of Capital Injection in cash for the sum of RMB600 million
into Modern Farming Wuhe on 8 February 2024.

Proposed Issuance of Option Shares and Unlisted Options
under Specific Mandate

The Company and China Agricultural also entered into the Option
Agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to grant an
option to China Agricultural to subscribe for the Option Shares.
The grant of option is subject to approval by the shareholders at
the forthcoming general meeting.

Saved as disclosed above, no other material events occurred
during the year and up to the date of this report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share incentive scheme as set out below, the Company
has not entered into any equity-linked agreement during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

SHARE OPTIONS

Share Option Scheme adopted on 17 November 2011
(“Share Option Scheme 1”)

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 17 November 2011, which expired on 16 November 2014. All
the outstanding share options were cancelled as a result of the
acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Mengniu which
was completed on 21 March 2017.

Share Option Scheme adopted on 5 June 2014 (“Share
Option Scheme I1”)

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 5 June 2014, which was terminated on 9 September 2016. All
the outstanding share options were cancelled as a result of the
acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Mengniu which
was completed on 21 March 2017.

Share Option Scheme adopted on 30 September 2016
(“Share Option Scheme 111”)

The Company unconditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 30 September 2016. All the outstanding share options were
cancelled as a result of the acceptance of the mandatory cash offer
made by Mengniu which was completed on 21 March 2017 and no
new share option has been granted under Share Option Scheme llI
since.

As at the date of this report, there was no outstanding share
options under the Share Option Scheme |, Share Option Scheme I
and Share Option Scheme IIl.

SHARE AWARD SCHEMES

The Company operates a restricted share award scheme which was
adopted by the Company on 9 September 2016 (the “Share Award
Scheme 1”), and on 26 March 2018 the Company adopted a new
share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme Il”) which shall
remain effective for ten years. The goal of the share award schemes
are to motivate the employees to maximize the value of and share
the results with the Company in order to achieve sustainable
development of the Group.
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Share Award Scheme |
As at 31 December 2023, there were no outstanding awarded

shares being unvested (2022: nil). For the avoidance of doubt,

any restricted share granted prior to 26 March 2018, shall for

all purposes continue to be administered and take effect in

accordance with the rules of Share Award Scheme I.

Share Award Scheme I
As the total contributed amount of the Share Award Scheme |

has reached its limit in 2017, the Company adopted Share Award
Scheme Il on 26 March 2018.

(a)

(c)

102

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme |

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme Il is to recognise
and motivate the contribution of certain members of
management of the Group and to provide incentives and help
the Group in retaining its existing members of management
and to provide them with a direct economic interest in
attaining the long-term business objectives of the Group.

Eligible Participants
The eligible participants include all members of the middle
and senior management of any member of the Group.

Maximum number of shares available under the Share
Award Scheme |l

The maximum number of Shares which may be purchased
by the scheme trustee each year is set at 1% of the number
of issued ordinary shares of the Company at the preceding
annual general meeting.

The maximum number of share award that may be granted
under the Share Award Scheme Il in aggregate shall be such
number of Shares held or to be held by the scheme trustee
from time to time.

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of Shares held by
the scheme trustee was 91,039,793.

The Share Award Scheme Il shall be subject to the
administration of the Board and the scheme trustee in
accordance with the scheme rules and the trust deed
between the Company and the scheme trustee. The scheme
trustee is an independent third party to the Company.
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(d)

(e)

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant
under the Share Award Scheme |l

There is no specific limit on the maximum entitlement of each
participant under the Share Award Scheme II. Accordingly,
the maximum entitlement of each participant is subject to the
limits imposed under the Listing Rules.

Vesting and Payment

Subject to the terms and condition of the Share Award
Scheme Il, upon fulfillment of all vesting conditions (if any) as
specified in the scheme rules of the Share Award Scheme
(the "Scheme Rules”) and the grant notice (as the case may
be), the respective awarded shares (the “Awarded Shares”)
held by the scheme trustee pursuant to the provision of the
Scheme Rules shall vest in such selected participants (the
“Selected Participants”) on such date(s) determined in
accordance with the vesting schedule as set out in the grant
notice or otherwise as communicated by the Company to the
Selected Participant. The Awarded Shares will be transferred
to such Selected Participant (or his nominee) by the scheme
trustee on the vesting date.

Within the 12 months following the vesting date (the “Lock-
up Period”), a Selected Participant may only dispose of
up to fifty percent (50%) of the Awarded Shares vested to
such Selected Participant on the Vesting Date (the “"Vested
Shares”); and subject to the above, a Selected Participant
may dispose of his/her remaining Vested Shares at any time
following the expiry of Lock-Up Period.

Selected Participants are not required to pay purchase price
for the Awarded Shares granted under the Share Award
Scheme II.

Period of the Share Award Scheme Il

The Share Award Scheme Il shall be effective from the
adoption date, being 26 March 2018, and shall continue in full
force and effect for an initial term of ten (10) years.
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MOVEMENT OF THE SHARE AWARD DURING
THE YEAR

Details of the Awarded Shares and their movements during the
year are set out below:

FEERDEBNED

EREBRHHEREDMT :

Weighted
No. of Share No. of Share Average Average
Award Award Purchase Closing Price
Outstanding During the year Outstanding ~ Share Award Vesting Date ~ Price of  Closing Price  Immediately
as of £ Unvestedas  REXBDSEAS Share  Immediately  Before the
1.1.2023 at31.122023  Bybatch: By batch: Awards  Before the  Vesting Date
120238 Cancelled/  R20235 ki o (vested)  Date of Grant ZEER
Name of Grantee or Date of 1818 lapsed  12A31A Fist ~ Second R ZERT REAN
Type of Grantees Type Grant BATHE  Granted  Vested EBEE/ HEBEH B#t M TIBEE BEAH ETH
ERTARN  ROARARELERN  RGRH  RO%A BERF  CHE % BRHEE 50% 50% (EEEHA) KEE WEE
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS)
(A7) (&) (&)
Directors Sun Yugang 120412022 4,994,000 = (2497,000) — 2497000 124203 120412024 1.34 1.24 1.34
Bz BER 28/4/2023 = 5610000 - = 5410000 2842004 2842005  NIAMER 100 NATER
Zhu Xiaohui 120412022 2,997,000 = (1498,500) — 1498500 124203 120402024 1.34 1.24 1.34
REE 2/4/2023 - 323000 - - 33000 284004 WBHAB  NATER 100 NATER
Other Grantees  Five highest paid 120412022 12,087,000 = (6,043500) — 6043500 124203 120412024 1.34 1.24 1.34
individuals
in aggregate
(excluding Directors)
EERTA  DEBEEMALAE 284003 - 13323000 - - 1333000 W04 2842005 NIAMER 100 NATER
(FEfES)
Other employees 12040202 32,149,000 — (155500000 (1573500 15025500  12/4/2023  12/4/2024 134 124 134
ifiEE 5121202 4,415,000 = (21635000 (121500 2130000 1242003 1242004 NIATER 09  NIATER
28412023 — 47676000 = (12160000 46460000  28/4/2004 2842005  NIAMER 100 NATER
5%,642000  69,8682000 (277525000 (29110000 95860500

During the year, the Board granted a total of 69,882,000 Awarded
Shares under the Share Award Scheme Il to 148 middle and senior
management personnel of the Group, and of which 5,610,000 and
3,273,000 were granted to Mr. Sun Yugang and Mr. Zhu Xiaohui,
respectively, both are executive director of the Company. The fair
value of an Awarded Share as at 28 April 2023, being the date of
grant, was HK$0.95 per share. The fair values of Awarded Shares
were determined based on the market price of the Company's
Shares at the grant date.

For details of the Share Award Scheme I, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 27 March 2018. Further details
of the share award schemes are also set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FR - EFSREBERNHRBASIRAEE148
2R REEEABRT A 369,882,000 2 &) ik
N BERRAARBMITESTAEMEERNITE
FREIE S A 5 R T5,610,000% 3,273,0008% 22
Bk o 720234 A 280 (AR T HHA) - #EHAR
P ERAFERISET - BERGH LD FE
BETIRBEARR BN AR T RNTISERETE

BERMREBENZFE  B2HARFBEHA
2018F3A27THM RS - BRI M B8 2
— S B ME R E SRR 38 -
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the section headed “Share Options”
and “Share Award Schemes” above, at no time during the year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company to
have any right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any
or its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other corporate.

UPDATE ON INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE
LISTING RULES

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway, an independent non-executive Director
of the Board, resigned as an independent non-executive director
of GOME Retail Holdings Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong
(stock code: 493.HK) with effect from 21 September 2023.

Save for disclosed above, there were no changes in the information
of Directors since the date of this report and the Company’s
announcement, in relation to, among others, the resignation,
appointment and re-designation of Directors, which are required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

There is no other information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE
SFO

As at 31 December 2023 the interests or short positions of
substantial Shareholders, other than the Directors or the chief
executives of the Company and their respective associates, in
the shares, underling shares and debentures of the Company or

REIFSRPERINKRRATHRE
BaRkAR

MR2023%F12831H » TERR(EEHARAE
BITHRABRESESENBHEABRINRAAE K
HIgH AE (E & R FH R BAEEGIEXVER) &%
% - BERG RMESPEARIEES RBEEG
FIIEBE DN ERMAEREIARNT

its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the

SFQO), as recorded in the register required to be maintained under

Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Percentage of
the Company's

Number issued Share
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest of Shares Capital®
¥ N
ERITRAE
FTERRER E27VR 1131 RHEE BAHke
China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited Beneficial interest 1,246,079,369 (L) 15.74%
HERFIEBR AT Ry I
Interest in controlled corporation (through 3,214,962,513 (L)@ 40.62%
Future Discovery Limited)
EEHEEE R
(i #8Future Discovery Limited)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation (through 568,181,818 (L) 7.18%
BOCI Financial Products Limited)
FRESKRERRELRRA REHEE S 568,181,818 (S) 7.18%
(BERPREFERERERADR)
Interest in controlled corporation (through 1,500,000 (L) 0.02%
Nam Tung (Macao) Investment Limited)
REfEEER
(ERRMIBAETREERATF)
Bank of China Limited Interest in controlled corporation (through 568,181,818 (L) 7.18%
BOCI Financial Products Limited)
FREFITROARDA REHEEER 568,181,818 (S) 7.18%
(FERPREFERERERAF)
Interest in controlled corporation (through 1,500,000 (L) 0.02%

1 Oé China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023
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Percentage of
the Company's

Number issued Share
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest of Shares Capital®
EARAT
ERITRAE
TERRER B,/ EEME RBEE BAHke
BOC International Holdings Limited Interest in controlled corporation (through 568,181,818 (L) 7.18%
BOCI Financial Products Limited)
FIRBIRERAR DA R EEER 568,181,818 (S) 7.18%
(BB RER S REMEBRAT)
BOCI Financial Products Limited Beneficial interest 568,181,818 (L) 7.18%
HRERERERERAR] EnEn 568,181,818 (S) 7.18%
New Hope Dairy Co., Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation (through 635,345,763 (L) 8.03%
GGG Holdings Limited)
NHELIERMNBERAF A E R (FE BGGG Holdings Limited)
New Century Ltd. Interest in controlled corporation (through 635,345,763 (L) 8.03%
GGG Holdings Limited)
S EE R (E BGGG Holdings Limited)
Liu Chang Interest in controlled corporation (through 635,345,763 (L) 8.03%
GGG Holdings Limited)
%% B #% (E BGGG Holdings Limited)
GGG Holdings Limited Beneficial interest 635,345,763 (L) 8.03%
EmEn
MGD Holdings Interest in controlled corporation (through 400,000,000 (L) 5.05%

Daher Capital LTD and DFG Limited)
7% B %5 (B B Daher Capital LTD and
DFG Limited)

Notes: MEE -

N>

Among which up to 568,181,818 Shares have been lent to BOCI Financial ~ EA#%568,181818f M ERIEREF EAERA
Products Limited pursuant to a securities lending agreement dated June 8,  H2rh4RBIEE & BhiE & 5 R A ) (1E A & 2k A) BT 2T a7 I £
2023 entered into between Mengniu as lender and BOCI Financial Products 420236 A8H E’\ﬂ%ﬁxﬁr’m&%:ﬁ‘?fﬁl RERMEmER
Limited as borrower. As at the date of this report, the number of Shares that  AF] e RAREHH - ETHIERA f‘f}z/\%ﬂl@uuﬁ@l\ ﬂ
had been lent to BOCI Financial Products Limited was 568,181,818. Among  Z %D & B £568,181,818% o H3,214,962,5130% i 5
which 3,214,962,513 Shares were held through Future Discovery Limited, a BIBS M B 2 AFuture Discovery Limited# 4 °
subsidiary of Mengniu.

D/

W
_,

(1) Future Discovery Limited is a subsidiary of Mengniu. (1) Future Discovery Limited &5 4 &) Fi B A 7

2 Based on 7,915,662,048 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023. 2) %%2023@12)% 31HB31THY7,915,662,048 1% i%
5 o

(3)  (S) Indicates a short position. (3)  (SEAE -

4) (L) Indicates a long position. 4) (LIELTE °

'y
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Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of
any other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the
Company or as recorded in the register required to be maintained
under Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 December 2023.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year, the Group conducted the following transactions
with certain connected persons of the Company including
Mengniu, the controlling shareholder of the Company, and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Mengniu Group”) and Mengniu’s
associates. These transactions constituted connected transaction
or continuing continued transactions and are subject to reporting
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Off-Take Agreement

The Company started to sell raw milk to Mengniu Group in 2006,
and in 23 October 2008 following arm’s length negotiations,
Modern Farming entered into an off-take agreement (the “Off-
Take Agreement”) with Inner Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group)
Company Limited (“Inner Mongolia Mengniu”), pursuant to which
the Company shall supply raw milk to Inner Mongolia Mengniu.

Date: 24 October 2008

Parties: ()  Modern Farming, a non-wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company

(i) Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a non-wholly

owned subsidiary of Mengniu
Nature of the Modern Farming shall supply raw milk to Inner
Transaction: Mongolia Mengniu.
Committed Both parties shall start to discuss estimates
Purchase: of annual supply three months prior to the

beginning of each calendar year.

Should the parties fail to reach an agreed
amount, Modern Farming shall be entitled to
require Inner Mongolia Mengniu to purchase,
subject to certain limitations, all of its raw milk

production in the upcoming calendar year.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023
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Right to sell to

other parties:

Pricing:

Modern Farming may sell up to 30% of its
raw milk produced daily at each dairy farm to
third parties at its discretion, except to two
of Mengniu's competitors. Other than the
aforesaid, the Off-Take Agreement contains no
other restrictions on Modern Farming's sales of
raw milk to third parties or development of its

own dairy products.

The pricing of the raw milk sold to Inner
Mongolia Mengniu is determined through a
formula which is calculated with reference to a
base price with upward adjustment for meeting
certain quality standards, such as the level
of fat and protein content and other upward
adjustments if the Modern Farming's farms are
within an agreed proximity to Mengniu Group’
s dairy processing plants. The base price is
based on the price which Mengniu Group at the
relevant time offers to buy raw milk from other
mid-to-large- scale dairy farms (which can offer
raw milk of comparable quality) or, if there are
no such mid-to-large-scale dairy farms in such
region, other comparable dairy farms in nearby
regions with adjustments (reflecting the prices

in different regions).
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The base price and upward adjustment
payable by Mengniu Group under the Off-
Take Agreement shall not be lower than the
base price and upward adjustment it pays
respectively to other mid-to-large-scale dairy
farms in the same region (other than short-term
reward programs offered to milk suppliers that
only account for a small portion of Mengniu
Group'’s total raw milk purchases). Inner
Mongolia Mengniu also grants Modern Farming
an option to sell to Inner Mongolia Mengniu the
same amount of raw milk at the same terms and
prices Inner Mongolia Mengniu offers to any
third party suppliers.
Term: The Off-Take Agreement shall be for an term
of 10 years commencing from 24 October 2008
and was automatically extended for another 10
years on 24 October 2018 in the absence of any
force majeure or events of default to 23 October
2028.

Details of the Off-Take Agreement have been disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 23 May 2013. The Off-Take
Agreement was automatically extended on 24 October 2018 for
another ten years in accordance with its terms.

Based on the terms of the Off-Take Agreement as well as the raw
milk sales agreement signed by the newly acquired dairy farming
companies of the Group, the Off-Take Agreement is applicable
to such newly acquired dairy farming companies (except Fuyuan
International).

The aggregate sales amount pursuant to the Off-take Agreement

during the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately RMB7,791,587,000 (2022: RMB7,455,042,000).
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Renewal of Supply Agreement with Keniule
Modern Farming (Wuhe) Co., Ltd. (“Modern Faming Wuhe"),
a company incorporated in the PRC and a non-wholly owned

subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Supply Agreement

with Keniule, pursuant to which Modern Faming Wuhe agreed

to supply, and Keniule Dairy Products Co., Ltd. (“Keniule"), a

company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and an

associate of Mengniu, Keniule agreed to purchase, fresh raw milk

produced by Modern Farming Wuhe from time to time during the

term.

()

Date:

Parties:

Duration:

Principal Terms:

Pricing:

Maximum
transaction

amount:

28 December 2022.

() Modern Farming Wuhe as the supplier;
and

(i) Keniule as the purchaser.
From 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023.

Modern Farming Wuhe agreed to supply, and
Keniule agreed to purchase, fresh raw milk
produced by Modern Farming Wuhe during the
term

The price of the fresh raw milk supplied under
the Supply Agreement shall be negotiated and
determined between the parties on the grounds
of fairness and by reference to (i) the price
of fresh raw milk of the same or substantially
similar quality standards at which Modern
Farming Wuhe supplies to its major customers
in the same region; and (ii) the market guidance
prices published by dairy associations in the
East China region in 2023.

The maximum transaction amount in respect
of the supply and purchase of fresh raw milk
during the term under the Supply Agreement is
RMB80,000,000.
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Details of the Supply Agreement with Keniule have been disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 28 December 2022.

The sales amount pursuant to the Supply Agreement the period
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 was RMB6,777,000 (2022:
32,944,000).

Milk Supply Agreement between Fuyuan International and
Inner Mongolia Mengniu

Fuyuan International entered into a milk supply agreement on
February 27, 2014 ("Milk Supply Agreement 2014") with Inner
Mongolia Mengniu Dairy (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Inner Mongolia
mengniu”), a subsidiary of Mengniu, pursuant to which Inner
Mongolia Mengniu agreed to purchase fresh raw milk from Fuyuan
International and its subsidiaries, and Fuyuan International agreed
to supply fresh raw milk it produces to Inner Mongolia Mengniu.
Fuyuan International has become the subsidiary of the Company
on 29 November 2021, and therefore, the transactions between
the Fuyuan International and Inner Mongolia Mengniu under the
Milk Supply Agreement 2014 will constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Date: 27 February 2014

Parties: (1) Fuyuan International

(2) Inner Mongolia Mengniu

Duration: From 27 February 2014 to 28 February 2034

Pricing policy: The final purchase price of fresh raw milk shall
be calculated with reference to a base price
on the basis of regions, adjusted based on the
quality standards of the fresh raw milk supplied
(such as level of fat and protein content, acidity
and microbial content). The base price will
be adjusted in accordance with movements
in market price. Inner Mongolia Mengniu
undertakes that the base price payable under
the Milk Supply Agreement 2014 shall not be
lower than the price it pays for purchasing fresh
raw milk of the same physicochemical indices
from any third party in the area where Fuyuan
International is located.
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Settlement terms: (1) Fuyuan International shall issue an invoice
for the confirmed settlement amount of the
previous month to Inner Mongolia Mengniu
before the 10th day of each month; and (2)
Inner Mongolia Mengniu shall pay the invoiced
amount to the designated account of Fuyuan
International before the 30th day of each month.

Details of the Milk Supply Agreement 2014 have been disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 29 November 2021.

The aggregate sales amount pursuant to the Milk Supply
Agreement 2014 from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2023 amounted to approximately RMB1,726,820,000 (2022:
RMB1,746,468,000).

Fuyuan International was acquired by the Company on 29
November 2021 and become a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company then.

Farm Supplies Framework Agreement with Aiyangniu
Modern Farming, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the Farm Supplies Framework Agreement
with Inner Mongolia Aiyangniu Technology Co., Ltd., a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of Mengniu (“Aiyangniu Technology”),
in relation to the supply of Farm Supplies by the Aiyangniu
Technology Group to the Modern Farming.

Date: 28 December 2022.
Parties: (i) Modern Farming as the buyer; and

(i) Aiyangniu Technology as the supplier.
Duration: For a term commencing from 1 January 2023 to

31 December 2023.
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Principal Terms:

Pricing:

Annual Capacity:

THE DIRECTORS

The Modern Farming group agrees to purchase,
and the Aiyangniu Technology group agrees
to supply and deliver to designated farms of
Modern Farming group, farm supplies which
shall meet the quality requirements as set out in
the framework supply agreement.

The price payable by the Modern Farming
Group to the Aiyangniu Technology Group
shall be determined by reference to the lowest
quoted price at which the Modern Farming
Group could obtain from independent third
parties (whether local or overseas) for the same
types of Farm Supplies. For this purpose, the
Modern Farming Group will seek quotations
from at least two independent third parties
offering Farm Supplies of the same types and
quality standards each time before a purchase
order is placed with the Aiyangniu Technology
Group.

The annual cap in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the framework supply
agreement commencing from 1 January 2023 to
31 December 2023 is RMB200,000,000.

Details of the Farm Supplies Framework Agreement with Aiyangniu

Technology have been disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 28 December 2022. The Farm Supplies Framework
Agreement has been consolidated into a new framework

agreement entered into with Aiyangniu Technology on 20
December 2023 with a term from 1 January 2024 to 31 December
2024. Details of the new framework agreement have been disclosed

in the Company’s announcement dated 20 December 2023.

The aggregate sales amount pursuant to the framework supply

agreement the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately RMB124,516,000 (2022: RMB116,914,000).
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Intelligent loT Software and Hardware Procurement and
Supply Framework Agreement with Yunyangniu Technology
Modern Farming, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Inner Mongolia Yunyangniu Technology Co., Ltd.
(formerly known as Hainan Yunyangniu Technology Co., Ltd.)
("Yunyangniu Technology”, a company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liabilities) (being a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of
Modern Dairy and an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of
Mengniu) entered into the Intelligent loT Software and Hardware
Procurement and Supply Framework Agreement in relation to the
supply of intelligent loT software and hardware and the provision of
supporting services by Yunyangniu Technology Group to Modern
Farming Group.

Date: 10 February 2023.
Parties: (i) Modern Farming (as the purchaser)

(i) Yunyangniu Technology (as the supplier)
Duration: From 10 February 2023 to 31 December 2023

Principal Terms:  Modern Farming Group agrees to purchase,
and Yunyangniu Technology Group agrees
to supply and deliver to the designated farms
of Modern Farming Group, the intelligent loT
software and hardware which shall meet the
relevant specifications, along with supporting

services.
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Pricing:

Specifications:

Annual Cap:

The price payable by Modern Farming Group
to Yunyangniu Technology Group shall be
determined by way of price inquiry and
comparison, and with reference to the lowest
quotation that Modern Farming Group could
obtain from independent suppliers (whether
domestic or foreign) for the intelligent
loT software and hardware with the same
standards and specifications and similar
quality. Yunyangniu Technology Group will
assist Modern Farming Group to estimate
its specific needs of relevant software and
hardware according to the relevant business
needs and requirements (including, but not
limited to, standards, quantities, specifications
and quality). Modern Farming Group will seek
price quotation from at least three independent
sizeable suppliers with relevant qualifications,
and will determine the purchase price through
price consultation with suppliers to ensure that
the price and terms of the provision of software
and hardware equipment by Yunyangniu
Technology Group to Modern Farming Group
are no less favorable than those offered by other
independent suppliers. The price mentioned
above refers to the on-site price.

The intelligent loT software and hardware
supplied by Yunyangniu Technology Group
shall (i) satisfy the quality standards as specified
in the purchase orders; and (ii) comply with
national and local laws and regulations of the
PRC.

The maximum transaction amount in respect
of the transactions contemplated under
the intelligent loT software and hardware
procurement and supply framework agreement
commencing from 10 February 2023 to 31
December 2023 is RMB50,000,000.
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Details of the Intelligent loT Software and Hardware Procurement
and Supply Framework Agreement with Yunyangniu Technology
have been disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
10 February 2023. The Intelligent loT Software and Hardware
Procurement and Supply Framework Agreement has been
consolidated into a new framework agreement entered into with
Aiyangniu Technology on 20 December 2023 with a term from 1
January 2024 to 31 December 2024. Details of the new framework
agreement have been disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 20 December 2023.

From 10 February 2023 to 31 December 2023, the total sales
amount under the intelligent IoT software and hardware
procurement and supply framework agreement reached
approximately RMB11,292,000.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other continuing connected
transactions of the Company that are subjected to be reported in
this report in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Reviewed By Audit Committee

The Audit Committee (consists of three independent non-executive
Directors) have reviewed these transactions and confirmed that the
non-exempt continuing connected transactions have been entered
into:

(@) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and

() in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Listing Rules”), the Board engaged the auditor of the Company
to report the Group's continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group
in this Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 17 March 2023, Aiyangniu Technology entered into a
equity transfer agreement with the shareholders of Yunyangniu
Technology (the “Sellers”), pursuant to which the Sellers agreed to
sell the entire equity interests in Yunyangniu Technology at a total
consideration of RMB19,080,000 (“Acquisition”). The Acquisition
was completed during the year, and Yunyangniu Technology
become wholly-owned by the Aiyangniu Technology, which is in
turn owned by Modern Farming and Inner Mongolia Mengniu as to
75% and 25%.

Inner Mongolia Mengniu (a subsidiary of Mengniu) was one of
the Sellers that had transferred 20% of its equity in Yunyangniu
Technology to Aiyanniu Technology. Therefore, the Acquisition
constituted a connected transaction of the Company. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 17 March
2023.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of all of
its continuing connected transactions and connected transactions.

Details of the above continuing connected transactions and
connected transactions have been disclosed in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are set out in the
announcements of the Company which are available at the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website at
www.moderndairyir.com.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework.
Risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed
and updated to react changes in dairy product quality, food
safety, production, animal disease, environment pollution,
market developments and financial risks. The Audit Committee
reviews risk-related policies and scrutinizes that management has
performed its duty to have effective risk management and internal
control systems necessary for monitoring and controlling risks
arising from the Group's business activities, changing external risks
and regulatory environment, and report to the Board on the above.
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Strategic Risks

The Directors maintain a strategic plan based on the knowledge on
the dairy industry. The Group will invest in good grass plantation,
good dairy cows, quality milk production and promotion of
integrated operation that based on the strategic plan in order to
cope with the market demand and expectation. The Group will
closely review and monitor its short and long-term strategies and
strives for the best interests to its shareholders.

Operational Risks

Operational risk is concerned with possible losses caused by failure
of internal processes, people, system or external events, such
risk is mitigated by and controlled by establishing sound internal
control, setting out clear lines of responsibility, proper segregation
of duties and effective internal reporting. Management regularly
reviews the Group's operations to ensure that the Group's risk of
losses, whether financial or otherwise, resulting from fraud, errors,
omissions and other operational and compliance matters, are
adequately managed.

Financial Risks

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group's net foreign exchange exposures
and may enter into currency forward contracts or currency option
contracts, when necessary, to manage its foreign exchange
exposure. Furthermore, with aim to tackle the risk of interest rate
fluctuation, the management regularly reviews and assesses the
Group's exposure to interest rate movement and may consider
entering into interest rate swap contracts or other hedging
strategies when necessary.

The principal financial risks are set out in Notes 40 and 41 to
the consolidated financial statements headed “Capital Risk
Management” and “Financial Instrument”.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway and Mr. Chow Ming
Sang and one non-executive Director, Mr. Zhang Ping. The Audit
Committee has reviewed with the management the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Company, and discussed
the risk management and internal control systems and financial
reporting matters including the review of the audited results for the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws in the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the
Company.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

(1) Deemed Disposal of Equity Interest in a Subsidiary; and
(2) Proposed Issuance of Unlisted Options under Specific
Mandate

Deemed Disposal of Equity Interest in a Subsidiary

Reference is made to the announcement dated 1 February 2024
(the "Announcement", terms used in this section shall have the
same meanings as defined in the Announcement), that Modern
Farming Wuhe, China Agricultural, Anhui Suida and Modern
Farming entered into the Capital Injection Agreement and other
Transaction Documents, pursuant to which China Agricultural has
conditionally agreed to subscribe for approximately 25.4% of the
enlarged registered capital of Modern Farming Wuhe by way of
Capital Injection in cash for the sum of RMB600 million into Modern
Farming Wuhe.
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Proposed Issuance of Unlisted Options under Specific Mandate
Reference is made to the Announcement that, the Company and
China Agricultural entered into the Option Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to grant an option to China Agricultural
to subscribe for the Option Shares. Pursuant to the Option
Agreement, the exercise of Option is subject to the following
thresholds, whichever is lower: (i) the total subscription amount of
the Option Shares by China Agricultural shall not exceed RMB400
million (or the equivalent amount in HK$); or (i) the total number of
Option Shares subscribed by China Agricultural shall not exceed 6%
of the total number of Shares of the Company in issue at the time
of the exercise of Option.

Financial Effects of the Capital Injection

Upon completion of the Capital Injection, Modern Farming Wuhe's
total registered capital will be increased to RMB529,275,411.15
and its equity interest will be owned as to approximately 66.1% by
Modern Farming, 25.4% by China Agricultural and approximately
8.5% by Anhui Suida respectively. Hence, the Group's interest in
Modern Farming Wuhe will be diluted from approximately 88.6%
to approximately 66.1% after the Completion. Upon Completion,
Modern Farming Wuhe will remain as a subsidiary of the Company
and its financial results will continue to be consolidated in the
Company'’s consolidated financial statements. The Directors do not
expect to recognize any material gain/loss from the transactions
contemplated under the Capital Injection Agreement. The actual
amount of gain/loss from the Capital Injection to be recorded by
the Company (if any) will be subject to review by the auditor of the
Company.

The resolutions of approving the grant of the Option and the issue
of Option Shares upon exercise thereof will be put forward at
the 2024 AGM. A circular containing, among other things, further
details of the grant of the Option, the issue of Option Shares
upon exercise thereof and other information as required under
the Listing Rules will be despatched to the shareholders of the
Company in April 2024.

The Directors consider that the Capital Injection can enhance the
working capital and expand the capital base of the Group, as well
as provide capital support and is necessary for the operations and
development of the Group to satisfy its business needs and growth,
and to achieve financial efficiency.

Saved as disclosed in this report, no other material events of the
Group occurred after 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 were audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire as auditors of the Company
and, is eligible to, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming 2024 AGM. The
Company has not changed its auditor in the past 3 years.

On behalf of the Board
Zhao Jiejun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Sun Yugang (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Chen Yiyi

Ms. Gan Lu

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Li Shengli

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway

Mr. Chow Ming Sang

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Chow Ming Sang

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Li Shengli (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Ping

Mr. Chow Ming Sang

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Chairman)

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway

Mr. Chow Ming Sang

STRATEGY AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
Mr. Zhao Jiejun (Chairman)

Mr. Sun Yugang

Mr. Chen Yiyi

Mr. Li Shengli

Ms. Gan Lu

SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE
Mr. Zhang Ping (Chairman)

Mr. Sun Yugang

Mr. Zhu Xiaohui

Mr. Li Shengli

Mr. Lee Kong Wai, Conway

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Guo Wenju

Mr. Han Chunlin

Mr. Zhang Xue

Mr. Song Weizheng

Ms. Yuan Li

Mr. Zhao Zunyang

Mr. Ma Lijun

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Li Kwok Fat (CPA, ACG, HKACG)

HEADQUARTERS

Economic and Technological Development Zone
Maanshan City, Anhui Province
PRC
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NGIE- e

REGISTERED OFFICE

Maples Corporate Services Limited
PO Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman, KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG OFFICE
Room A, 32nd Floor, COFCQO Tower
262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Maples Finance Limited
PO Box 1093
Queensgate House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1102
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISORS

As to Hong Kong Law
Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton (Hong Kong)

As to PRC Law
Commerce & Finance Law Offices

As to Cayman Islands Law
Maples and Calder

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Construction Bank Maanshan Branch
Agricultural Development Bank of China
China Minsheng Bank

China Construction Bank (Asia)

Rabobank Hong Kong

Westpac Banking Corporation

STOCK CODE
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited: 1117

WEBSITE AND CONTACT

http://www.moderndairyir.com
Enquiry: (+852) 2850-6252
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA MODERN DAIRY HOLDINGS LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 132 to
298, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
EREEREE

FAEEZEZEEW

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BAEERTREARELSERENSE

Fair value of milkable cows

R FE

We identified the fair value of milkable cows as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance on the
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December
2023 and the significant degree of estimates made by the
management in determining such fair values.

The Group reported milkable cows of Renminbi (“RMB")
7,385 million as at 31 December 2023. These biological assets
are measured at fair value less costs to sell at the end of the
reporting period.

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 44 to the consolidated financial
statements, fair values of milkable cows are determined by
using the multi-period excess earnings method, which is based
on the discounted future cash flows to be generated by such
milkable cows. The management’s estimation is primarily based
on the discount rate, the estimated future market price of raw
milk, the estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated feed costs per kilogram ("kg"”) of raw
milk. The management has engaged an independent valuer to
assist in assessing the fair values of milkable cows.

Details of milkable cows and the related estimation uncertainty
on their fair values are set out in Notes 4, 22 and 44 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures in relation to the fair value of
milkable cows included:

BRI EHF R

Understanding and evaluating the Group's
design and implementation of relevant
control over the fair value determination of
milkable cows;

Evaluating the independent valuer’s
objectivity, qualifications and competence;

Involving our internal valuation specialists to
assess the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and comparing the discount
rate applied in the discounted future cash
flows calculation against independent
benchmark data;

Comparing the key assumptions, including
the estimated future market price of raw
milk, the estimated average daily milk yield
at each lactation cycle and the estimated
feed costs per kg of raw milk to historical
and industry data; and

Comparing the actual results for the
current year with management'’s cash
flow projections prepared in the previous
review to evaluate the reasonableness of
management'’s budgeting process.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) FEREEBEXEE@

Key audit matter
EREREE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EPEERTREARELSEENT A

Impairment assessment of goodwill arising from the acquisition of ADH Companies

WREADH Y ] E L BB & /R (EFF IS

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill arising
from the acquisition of Asia Dairy Holdings and Asia Dairy
Holdings Il (“ADH Companies”), as a key audit matter due
to the significance of the balance and the significant degree
of estimates and underlying assumptions made by the
management in determining the recoverable amount of ADH
Companies.

The Group reported goodwill, net of impairment, of RMB1,012
million relating to the acquisition of ADH Companies as at 31
December 2023.

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, goodwill impairment assessment requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated and the Group
determines the recoverable amount of cash-generating
unit based on a value in use calculation. The management’s
estimation is primarily based on the estimated future market
price of raw milk, the estimated average daily milk yield at each
lactation cycle, the estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk, the
discount rate and the growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows beyond the budget period.

HAP9S E £ 8 B Asia Dairy Holdings & Asia Dairy Holdings |I
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% 4.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill arising from the
acquisition of ADH Companies included:

Understanding and evaluating the Group's
design and implementation of relevant
control over the impairment assessment of
goodwill;

Comparing discount rate applied to cash
flow projections and the growth rate
used to extrapolate cash flows beyond
the budget period against independent
benchmark data with the assistance of our
internal valuation specialists;

Comparing the key assumptions including
the estimated future market price of raw
milk, estimated average daily milk yield at
each lactation cycle and the estimated feed
costs per kg of raw milk by comparing to
historical and industry data; and

Comparing the actual results for the
current year with management'’s cash
flow projections prepared in the previous
review to evaluate the reasonableness of
management'’s budgeting process.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lung, Wing Hung David.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

25 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEaRkRAMEEKER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H IFF/E

2023 2022
20234 20224F
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
M EE ARET T ARET T
Revenue A 5 13,458,223 12,295,091
Cost of sales SHE AR 8 (13,008,256) (11,915,660)
Gains arising on initial recognition of raw A REH U E R i A FE
milk at fair value less costs to sell at R SH B R AN W1 IR TERR
the point of harvest a0 22 2,678,046 2,887,548
Gross profit EAH 3,128,013 3,266,979
Loss arising from changes in fair value ~ ZLFRAFELEHILFHE
less costs to sell of dairy cows BKARE R EE 22 (1,280,373) (988,215)
Other income A 7 221,126 201,559
Impairment losses under expected credit TEHEEEIE
loss (“ECL") model, net of reversal ((FEHEERE))
AT R EEE
B EEE 10 (17,278) (1,995)
Other gains and losses, net H At Y s & E5 18 F 58 8 5,173 (376,662)
Selling and distribution costs HE RS HEMAS (377,784) (369,887)
Administrative expenses 1THRAX (852,386) (730,203)
Other expenses EMAEY (72,309) (42,386)
Share of results of associates and B E RN R e &R
a joint venture E | (3,939) 15,410
Profit before finance costs and tax B @ & Ak AN X B I8 A v A 8 750,243 974,600
Finance costs BB KA 9 (521,247) (379,559)
Profit before tax B A5 A1 7 228,996 595,041
Income tax expense FriSHif 11 (43,562) (14,775)
Profit for the year F N A 185,434 580,266
Other comprehensive HthZ2mBIZ), WA :
(expense) income:
Item that will not be reclassified to TeEN S EAEBmER -
profit or loss:
Fair value loss on investments in equity AT EFFAEMEEUWA
instruments at fair value through other ([ AFEFFAEMEE
comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") BAD® R TERE
N EERE (48,887) (14,573)
Item that may be reclassified HZASEE 57
subsequently to profit or loss: BammIEE -
Exchange differences arising on RMEBINEREENERZRE
translation of foreign operations 4,839 21,332
Other comprehensive (expense) income  FRHE A 2@ (FI50) A -
for the year, net of income tax R PTERR (44,048) 6,759
Total comprehensive income for the year F A% HURA 4250 141,386 587,025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEBEmAEMEE KSR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 8220235 12 A31H IFF[E

2023 2022
2023% 20224
NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000

B & AR®T ARBT T

Profit for the year attributable to: TR EIEFRRTN
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIE SN 175,159 562,497
Non-controlling interests IEVERRE 10,275 17,769
185,434 580,266
Total comprehensive income for the year LA T &5 EEFRZ2EWA
attributable to: aEE
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIE SN 131,091 569,067
Non-controlling interests IEVE R RE 10,295 17,958
141,386 587,025
Earnings per share (RMB) FREF(ARE) 15
Basic HAK 2.23 cents?% 7.16 cents?
Diluted e 2.21 cents% 7.13 cents?

=’ !.‘h 3 —s-csrp cERRKRRREEaE ]33
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B B I AR OR &

AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 7202312 H31H

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
B & ARET T ARETIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 16 6,264,934 5,702,907
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 2,198,546 1,256,949
Goodwill BES 18 2,417,915 2,406,658
Other intangible assets EtEREE 19 40,866 45,258
Interests in associates and a joint venture REtE A FINA S D ENER 20 771,047 458,917
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRAFEAEMZEBAL
ERTA 21 57,342 106,229
Biological assets EMEE 22 11,927,977 10,631,171
Prepayments T FRIE 24 12,914 29,936
Derivative financial instruments PTESMT A 25 117,991 19,154
Pledged bank deposits EEHRRITIFH 26 32,089 =
Bank balances IRITHERR 26 677,843 236,281
Deferred tax assets EIER I E E 11 6,677 827
24,526,141 20,894,287
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 23 2,940,968 3,379,346
Trade and other receivables and FEUNE 5 BR 30 I H A JE W 5ROR
prepayments LA R BT 5/ I8 24 1,935,932 2,183,907
Derivative financial instruments PTESRMIEAE 25 460 22,202
Pledged bank deposits BERIEITER 26 9,913 187,339
Bank balances RITAE R 26 1,963,627 2,125,628
6,850,900 7,898,422
Assets classified as held for sale DEARBENENEE 16 17,203 28,644
6,868,103 7,927,066
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Derivative financial instruments PTESRMITEA 25 3,017 14,388
Trade and other payables BN E SRR EMERFKRIE 27 5,534,188 3,288,701
Tax payable FEERTRIA 42,309 5,004
Bank borrowings IRITER 28 2,206,484 4,831,164
Other borrowings EMER 29 353,251 22,704
Short term debenture HHIRE S 30 - 100,522
Long term bonds REMES 31 35,536 34,944
Lease liabilities HEBR 32 238,925 111,392
Other liabilities EmafE 33 9,856 4,573
Contract liabilities aHEaR 34 26,648 43,204
Deferred income EEHA 35 12,570 11,563
8,462,784 8,468,159
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ir e B IR IR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 7202312 H31H

2023 2022
20235 20224
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
[ihEd AR®T T AREFIT
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBRERE (1,594,681) (541,093)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBAEE
LIABILITIES 22,931,460 20,353,194
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRK#HE
Share capital N 36 675,869 675,869
Reserves e 10,525,116 10,588,248
Equity attributable to owners of RNATER ANEL
the Company 11,200,985 11,264,117
Non-controlling interests JEVERR 641,779 379,183
TOTAL EQUITY MRERS 11,842,764 11,643,300
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FrBEME
Derivative financial instruments PTHEESRITA 25 17,342 43,646
Other payables H fth FE AT FRIE 27 5,201 =
Bank borrowings RITREK 28 5,183,959 3,752,421
Other borrowings HAbfE R 29 193,974 271,115
Long term bonds RHEIES 31 3,523,467 3,458,072
Lease liabilities HERE 32 1,781,170 956,653
Other liabilities HEmaE 33 160,531 -
Deferred tax liabilities EETIBEE 11 13,389 22,454
Deferred income JRIE A 35 209,663 205,533
11,088,696 8,709,894
22,931,460 20,353,194

The consolidated financial statements on pages 132 to 298 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25

March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Zhao Jiejun

Director

EF

Sun Yugang
BEM
Director

EF

BN E 1328298 H M4 & I 53R R A 2024F 3 A
BHKEEESHERBETIBIRREE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEDBER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H IFF/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

AOAREARE
Shares
held
under the Fair value
Share Share  through other Non-
Share Share Other ~ Statutory ~ award ~ Award  comprehensive Translation  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve Scheﬁmﬁ income reserve  reserve  earnings  Sub-otal  interests Total
R
FEAY  RAVEfA
fEEf Afi2E FER

RE  RREE ABRE iEEE RORERE  RR WAGE AERE REEA it Bi ait
RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEBTT ARETR Aﬁ\%iﬁ) /\R*ﬁgﬁ) ARETT ARETR ARBTT ARETR ARBTL ARMTT ARETT ARETR

(Note 36)  (Note 36)

(het3e)  (Eso)

At 1 January 2022 H022F1 818 675809 689633 920109 241302 20,66 (86,931) (22978) (40) 222059 10864931 29803 11114734
Profitfor the year ERgH - - - - = S S - 56249 562497 17769 580,266
Other comprehensivelexpense)  FREHB2EFEHA

income for the year = = = = = = (14412 20982 = 6570 189 6759
Total comprehensive (expense) ~ FRZEFERMALE

income for the year - - - - - - (14412 0982 562491 569067 17958 587,025
Share purchase for the Share SRhRBEE

Award Scheme (25 defined BEE(TER

in Note 3) B33 = = = = - (1330 = = - (1330 - (1330
Vesting of award shares (Note 38) )R 5B (F15130) - - - - [y %22 = = 1,504 = = =
Recognition of equity-settled ~ EZRELELIR(A

share-based payments Note 38~ RT3 (F236) = = = - UM = = = - M - U
Eouity trensactions relatedto ~~~ BHZSEFMRERS

interest free loans = = 2859 = = = = = = 2859 (2859) =
Dividends distribution (Note 1)~ REAE(Ht14) - 0430 - - - - - - - 0390 - 04390
Acquisition of subsidiaries WENBAE ()

(Note 39) - - - - - - - - - - 76,481 76,481
Establishment of non-wholly- K2 ENBAT

owned subsidiaries = = = = = = = = = = 37,800 37,800
Transfer o statutory reserves ERTITEE = = S ) = = = - BN = = =
At 31 December 2022 RA2E12A318 65869 669194 9098 T UM 835%9) (73900 0942 247909 MA6A1T 379183 11,643,300
Prfitforthe e R - - - - - - - =I5 175159 10275 185434
Other comprehensivelexpense)  FREHB2EFE)HA

income for the year - - - - - - (48,826) 4758 - (44,068) 20 (44,048
Total comprehensive (expense) ~ FREEFERUALE

income for the year - - - - - - (48,826) 4758 175159 131,091 10295 141,386
Share purchase for the Share SR RE A

Award Scheme (Note 38) RiEE (B3 3) - - - - - (47409) - - - (47.409) - (41409)
Vesting of award shares (Note 38) BRI 8 (1:138) - - - - (413 3306 - - 55 - - -
Recognition of ecity-settled ~ EEREEZURN

share-based payments (Note 3§) iﬁa’W%ﬂ(Mﬁsa) - - - - 50,049 - - - - 50,049 - 50,049
Equity transactions refatedto ~ BHEEEFH

interest ree loans RiExs - - 1) - - - - - - -
Dividends distribution (Note 14~ B AR (H14) - (1997) - - - - - - - (1997) -
Injection of capital from FaRER TR

non-controlling interests (PzE33)

(Note 33) - - (83139) - - - - - - (83139) 214850 131,711
Establishment of non-wholly- RuF2ENBAR

owned subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - 3574 3574
Transfer o statutory reserves ERTITHE - - - 5469 - - - - (54694 - - -
A3 Decerber 2023 ROEVANE  ensA0 65009 83102 33268 SO0 (902 (86216 25700 2862783 11200985 641779 11,842,764
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES e
Profit before tax B 1 B A1) 228,996 595,041
Adjustments for: BT S IEELFHEE -
Depreciation of property, plant and BiESINRETE - BE R
equipment charged to profit or loss HETE 377,146 352,032
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BiEmNkRE AR EE
charged to profit or loss e 66,712 42,520
Amortisation of other intangible assets ~ HE 2 & E & 5 9,249 4,207
Impairment losses under expected BHEEEEEE TRE
credit loss model, net of reversal E51E - MR 17,278 1,995
Impairment loss on property, plantand ~ #1% - B = R &ERRE
equipment, net EERE - 1,895
Interest income F B U A (67,505) (60,393)
Government grants released to B AR
income (89,582) (78,506)
Finance costs [ELE=D N 521,247 379,559
Share of results of associates and a ELEtE RE R E R E
joint venture e} 3,939 (15,410)
(Gain) loss on fair value changes of TESBIAANFEEZS
derivative financial instruments (Y zs) E18 (95,699) 18,695
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HEWE - BERZBER
plant and equipment (zs) 12,081 (15,322)
Gain on disposal of assets classified as  HE S EAFIEFLENEE
held for sale ollEy (4,470) =
Gain on remeasurement of previously BT EZAIFANERTN
held interests = (5,050) =
Loss on disposal of other intangible HEEMETEERE
assets 12,386 165
Loss on liquidation of a subsidiary EEB TR EE 215 =
Loss (gain) on termination of lease RIS WA AR (W)
agreements 10 (3,652)
Gains on fair value changes of EEHEFRATFEZ S
structured deposits - (2,465)
Net foreign exchange loss HNE JB5 18 % 58 75,583 380,181
Equity-settled share-based payments R E AR XY
(REA 50,049 44,950
Loss arising from changes in fair value IR FEZEFHIA L HE
less costs to sell of dairy cows BN E A HY S 1R 1,280,373 988,215
Loss on provisions BiEEE 1,249 -
Operating cash flows before HEEEHANLE
movements in working capital HEME 2,394,207 2,633,707
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERA M) 417,320 (940,089)
Decrease (increase) in trade and other FEUE 5 AR 30 N B i Uk
receivables and prepayments FRIAA R TR RRIER A
(12 hm) 172,100 (585,679)
Increase in trade and other payables JEHE 5 8RR S B At FE At
FIAIE 2,460,338 399,185
(Decrease) increase in contract EHBECE)EM
liabilities (16,556) 37,861
Increase in deferred income IR YA SE AN 42,928 52,283
Cash generated from operations EFEENES 5,470,337 1,597,268
Income taxes paid EATATEH (21,368) (20,160)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING RETBREREFR
ACTIVITIES 5,448,969 1,577,108

% 4.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

,m fﬁ k7 //HJE i‘%
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #2023 123318 [t &

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000
ihE AREET T ARBTIT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZH
Interest received 2 WAE 56,165 49,228
Purchases of property, plant and BAME - BE&RE
equipment (1,019,478) (1,112,602)
Purchases of other intangible assets BAHMELEE (12,134) (8,272)
Payments for right-of-use assets EREEENRK (36,031) (34,243)
Purchases of biological assets BALEWEE (20,280) (232,070)
Addition in biological assets in relation 75 B fi3 & H b A8 B Ak AN AY
to feeding and other related costs EYEELE (3,240,715) (2,714,285)
Placement of pledged bank deposits FABERIETHER (36,506) (14,748)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RRMEERRITER 181,843 5,886
Placement of term deposits with FARISEBA=FEAN
original maturity over three months TR R R EIERTT
and restricted bank deposits T (531,540) (229,359)
Withdrawal of term deposits with RIS BEA=EAN
original maturity over three months EHFRKRZREIRTT
and restricted bank deposits TR 199,082 150,000
Placement of structured deposits TFAZBEETR (137,000) (1,293,000)
Withdrawal of structured deposits RREVEREMTR 137,064 1,295,465
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BERZHBAS
plant and equipment KIE 15,865 85,720
Proceeds from sales of assets classified  $HE DB AFIELEHN
as held for sale BEFSHIA 16,197 -
Proceeds from disposal of dairy cows HEIFFTERIE 1,048,581 1,060,659
Government grants received B UL AT 47 B 51,791 49,386
Investment in associates and a joint BanmkadbERE
venture (321,334) (86,641)
Net cash outflow on business REZEBEHFRSRL
combination in current year pecd-c} 39 (1,679) (398,019)
Net cash outflow on business BEFEEREHRSR
combination in prior years g} (204,435) (378,700)
Net cash outflow on asset acquisitions ~ BEFEFEEERBR LR
in prior years F R - (1,750)
Purchases of equity instruments at BARXTFEFAHMEE
FVTOCI WA ST A - (118,147)
Loans to associates mEEE N TER (94,600) (68,000)
Loan repayment from associates B NREREER 68,000 =
Loan repayment from a third party E=HEEREX - 2,000
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZHMARES FHE
ACTIVITIES (3,881,144) (3,991,492)

‘ N o— -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERTRER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 &, 220234 12331 A L &

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEH
Dividends paid 2R (111,997) (204,390)
Interest paid EAHLE (427,587) (384,625)
New bank borrowings raised HERFFETER 5,665,179 8,099,765
Repayment of bank borrowings ERRITER (6,898,014) (4,467,747)
New other borrowings raised MBS EMER 305,942 183,365
Repayment of other borrowings BE B fh &K (58,859) (584,486)
Proceeds on issue of short term BITR R E SRS T0E
debenture - 100,000
Repayments of short term debenture EpSSELE- P (100,000) -
Repayments of leases liabilities ERHEaE (135,874) (66,650)
Payment for repurchase of ordinary EAE RS E S NP
shares (47,409) (13,300)
Receipts arising from net settlement of | RIS HIFREAE EA K
interest rate swaps g A 1,210 5,760
Gross cash inflow from foreign SNE RIS XA 2 IRA
currency option contracts - 264,256
Gross cash outflow from foreign SNEERES HMABIR SR
currency option contracts - (270,800)
Receipts arising from net settlement of B HIES L FRHEEEL
currency option contracts U A 38,995 =
Gross cash inflow from capped and HEHERX XG5
floored cross currency swap ([CFCeshm#BiR R
("CFCCS") 59,017 55,753
Gross cash outflow from CFCCS CFCCSHI#2IR & 7 (77,214) (77,214)
Gross cash inflow from foreign SNERBIEHMBERRA
currency forward contracts 290,601 135,640
Gross cash outflow from foreign SNERIIEHMBES L
currency forward contracts (296,966) (137,812)
Payments arising from net settlement SNEEHIS K FREREES
of foreign currency forward contracts AR (50,449) -
Acquisition of non-controlling interests  YRBBIEIZE AR AE ZE (20,894) (20,894)
Payments for acquisition of original Uy B 3 L Bt B JB 2 )
non-controlling interests in an . =
acquired subsi%iary PRI AR 5 ) 13 - (43,680)
Dividends paid to the original BE T E = PNGIIG L ES
shareholders of an acquired A AR B
subsidiary - (17,155)
Addition of other liabilities Hih B EEE 68,289 =
Dividends paid to non-controlling M) FEF2 AR AR SRR A R 2,
shareholders (5,341) (5,341)
Capital contribution from non- KEFIERBRRAEE
controlling shareholders 167,435 37,800
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM BMEEH (A EREFRE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,633,936) 2,588,245
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH HRE&RRLSZEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (B2, (66,111) 173,861
":“.h "‘“ SEoCEEH RERRHREREELE 139



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
meBHeEnER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 &% 2023¢F 1231 B It /&

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARETT

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS MBIBENBRERAEEEY
AT 1 JANUARY 1,924,409 1,737,683
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EXEB)H T E 1,440 12,865
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R12A3MENEER
AT 31 DECEMBER BREEEY 1,859,738 1,924,409
Represented by AT RIEZ5
Bank balances and cash RITEHNIRE 2,641,470 2,361,909
Less: restricted bank deposits and term & : R HIIRITF KL
deposits with original maturity JREIEA A #8E = & A &Y
over three months TEBER (781,732) (437,500)

oy -y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B RAR A

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (the "Company”) was
incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands. Its shares have been listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”) since 26 November 2010. The registered
office of the Company is Maples Corporate Services Limited,
PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KYI-1104,
Cayman Islands.

As at 31 December 2023, China Mengniu Dairy Co., Ltd.
("Mengniu”) and its wholly-owned subsidiary together owned
56.36% of the issued share capital of the Company. Mengniu
and its subsidiaries are hereinafter collectively referred to as
“Mengniu Group”.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in production and
sales of milk, trading, production and sales of feeds. The
Company and its subsidiaries are hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

—REH
RERRBEERERAR(ERATDA—
MiREHSHE A EER S STEMAK
URERNEREERAR  ERHEEBE
2010F 1M AR REFEBMARZAARD
AIBER AT ) ER LT - RAFREMIEE
BEfiZAMaples Corporate Services Limited,
PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KYI-1104, Cayman Islands °

M2023F12A318  FRAZFIAEERAF
(BFDRE2EWBAREREE AAA
BEITIRAN56.36% c S REKE R A
RTIXHBIREER] -

ARRMEBERBHRIERR - MEKBEL
AAEBENELERKHESFY) BB - £&
KIHE R o RDA R EMB R BN T XA
A% -

HEMBHRRAARBTAR®EDIIE - &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#raf

N

S R R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H IFF/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("IFRSs")

142

(a)

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023

New and amendments to IFRSs that are

mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the

following new and amendments to IFRSs issued by the

International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB")

for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for

the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January

2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements:

IFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts
the June 2020
and December 2021
Amendments to IFRS
17)

Amendments to IAS8  Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to

Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12

International Tax Reform-
Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to IAS 12

Amendments to IAS
1 and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The application of the new and amendments to IFRSs
in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out
in these consolidated financial statements.

2. ERFERMEREER (E
PR A R 5 2R R ) RRASRT

TS 57 B 38 1 A R0 Y 37 RT B PR B
B EZEA KRBT

RAFE  AEECEXREAHBEEK
SR EREEE ((ERETEUES
& DM 2023F1 A 18 RO AK
& B R HIR SR B AR A A T HTRT B
PR B S ERRIERT - UWRBEERS
FATs Rk

BRI EERE  RBREY
1757 (B 45 BB B
TEREERFE 175
#920204E6 A 2021
F12AK1ERT)

BB g ERIESER AT
Ea] %

BR S ERE125E BE-—HE
RIERT EMEER

AfEEEN
IRERTE

B e ERE128 BEHESHE

REE] -F %
AR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("IFRSs") (continued)

(b)

Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants?
Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance
and IFRS 7 Arrangements?

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

ik Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined.

% Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.

Except as described below, the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) anticipate that the
application of all other amendments to IFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

2. FERFTERMEREER (E

PR BT R 5 A |) RAERT @

(b)

& 78 i M 7 oK 2 20 Y B R B S 3R
HERIMEET

AEEWEIRF EAAT EEMIER
R A R B B 75 e S R R OB RT

B R B 75 3R 25 HE A
FI10R R BEEER

REEEHER
ERAEIRE

HERIE 285 IERT BEZH
MBEHE
FERA
PR B A5 ¥R 5 22 A EREEFTH
F165RAEFT HERF?
B ERE1RN BESER
fE&T MENE,
FEE?
RGEERE RN ARON

5l FRBaE
e EAETRR HEBRE

I3 B3 B s el s 2E ) T HE?
FIRAEET
B2 R 52158 B> iR
KEE]
& RETHHRZEARANTEHME
2 MR2024F1A1B R 2 AN EFE
/HEFEﬁil)TK °©
3 MN2025F1 A 1B 2 B RBNEE
HAR AR -
Br TIPS RAREE([E

B ) TEHIE A B B A5 3R 5 2R R RO P
BEMETNRA BRI EEHEE M
BHRREKXEATE
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NgJ'ES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4= A f

=R E ey

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H IFF/E

N

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("IFRSs") (continued)

144

(b)

Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The amendments add a disclosure objective to IAS
7 Statement of Cash flows stating that an entity is
required to disclose information about its supplier
finance arrangements that enables users of financial
statements to assess the effects of those arrangements
on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows. In addition,
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures was amended
to add supplier finance arrangements as an example
within the requirements to disclose information about
an entity’s exposure to concentration of liquidity risk.

The term ‘supplier finance arrangements’ is not defined.
Instead, the amendments describe the characteristics of
an arrangement for which an entity would be required
to provide the information.

To meet the disclosure objective, an entity will be
required to disclose in aggregate for its supplier finance

arrangements:
. The terms and conditions of the arrangements;
J The carrying amount and associated line items

presented in the entity’s statement of financial
position, of the liabilities that are part of the
arrangements, and the non-cash changes in the
carrying amounts of these financial liabilities;

J The carrying amount, and associated line items
for which the suppliers have already received
payment from the finance providers;

o Ranges of payment due dates for both those
financial liabilities that are part of a supplier
finance arrangement and comparable trade
payables that are not part of a supplier finance
arrangement; and liquidity risk information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("IFRSs") (continued)

(b)

Amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance
Arrangements (continued)

The amendments, which contain specific transition
reliefs for the first annual reporting period in which
an entity applies the amendments, are applicable
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024. Earlier application is permitted.

The application of the amendments is not expected to
have impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group but may affect the disclosures of liabilities,
cash flows and the Group's exposure to liquidity risk
related to the supplier finance arrangements entered
into by the Group. The impacts of application, if any,
will be disclosed in the Group's future consolidated
financial statements.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRSs issued by IASB.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

S8

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (continued)

In preparation of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Directors have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by RMB1,594,681,000 (2022: RMB541,093,000).
Taking into account, (i) the available credit facilities
of approximately RMB6,989,029,000 which remain
unutilised as at 31 December 2023 and of which, an
amount of RMB1,000,000,000 is from Inner Mongolia
Mengniu Dairy (Group) Company Limited (“Inner
Mongolia Mengniu”), a subsidiary of Mengniu, and
the remaining facilities are from licensed banks; (i) the
expected net cash inflows generated from the Group's
operations for the next twelve months, the Directors
are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet in full
its financial obligations as and when they fall due in
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
biological assets, which are measured at fair value less
costs to sell and certain financial instruments, which are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period as explained in the accounting policies set out in
Note 3.2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE S

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when
the Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

All intragroup assets, liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group's interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group’s and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience
to perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs
and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the
ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss
as incurred.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the
“Conceptual Framework") except for transactions and
events within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets or IFRIC 21 Levies, in
which the Group applies IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it
has assumed in a business combination. Contingent
assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

J deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised
and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income
Taxes;

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at

the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in IFRS 16 Leases) as if the acquired
leases were new leases at the acquisition date,
except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE S
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units
("CGU") (or group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent
the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. REVMBEBRRNEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS S BERER @

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued) 3.2

Goodwill (continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

Investments in associates and joint ventures

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and
joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of associates and
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets
of the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss
and other comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group's share
of losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate or joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group's net investment in the associate or
joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)
An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a
joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate or joint
venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the
Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Information about the Group’s accounting policies
relating to contracts with customers is provided in Note
5.

Leases

Definition of a lease

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of IFRS 16, or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under IFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. FEMBRRNVEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B EEER®
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

3.2 ERSHBRER@®

Leases (continued) HE®m

The Group as a lessee A& EERAHA
Right-of-use assets EREEE

The cost of right-of-use assets includes: ERAREENKABTE :

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability; and
. any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date, less any lease incentives
received.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
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the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include: MEFRIEBE

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed s EEMFEFEELEEMNK
payments); and &

o variable lease payments that depend on an index o ERIEE A E 2 S HERIE
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate (MEERRFG Rz Rk
as at the commencement date. MEETE) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR & B 1% Rk M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBHRRNWEREEREK

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)
Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market
rental rates are initially measured using the market
rental rates as at the commencement date. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are not included in the measurement of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets, and are recognised as
expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. When a fair value gain or loss on a non-
monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive
income, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBBRERRNWEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS S BERER®

'y

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market
rate of interest is treated as a government grant,
measured as the difference between proceeds received
and the fair value of the loan based on prevailing
market interest rates.

A government grant related to a biological asset
measured at its fair value less costs to sell was
recognised in profit or loss when, and only when, the
conditions attaching to the government grant are met.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Shares granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
providing similar services are measured at the fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration of all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share award reserve).
At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share award reserve.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. REVMBEBRRNEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SR ER @
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AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
I N FO RMATI ON (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)
Shares granted to employees (continued)
When the award shares are vested, the amount
previously recognised in share award reserve and the
amount of the relevant treasury shares included in
equity under the heading of shares held under the share
award scheme is reversed and the differences arising
from the reversal is adjusted to retained earnings.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit (loss) before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit
and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE S

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H IFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies IAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities and
the related assets separately. The Group recognises
a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for
all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than freehold lands and properties under
construction as described below). Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBHRRNWEREEREK

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured
at cost less subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes (classified as
construction in progress) are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment other than freehold land
and construction in progress less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
the reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H IFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite
useful lives are reported at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses,
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Biological assets

The Group's biological assets comprise dairy cows.
Dairy cows, including milkable cows, heifers and calves,
are measured on initial recognition and at the end of
the reporting period at their fair value less costs to sell,
with any resulting gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss for the year in which it arises.

The feeding costs and other related costs including
staff costs, depreciation charge, utility costs and
consumables incurred for raising of heifers and calves
are capitalised, until such time as the heifers and calves
begin to produce milk.

Agricultural produce

Agricultural produce represents raw milk. Raw milk is
recognised at the point of harvest at its fair value less
costs to sell. A gain or loss arising from agricultural
produce at the point of harvest measuring at fair value
less costs to sell is included in profit or loss for the
period in which it arises.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued) 3.2 EXEBHEER@®
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets of the Group are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which IFRS 3 Business Combinations

applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H IFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)
() Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective

interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

1 éé China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE S

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)
(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when
the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other income” line
item in profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss include any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains and losses, net” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H IFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances)
which are subject to impairment assessment under IFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the

debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H IFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
(i) Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group

considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;
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172

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)

(iv)

. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial

difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE S
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables of feeds using a provision matrix
taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually or collectively with appropriate

groupings.
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174

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
For collective assessment, the Group takes into

consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBBRERRNWEREEREK

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses
The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the
end of each reporting period. Specifically:

° For financial assets measured at amortised cost,
exchange differences are recognised in profit or
loss in the ‘other gains and losses, net’ line item;

o For financial assets measured at FVTPL, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the
‘other gains and losses, net’ line item as part of
fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets;

. For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI,
exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income in the FVTOCI reserve.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. HEMBRRNEREEREK
SHBRER @

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

3.2 ERSHBRER@®

176

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition
to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is
not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity
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Classification as debt or equity DRR/EHIER
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either BEERERTIADNREBESNLTHNE
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with BEhcmBERERTIANTEESH

the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

RERAEELS

instrument.

Equity instruments =T H

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences R TEEIAEHNRABEAGBERE
i

a residual interest in the assets of an entity after & ﬁ?ﬂ’]ﬂﬁ?ﬁé\ B EREK) o &
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued NEIEITHER T AR ﬁ?ﬁ?ﬁ%
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds }ﬂiﬂiéﬁﬁauﬁlﬁﬁ/aiﬁlﬁﬁﬁu

received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Compound instruments
The component parts of the compound instruments
are classified separately as financial liability and equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component (including any embedded non-equity
derivatives features) is estimated by measuring the
fair value of similar liability that does not have an
associated equity component. The equity component
is determined by deducting the amount of the liability
component from the fair value of the compound
instrument as a whole, and is not subsequently
remeasured.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

3. ZREVBBRRNEREEREK
SHBRER @

3.2 EARSHBRER@®

ERMIE®

B EREw E)

BETIER
REGHTHNEEULRERAEER
BmTEMNTEE  BEATAMNBERK
HoohloEremBE R ER -

RETRE - BERD (BREMERA
AIEBETE T ARBN A FEE S
AETEAMEBERSONELUAE
A ARG - B D RBES
TARBNAFEREABES I NS
HET  BTBETRESHHE -

TRAE
FESRABEIRABERN TR RE
AN SR N FER ABRSIFRER

=
=

—EoCEER PERRKEEREEAT 177



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H IFF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. FEMBRRNVEREEREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B EEER®
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

3.2 ERSHBRER@®

178

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3
applies, (i) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

J on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
bank borrowings, other borrowings, short term
debenture and long term bonds are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 3. HEVBHRRNWEREEREK

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses
For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains
and losses are determined based on the amortised cost
of the instruments. These foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in the ‘other gains and losses,
net’ line item in profit or loss.

The fair value of financial liabilities denominated
in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign
currency and translated at the spot rate at the end
of the reporting period. For financial liabilities that
are measured as at FVTPL, the foreign exchange
component forms part of the fair value gains or losses
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end
of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a
non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the
instrument is more than 12 months and it is not due
to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other
derivatives are presented as current assets or current
liabilities.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts
that are not financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9
are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the
definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics
are not closely related to those of the host contracts
and the host contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single
instrument that are separated from the host contracts
are treated as a single compound embedded derivative
unless those derivatives relate to different risk
exposures and are readily separable and independent
of each other.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when, the
Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Fair value measurements of biological assets

The Group's biological assets are measured at fair value less
costs to sell at the end of the reporting period. The Group
uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on market observable data to estimate the fair value
of biological assets. For heifers and calves, the fair value is
determined based on the 14 months old heifers’ local market
selling prices and adjusted by estimated feeding costs for
heifers and calves older or younger than 14 months. For
milkable cows, the fair value is determined by using the multi-
period excess earning method with key inputs including the
discount rate, the estimated feed costs per kilogram (“kg") of
raw milk, estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and the estimated future market price of raw milk.
Any changes in the inputs may affect the fair value of the
Group's biological assets significantly. The carrying amount
of the Group's biological assets as at 31 December 2023
was RMB11,927,977,000 (2022: RMB10,631,171,000). Further
details are set out in Notes 22 and 44.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGUs to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of its value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the CGUs, a suitable pre-tax
discount rate and the growth rate used to extrapolate the
cash flows beyond the budget period in order to calculate
the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are
less than expected or when there is a downward revision to
the estimated future cash flows due to changes in facts and
circumstances, further impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of goodwill
is RMB2,417,915,000 (2022: RMB2,406,658,000), net of
accumulated impairment loss of RMB213,429,000(2022:
RMB213,429,000). Details of the impairment test are disclosed
in Note 18.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 8220235 12 A31H IFF[E

5. REVENUE 5. KA
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i) BEFE/WAAD
customers
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT
Segments Types of goods or service
pon:i| # mm sk R A
Raw milk business Raw milk 10,263,657 9,945,090
GRS IS R
Offline feed business Feeds 2,537,792 1,851,325
T R R g
Digital intelligence platform Feeds and farm supplies
business 605,278 498,676
BEF XK FAE RS E
Digital intelligence platform Platform and other services
business 51,496 =
BEFaEK e M EA RS
13,458,223 12,295,091
Timing of revenue recognition ON RS
At a point in time SR 13,436,007 12,295,091
Overtime BEZ R BV HERS 22,216 =
13,458,223 12,295,091
Geographical markets IR T I5
Mainland China AR A 3B, 13,173,701 11,944,167
Other countries HaBER 284,522 350,924
13,458,223 12,295,091
=’ !.'h —Eo=55H PEARKUERREELT 183
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5. REVENUE (continued)

184

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Performance obligations for contracts with

customers and revenue recognition policies

For the sales of raw milk, revenue is recognised when
control of the raw milk has been transferred, being at
the point the customer received and accepted the raw
milk, the normal credit term of which is 30 days. For the
sales of feeds and farm supplies, revenue is recognised
when control of the feeds and farm supplies has been
transferred, being at the point the customers received
the feeds and farm supplies or at the point being
despatched, depending on the terms of the contracts,
the normal credit term is generally 30 to 90 days.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

Sales of raw milk, feeds and farm supplies are for
periods of one year or less. As permitted under IFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the
total sales of the Group is as follows:

5. T Awm

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

EFEHANBARERIATRER
BE

BIHERBNME - WAREBER
U2 il s e 2R (B 20 P U B 3%
ZREDE) - —RIEEH/I0K - FH
HEFMRBMEMEMS - WARE
B R S 5 ) R AR B R RE R
(BIEF K2 e RS E K& b
B (BURRBKOEF)) - —REEHS
30£90K °

PTREFEFENRTEARKH
R E®%

RS~ SRR RBUS YA EE R
R—FNERE - EEBRPHREER
FISHAFNBERT - KEESEE
HZERERE AR HE

EBRTEEFNER
HAEEHEELBEERI0%A LHE
FPUAWT

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFIT
Customer A ZPA
Raw milk R 9,518,407 9,201,510
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments
to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"), in order to
allocate resources and assess performance. From July 2022,
the Group commenced the business of digital intelligence
platform after acquisition of Inner Mongolia Ai Yang Niu
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Aiyangniu”) on 28 June 2022, which
was considered as a new reportable segment by the CODM
during the current year. Prior year segment disclosures
have been represented to conform with the current year's
presentation. Information reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on the types and channels of goods and
services delivered.

The Group's reportable segments under IFRS 8 are as follows:
o Raw milk business — raising and breeding dairy cows to
produce and sell raw milk.

o Offline feed business — trading, production and sales of
feeds offline.

o Digital intelligence platform business — sales of feeds
and farm supplies online through digital intelligence
platform and provision of platform and other services.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ(ﬁ)
Segment revenues and results DEBBA R ¥ 4E
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and NTREERN 2NN EREENWA K E
results by reportable segments: B
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BZE2023F 128318 LEE
Digital
intelligence Total
Raw  Offline feed platform  reportable
milk business business business segments  Eliminations  Consolidated
R BT R ggya 2HLB
2% % 2% ag B8 G
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®BTRT AR®BTT AR®TRT AR®TRT  AR®TR
Segment revenue ABEA
External sales HIMEE 10,263,657 2,537,792 656,774 13,458,223 - 13,458,223
Inter-segment sales AEREE - 2,199,157 108,797 2,307,954 (2,307,954) -
10,263,657 4,736,949 765,571 15,766,177 (2,307,954) 13,458,223
Segment profit Ryl 499,487 37,008 2,812 539,307 (14,959) 524,348

Unallocated share of results K7 B FEIR & 12

of associates EE$ 17,097
Unallocated otherincome ~ RAEEARA 12,551
Unallocated other gains and &2 B E A Uizs &
losses EiB 23,763
Unallocated expenses FAWAZ (348,763)
Profit before tax BREATRA 228,996
1 86 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 %@i2023¢12ﬂ MNBIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. 7 ERERmw
Segment revenues and results (continued) D EBUBA R EE @
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZE2022F12A31BLFE
Digital
intelligence Total
Raw  Offline feed platform reportable
milk business business business segments  Eliminations ~ Consolidated
REH ANl gEYR 28N
EY) £ £ it iz A

RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETT ARBTL ARBTT ARETR ARETR

Segment revenue DEBA

External sales HIMEE 9,945,090 1,851,325 498,676 12,295,091 - 12,295,091

Inter-segment sales NEHE - 1,807,085 74977 1,882,062 (1,882,062) -

9,945,090 3,658,410 573,653 14,177,153 (1,882,062) 12,295,091

Segment profit D ER A 1,264,352 51,668 19,228 1,335,248 (9,278) 1,325,970
Unallocated share of results &7 B2 fE(E

of associates i YNSES 15018
Unallocated other income KA B EAMA 8,255
Unallocated other gains and KA BEA 14z &

losses BAE (369,429)
Unallocated expenses FOEHRY (384,773)
Profit before tax FRB AT RN 595,041
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the K D B S BT IR B S 3 AT I AR S B Y
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note BEBORAER - 9 ERFIEE 5 FFTHRE
3. Segment profit represents the profit before tax earned by BRBATERN - ROBPRITHAX - BEK
each segment without allocation of central administration AR - BT HAWKE REE R ELEE
expenses, corporate income and expenses, certain other NAIFEFEERBRLEDEL) < b))
gains and losses and share of results of associates that are RERTEEERRERANERDE RS
not directly attributable to operating segments. This is the iifﬁpﬂﬁﬁ’ﬁa B o D EEMAREEEEE
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resources FMHENEERNR  BEBRKRIZERNE=
allocation and assessment of segment performance. Inter- FEPRHHEKRETE -

segment revenue is charged at prices agreed between group
entities, which are determined by reference to the prices
offered to third party customers.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. TEEFw
Segment assets and liabilities ITHEEREE
The CODM makes decisions according to operating results FELERRERBEDINLEEEIEL
of each segment. No analysis of segment assets and segment AR AREZELEARETGERNERD
liabilities is presented as the CODM does not regularly review B &k &R IRFT G 2 B i R Bt AR -
such information for the purposes of resources allocation and HARENDEHEERDEE Tﬁﬁ?\*ﬁ z
performance assessment. Therefore, only segment revenue bt - B25 9 EUA R D EBELE
and segment results are presented.
Other segment information Hith 5 BE R
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BZE2023F 128318 LEE
Digital
intelligence Total
Raw Offline platform reportable
milk business feed business business segments  Unallocated ~Consolidated
R BT R BEYA EHLT
%% % B3 b &a
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTRT AR®TT AR®TRT  AR®TR  AR®TR
Amounts includedinthe st AR SBRFT
measure of segment BMeR:
profit or loss:
Depreciation and ik BBHEN
amortisation chargedto ~ FTEREH
profit or loss 394,407 36,391 2,170 432,968 20,139 453,107
Impairment losses of trade ~ [EMIB B R
and other receivables Hth el EEn
REBE - 159 16,933 17,092 186 17,278
Loss on disposal of property, &M% * BFER
plant and equipment RENER 12,075 6 - 12,081 - 12,081
Loss on disposal of other HEAMELEE
intangible assets HE R - - 12,386 12,386 - 12,386
Finance costs BAMA 490,463 26,949 3,835 521,247 - 521,247

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R Y R
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. TEHER @
Other segment information (continued) Hith 75 3 E B

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZE2022F12A31BLFE

s

ot L

Digital
intelligence Total
Raw  Offline feed platform reportable
milk business business business segments  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
REHD &R gBYa 2HHH
#% 378 % ] ADR A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR
Amounts included in the stADBBERE
measure of segment ME% -
profit or loss:
Depreciation and NRaBENTE
amortisation charged to K&
profit or loss 370,880 16,236 1,348 388,464 10,295 398,759
Impairment losses of trade ~ [EWIE SEEF R
and other receivables H it HIE
REER - 1,520 445 1,965 30 1995
Impairment losses on n%E - KRk
property, plant and RERRE
equipment B 1,895 = = 1,895 = 1,895
Loss (gain) on disposal LEDE KR
of property, plant and R EOER
equipment (Yez) 5,978 = = 5,978 (21,300) (15,322)
Gain on termination of lease & [FRAEHZEH
agreements e (3,652) = = (3,652) = (3,652)
Loss on disposal of other HEEMBEYEE
intangible assets HEE 165 - - 165 = 165
Finance costs RAKA 362,455 16,233 871 379,559 - 379,559
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. TEER @
Geographical information HwEEHR
The Group's operations are located in Mainland China and AEBSNEBCNFBEAMRERE (X
the United States of America (“USA"). Bl -
Information about the Group’s revenue from external EHEASERBINBEFPHOMAER RS
customers is presented based on the location of the EMEEY c BRRNKEEIERDEENER
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current assets TREERMIBLEZY -
is presented based on the geographical location of the
assets.
Revenue from Non-current
external customers assets (Note)
KENBEFHBA FRBE E (B 5E)
2023 2022 2023 2022
2023F 20224 2023F 20224

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE ARBTT AR®TR ARETRT

Mainland China P E R 13,103,259 11,877,865 23,508,297 20,429,080
USA EH 354,964 417,226 125,902 102,716

13,458,223 12,295,091 23,634,199 20,531,796

Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred Mt : ERBDEETERSMIARELERE
tax assets. BEE -
7. OTHER INCOME 7. HEMgA
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Interest income M BUA 67,505 60,393
Government grants related to BLAT FIER BT RG
— Assets (Note 35) - BE (i E35) 89,582 78,506
— Others (Note) - H Aty (B 3E) 37,934 31,391
127,516 109,897
Others Hib 26,105 31,269
221,126 201,559
Note: These government grants are unconditional government Fif o - %Z%Eﬁ(ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ&%ﬁéf%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁ
subsidies received by the Group from relevant government ”&’EX@%%#%WEEE; EERAERHE
bodies for the purpose of giving immediate financial support B R LB I BH

to the Group's operation.

‘ N o— -
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PROFIT BEFORE FINANCE COSTS AND 8. BREYE R K Bi1E Al Al
TAX
Profit before finance costs and tax is arrived at after charging bR BB P AN R B IR BT A T HBR (REA) T3
(crediting): BIB%TESR/Y ¢
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TF T ARETT

Cost of sales: HEXA :
Breeding costs to produce raw milk HERBHNEERRK A 7,350,674 6,850,047
Raw milk fair value adjustments included T ASHE B A B R
in cost of sales N EFE 2,678,046 2,887,548
Cost of feeds and farm supplies sold B & &R X BUS Y E KA 2,962,537 2,178,065
Cost of platform and other services & K E Ath AR FE B AR 16,999 =
13,008,256 11,915,660
Other gains and losses, net: Hith iz & E518 558
Net foreign exchange loss SNE E5 185 58 77,638 377,346
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant HEME - BERZRER
and equipment E1E (Y as) 12,081 (15,322)
Loss (gain) on termination of lease LIFTHEREAEE ()
agreements 10 (3,652)
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets HEHEMEREERNERE 12,386 165
Gain on disposal of assets classified as held ~ HED B AFIEHENEE
for sale EollE (4,470) -
Loss on liquidation of a subsidiary BENMBRARREE 215 -
Impairment losses of property, plant and M - BERERENRE
equipment EE - 1,895
Gain on remeasurement of previously held B EZAIF AN ERL
interests (Note 20) I 2= (B$5E20) (5,050) -
Fair value gain on structured deposits RmBEERN AT ERSE - (2,465)
Fair value loss (gain) on derivative financial TESRT AN AN FEEE
instruments: (zs) -
Foreign currency forward contracts HMNE RIS A 59,371 2,172
Foreign currency option contracts HINE BRRE & 4Y (74,430) (53,321)
CFCCS CFCCS (80,640) 69,844
Changes in other liabilities (Note 33(i)) H & E# ) (H7E33() (4,034) =
Others HAt 1,750 =
(5,173) 376,662
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192

PROFIT BEFORE FINANCE COSTS AND 8.

TAX (continued)

Profit before finance costs and tax is arrived at after charging

(crediting): (continued)

BREUE A R BLIRAD

BIE%FTESL @

)

B B & AR R AR A AL A T30 ER GEA) T3

2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBTT
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERERETE
equipment 652,610 656,706
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 152,552 73,924
Amortisation of other intangible assets HithER & E S 9,249 4,207
Less: capitalised in biological assets B EMEEENMEERE (361,304) (336,078)
Depreciation and amortisation charged to Mk BB HITE R
profit or loss 453,107 398,759
Short-term lease expense WHIEEMRY 25,238 39,687
Less: capitalised in biological assets W EMEBEEENME R (10,662) (16,577)
Short-term lease expense charged to profit  HIfF BIEFHEHHAER Y
or loss 14,576 23,110
Employee benefits expense: EERAMFEX
Salaries and allowances e MoRRh 1,004,636 907,665
Retirement benefit schemes contributions RINERETEIE R 82,346 68,368
Equity-settled share award expense VAR 1 45 5 B iR 17 22 A 2 50,049 44,950
Less: capitalised in biological assets W EMBEEN S (309,840) (272,379)
Employee benefits charged to profit orloss  H1B BHiERHWIEERET 827,191 748,604
Auditors’ remuneration 12 S5 A 2 B 4,250 4,400
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R Y R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023F 12 A31H IEFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MERA
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBET T

Interest expenses on: MBRX :
Bank borrowings RITRER 330,525 277,311
Long term bonds RHES 82,744 79,117
Short term debenture EHIRLE % 986 522
Other borrowings HfER 18,855 11,920
Lease liabilities HERE 72,402 36,840
Total borrowing cost RPN L 505,512 405,710
Fair value loss (gain) on interest rate swaps AR ig A FEEE (k) 15,735 (26,151)

521,247 379,559

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 10. B EEBEER T HEERE -

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL HIBREE[E
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Impairment losses recognised in respect of: TS BERERARERS
Trade receivables FEUE S5 BRR 17,216 1,965
Other receivables H At R RIE 62 30
17,278 1,995
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 41. R A IE IR T4
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED 1. FiIEHRAXRIELZRHIE

194

TAXATION

Income tax expense

SR x
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTFR ARETT

Current tax:
PRC Enterprise Income Tax
Other jurisdiction

Under provision in respect of prior years:
PRC Enterprise Income Tax

Deferred tax:

BNEAHLIE -

RS 18,634 11,295

Hiba xR 3,897 1,820
BEFENBRETR

R EATEE 36,142 5,969
BEIEFRLIE ¢ (15,111) (4,309)

43,562 14,775
The Company is incorporated as an exempted company and RRARMERERE AR GEMAY - Bl T%
as such is not subject to Cayman Islands taxation. FEHEMENLR -
No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the WERBBTIBELRE  REAATEERR
Group's income neither arises in, nor is derived from Hong BEAUBMEEWATNEREE B WA -

Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED

TAXATION (continued)

Income tax expense (continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "EIT
Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
statutory income tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdiction is calculated at the rate
prevailing in the relevant jurisdiction.

According to the prevailing tax rules and regulation of the
EIT Law, 49 subsidiaries of the Group is exempted from
enterprise income tax for taxable profit from the operation
of agricultural business in the PRC for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: 42 subsidiaries).

Pursuant to the PRC EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. Deferred taxation has not
been provided for in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of the accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to RMB5,348,821,000 as at 31 December 2023 (31
December 2022: RMB4,448,225,000) as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

. ,. "““

1. IEBAXRELEREw®

FrigRi X m
RIBFFBRCEMESRE(REMBRZE]D X
TEMSBEEBIES - RPBIAH B AR
PWEFERETSEHER25% o

H f FlE R B A A M BRI AR IS B AR
ERITRRH -

RIBDEFAGETERI TR KER - 8
F£2023F12A31BEFE + AEEM49HE
BB A 5] (20224F « 42fKI B A R AP BIAE
EEREEEBEENERBZNERCE M
ESiECY

BEBEFBECEMRERZE - RPBEAA T
RINERERINEREEST KRR EAHNR
10%HITEHIEL © 5% F€ B 200851 A1 B4
B WEAR2007F12HA31TBENAT) ©
WP B EINE IR E BEERAEREINL T
FRIBIEA - BIAAEENRHRE - AEE
B R H R A5%310% ° 72023412 A 31
B WARKFEKBRR R 5 AR
5,348,821,0007T (2022512 A318 : AR
4,448,225,00070) RER & B S MR hiBERL
TEIEH e - RN ASE B e smirfl @ e
B =R R B R S E R 2 EE R 7] R A5 5k A]
RE T ERE -
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196

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED

TAXATIO N (continued)

Income tax expense (continued)

Fri8 %t B < a0

1. FIEHBXREER Ew

The income tax expense for the current year can be T RAFEGHRX RIR G B kM
reconciled to profit before tax per the consolidated statement I W & IBR T A R A -
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBT T
Profit before tax BR Bt B ) 228,996 595,041
Tax at applicable income tax rate at 25% REA TSR E25%1 H
(2022: 25%) 18 (20224F 25%) 57,249 148,760
Effect of tax exemption granted to agricultural EXEREERIFBNFE
entities (261,171) (377,081)
Effect of unutilised losses incurred from F%%WFE*@JF@E?TE RE
agricultural business and other non- (REI B 0b 7%
deductible expenses 202,376 234,352
Effect of different tax rates of entities REMADERERELSENER
operating in other jurisdictions EOR NIk zReg: b= (2,615) (234)
Effect of tax losses not recognised AERTRIAEE H’]%gs 12,497 6,817
Utilisation of tax losses previously not HRABERERRIARE
recognised (916) (3,808)
Under provision in respect of prior years BEFENRETR 36,142 5,969
Income tax expense FriS®if X 43,562 14,775

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R Y R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED 1. IEBBAIREEH Ew
TAXATION (continued)

Income tax expense (continued) FriHH <X @
As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s PRC subsidiaries had MR2023F 128318 » AEENFRMEE R
unused tax losses of RMB124,598,000 (2022: RMB109,898,000) AP B IERRRGELN AR AR
incurred by non-agricultural business in the PRC. These B A AR124,598,0007T (20224 @ AR
unused tax losses as at 31 December 2023 will expire in 109,898,0007T) ° fiMp20236F 12 A31H#% %
year 2024 to year 2028 as disclosed in the following table if REAMIBEERES A - HifR202456 %
not utilised. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in 20284 fEm - IR RFTIEE - BRAI e E
relation to such tax losses as it is not probable that taxable RIS ERT M Al AR IEEE - Bt
profit will be available against which the tax losses can be BEREENABERERRENIAEE -
utilised.
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

2023 20234 - 31,624
2024 20244 592 592
2025 20254 11,882 15,547
2026 2026%F 34,867 34,867
2027 20274 27,268 27,268
2028 20284F 49,989 -
124,598 109,898
Deferred taxation EEBE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated HARGEAVBIRAKRPHNEIIME - ETE
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets ERIBEEERBEDAKE - UTRERE
and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis BiRE B HIEEHIBARN DT

of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Deferred tax assets EERIAEE 6,677 827
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE (13,389) (22,454)
(6,712) (21,627)
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE AND DEFERRED
TAXATION (continued)

1. IEBAXRELERE®

Deferred taxation (continued) IE B TE (30
Temporary Fair value
difference of ~ adjustments
property, plant upon
and equipment acquisition  ECL provision Others Total
nE - BER W R
RENDRES NYERE BAHEEHERR Hit ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
(Note i) (Note ii)
(B 2E) (R i)
At 1 January 2022 1202251518 (15,062) (4,977) - 1,508 (18,531)
Acquisition of subsidiaries  WEMEAF - (6,563) - 345 (6,218)
Exchange adjustments [ % (1,290) - - 103 (1,187)
Credit (charge) to profit FAER(BERNR)
or loss 2,284 2,351 491 (817) 4,309
At 31 December 2022 720226128318 (14,068) (9,189) 491 1,139 (21,627)
Exchange adjustments B A% (216) - - 20 (196)
Credit to profit or loss STABR 2,544 5,858 4,273 2,436 15,111
At 31 December 2023 1R2023%F12A318 (11,740) (3,331) 4,764 3,595 (6,712)
Notes: BE
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The deferred tax for fair value adjustments related to the fair
value adjustments of certain freehold land, property, plant and
equipment upon acquisition of subsidiaries.

Others mainly comprised the temporary differences arising
from leases in the PRC and accrued expenses, inventory
capitalization adjustment etc., due to the temporary differences
under federal and state income tax in the USA.

DB R B R IR B B A FBS
EHAAZEL - WE - BEREED
ATERLEEY -

Hip* EREEZBEEABRMNASHER
ZREYNTREBHONARER  FEE
FMeABRSELNEREZE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 8220235 12 A31H IFF[E

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

EMOLUMENTS

12.

Details of the directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments

are as follows:

EEREETHRAENE

EERTZTHABMESFHBEWT

2023
2023F
Retirement
Salaries, Performance benefits
allowances and related scheme
Directors' fees benefits-in-kind bonuses  contributions Total
e 2R RAEF
ExHe ENER  RASHHBTA SRR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(Note iv)
(FeEiv)
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Sun Yugang (Note iii TR F B 4 (aTi) - 2,385 3,450 132 5,967
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Note iii REEIE % A (W ati) - 1,540 2,200 132 3,872
Non-executive directors FRTES
Mr. Zhao Jiejun HRERE - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Ping RFEE - - - - -
Mr. Chen Yiyi (Note i) 55— % 4 (Mt - - - - -
Mr. Lu Minfang (Note i) E g (3T - - - - -
Ms. Gan Lu HEzt - - - - -
Independent non-executive  BYFHTEE
directors
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway ~ FBR&ILE 217 - - - 217
Mr. Li Shengi FHEE 200 - - - 200
Mr. Chow Ming Sang ERE SRS 217 - - - 217
634 3,925 5,650 264 10,473
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

200

E MOLU M E NTS (continued)

12. EERFETHAEMEw®

Details of the directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments

are as follows: (continued)

ESRFRTHRABMESHBOT @

2022
20204
Salaries, Retirement
allowances and Performance  benefits scheme
Directors' fees  benefits-in-kind  related bonuses contributions Total
e 2AR R
EEHE EMRN  RREBEL Al @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AEETFT NS ARETFT
(Note iv)
(PitsEiv)
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Sun Yugang (Note iii) TR E R & (HaTi) = 2,147 4,200 108 6,455
Mr. Zhu Xiaohui (Note i) R 5 A (M) - 1535 2,280 108 3923
Non-executive directors FHTESR
Mr. Lu Minfang EHHEE - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Ping RFEE - - - - -
Mr. Zhao Jiejun HEERE - - - - -
Ms. Gan Lu HB&T = = = = -
Independent non-executive  BIUIFHTEE
directors
Mr. Lee Kong Wai Conway ~ ZB&%4 205 = = = 205
Mr. Li Shengli FHREE 200 = = = 200
Mr. Chow Ming Sang FIREL4 205 = = = 205
610 3,682 6,480 216 10,988
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

12. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The emoluments disclosed above for executive directors
were for the management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

Notes:

No directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

ii. Mr. Lu Minfang resigned from his position of non-executive
director with effect from 1 February 2023, while Mr. Chen Yiyi
was appointed as a non-executive director on the same day.

iii.  Certain directors were granted share awards in respect of
their services to the Group under the share award scheme
of the Company, further details of which are set out in
Note 38. During the year, the equity-settled share-based
payments relating to the share awards granted to Mr. Sun
Yugang who is also the chief executive and Mr. Zhu Xiaohui
were RMB4,377,000 (2022: RMB3,172,000) and RMB2,586,000
(2022: RMB2,170,000), respectively. The equity-settled share-
based payments relating to the share award granted to these
directors are not included in the details of emoluments above.

iv. Performance related bonuses are determined based on the
Group's performance, performance of the relevant individual
within the Group and comparable market statistics.

12. EERFETBRAEM S w

EXFEBERTEEHEREEARTRA
SEEHOMNE -

EXFIBIFMITESTOME RIRFER
RRREFNREME -

i

HZE2023F12A31HLFE - BEESEK
2 o) [A B E T %5 B (20224 : 4%) -

i ESUREABRTIENTESRRG - 82023
F2AVHREN R —EERBEZE
RIEITESE -

i, REBEARRMKRGERTE  ETES®
HAAEBIRHENRGERRG BE - &+
BHAWFE38 - FA - EEAEEMEE TR
BEFBETHAL) RAKEBLE S HNRGD
H2Bh A B A R AR M A E AR (D 2 A9 A 3R
DRI A ARKEAL377,0007T (20224 : AR
#&3,172,0007T) & AR #2,586,0007T (2022
£ AR#2,170,0007T) - B FZEES
R R 17 B2 B 5 B8 A H AR W 45 B DARR 1D S 1
MR B IEE E S 15 -

v.  RIRAMIEADERNAEERR - HEE

ARKREENRE KA E L RTI5EEN
BE -
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13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

202

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
included two (2022: two) directors of the Company, details
of whose remuneration are included in the disclosures in
Note 12 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining
three (2022: three) highest paid individuals for the year are as
follows:

13. AEBEHMAL

AEBFRNRERSTMATEEAREM
#2022 - MB)EE - HHEMFIBHEER
EXHIsE12 - FREH=Z(Q022F : =F)
SEFMALTHFMEFBOT

2023 2022

2023% 20224F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind e RMEEYREA 4,586 4,478
Performance related bonuses FIZHENTEAL 3,358 6,474
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIRFEFFT B R 395 335
Equity-settled share award expense RIRELEERN EEIFAX 6,644 58285
14,983 16,522

No remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the
directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

The number of the highest paid employees who are not
the directors nor chief executive of the Company whose
remuneration (including equity-settled share-based payments)
fell within the following bands in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD")
is as follows:

B ZE20235F12A31AILFE - AEEBER
EEFhBREHFMALHEME - 1E
A INEEARER B S N B 1R WO SR B S AE AR BRAE AR
18 (20224 : &) ©

BAPE T (TS 72 )) £HE 0 35 B (12 35 1 AR g 4t
BB S 30 B I T RE S SR A
NEERIEEETHA L BSHHIEEAK
m -

2023 2022

20234 20224

HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000 4,500,0017%8 7T 25,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HKD5,500,001 to HKD6,000,000 5,500,001 7T & 6,000,000/ 7T 2 1
HKD6,000,001 to HKD6,500,000 6,000,001 7T & 6,500,0007% 7T - 1
HKD6,500,001 to HKD7,000,000 6,500,001 7L £7,000,0007 7T - 1
3 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued)

Certain non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees were granted share awards, in respect of their
services to the Group under the share award scheme of the
Company. Details of the share award scheme are set out in
Note 38.

DIVIDENDS

During the year, a final dividend of RMB0.0142 per share in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 (2022: RMB0.026
per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021)
was declared and paid to the owners of the Company. The
aggregate amount of the final dividend declared and paid
in the current year amounted to RMB111,997,000 (2022:
RMB204,390,000) and was appropriated from the Company's
distributable share premium.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 of
RMBO0.0045 per share has been proposed by the Directors
and is subject to approval by the shareholders at the
forthcoming general meeting.

13.

14.

'1‘!‘l f:‘k,

hEEEFTHALT®
BEAAROBRG RS ETHEER
FEBITRABNBEHHERREHAE
0 R B SRR 9 D o PR SR B ¥15
M HI5ES -

RE

FR - BREE2022F12A31B IEFEE AR
RABEBAEREKERS SR ARK0.0142
JC(20224F : BLEE2021F 128318 15
EzEBRARKE0.026TT) 7 REAMK B o &
FEEREERNOKRBREBEAARE
111,997,0007T (20224 = A R #¥204,390,000
JT) ¢ I B AR A R B9 B D 0 (B
(I

REEBARE  EFEEIMEE20235F12H
A EFEIREREREFRARK0.0045
T BEEREEFRERERERREARAS L
HEBRTFTAIEE o
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15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

204

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share

15. ERER

ARARHER ARG SRER R EERN IR

attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BATEIEE -
following data:
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARBTT
Profit EF
Profit for the year attributable to owners RNRARIER AL FAHEN
of the Company 175,159 562,497
Profit for the purpose of basic and ARGt EERERKES
diluted earnings per share iz b pl 175,159 562,497
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Shares Shares
B &
Number of shares RGEE
Weighted average number of ordinary ARETEEREXRZT
shares for the purpose of w9 8

basic earnings per share
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Share awards

BEEEEBROTE
B9 2

7,861,049,217

51,084,645

7,859,032,978

25,269,600

7,912,133,862

7,884,302,578

The number of shares adopted in the calculation of the basic
earnings per share has been arrived at after adjusting the
effect of shares repurchased by the Company and the shares
held under the Company’s share award scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #( #2023 12 A31H |t F[Z

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. Y% - BERRE

Plantand  Construction
Freehold land Buildings - Motor vehicles equipment in progress Total
KAEELH EF it BERRE EEIR b
RMB'OOO RMB'OOO RMB'OOO RMB'OOO RMB'OOO RMB'OOO
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREBTT ARETT
Cost R
Balance at 1 January 2022 K021 BB R BAT 6T91% NI 239189 141485 9383656
Additions ‘/J“ - 128,623 59,839 251,867 595,409 1,035,738
Transfer ?ﬁ}? - 266,061 2,861 55,438 (324,360) -
Reclassification BHAE - (62,915) 142,926 (80,011) = =
Acquired on business combination  EBAHELRE S 73,989 3848 18,042 1871 97,750
Exchange adjustments B 5 A% 5,150 7314 315 9,247 604 2690
Disposals Hjiﬁ - (21,761) (8,728) (239.482) - (275977)
Reclassified as held for sale (Note) ~ EFABAR{ELE () (26,620) (8,258) = = = (34,879)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RA2F12A31 BN ES 26,741 7,156,233 224,038 2,406,960 415,009 10,228,981
Additions NE - 71,521 70,004 312,788 780,034 1,240,353
Transfer ?ﬁ};ﬁ - 401,416 4933 137,782 (544.131) -
Reclassification EEipE - (28,754) 134,800 (106,046) = =
Acquired on business combination ~ EBAHELE = = = 588 = 588
Exchange adjustments 5 ER 453 1,047 65 1939 114 3618
Disposals LE - (25,631) (38,032) (99,068) - (162,731)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RABF12A3 BN LS 27,194 7,581,838 395,808 2,654,943 651,026 11,310,809
Accumulated depreciation ithe
Balance at 1 January 2022 RAONE1R1BMER = (2,640,573 (3,750) (1,243 568) = (3,887,891)
Charge for the year if‘l B - (399,83¢) (30,779) (226,001) - (656,706)
Reclassification EZipxs] = 18990 (68,327) 49337 = =
Exchange adjustments @Euﬁl% - (2,760) (230) (5,608) = (8,598)
Eliminated on disposals L E . - 7,999 4,384 132,450 - 144,833
Reclassified as held for sale (Note) BNNRARELEWH) - 6,234 - - - 6,234
Balance at 31 December 2022 RAF12A3BNES - (3,009,946) (98,702) (1,293,480 - (4,402,128)
Charge for the year if‘lﬁﬁf - (371,033 (51,420) (230,157) - (652,610)
Reclassification EZipx] = 9510 (83,199) 73,689 = =
Exchange adjustments B 5 B = (692) 45) (1,239) = (1976)
Eliminated on disposals &R = 16,805 36,260 78,524 = 131,589
Balance at 31 December 2023 RA23E12A31 BN E S - (3,355,356 (197,106) (1,372,663) - (4,925,125)
Impairment HE
Balance at 1 January 2022 RA2F1 A1B RS - (113459) = (69,338) = (182,797)
Charge for the year ERRAX = (1532) = (363) = (1,895)
Eliminated on disposals HEMH - - - 60,746 - 60,746
Balance at 31 December 2022 P02E12A3NBNES - (114.991) = (8.959) = (123946)
Charge for the year ERFEY - - - - - -
Eliminated on disposals LEMH - 1533 - 1,663 = 3,196
Balance at 31 December 2023 RBE12A3 BRI R - (113,458) - (7,292) - (120,750)
Carrying amounts BEE
Balance at 31 December 2023 RA23E12A31BMES 27,194 4,113,024 198,702 1,274,988 651,026 6,264,934
Balance zt 31 Decernber 2022 KO8 31 Bk BTN 40312% 1253% 110452 F500 5700907
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

206

(continued)

Note: In 2022, certain land and buildings of Haykingdom
International, Inc (“Haykingdom”) were classified as non-
current assets held for sale as the Group ceased operations at
two non-major locations in the USA and has initiated actions
to locate a buyer, and expects to sell the land and buildings
in 2023. In 2023, part of the land and building were sold, and
a gain of RMB4,470,000 (Note 8) was recognized in other
gains and losses. The remaining land and buildings were
still classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2023 as the
Group remains committed to its plan to sell the assets by
taking actions actively to locate a buyer, and expects to sell
these assets in 2024. These assets are presented separately in
the consolidated statement of financial position at its carrying
amount of RMB17,203,000 (2022: RMB28,644,000) as at 31
December 2023 and the net proceeds of disposal are expected
to exceed the carrying amount of the relevant assets.

Depreciation is charged using straight-line method over the
expected useful life other than freehold land and construction
in progress, after taking into account its estimated residual
value, at the following rates per annum:

4.75%-9.50%
9.50%-19.00%
9.50%-19.00%

Buildings
Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's properties of
RMB23,991,000 (2022: RMB126,988,000) were pledged to
secure bank and other borrowings of the Group (Notes 28
and 29).
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FizE © 7420224 + Haykingdom International, Inc
(THaykingdom ) 898 T Lt R F 1% 5
BEARELENERDEE - RRARAE
B L EXBEMIEEEZMENER
YWERBSHER @ HFR2023FHE
T RAEF - 2023F  EHEIOML
WRET - WA H M E R EE P ER
Yzt AR #54,470,0007T (BT FE8) 722023
F12A318 BT REFDHREE
REEHE  BAREENARIRES
ERSKERRLERXTEENS - I
FBEN2024F HEZFEE - N2023F
12A31H  ZEEENEREEARK
17,203,0007T (20224 : AR#28,644,000
TORGEEHBRRKRTEBI®H  HE
PR FRARNEREEEENRE
f& -

FERBHAIERFHOKAE LR E
BITRERIN AL R E G RREERE
FREARER NI RGHE -

BF 4.75%-9.50%
RE 9.50%-19.00%
= & & 9.50%-19.00%

M2023F12A318 - AEBEeEARARE
23,991,0007T (20224F : AR ¥5126,988,000
TR ED IR AERAEBNEITRE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #( #2023 12 A31H |t F[Z

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. ERAEEE
Leased
Leasehold Leased  machinery and
lands properties equipment  Leased farms Total
HELH HENE HERRRRE HEYE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETTT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFTT
Cost B
Balance at 1 January 2022 1202291 A1 B R 744,507 10,442 48,993 = 803,942
Additions RE 98,353 1,786 - 439,682 539,821
Termination of leases (Note) ~ #IFAE (i) (3279) = 48,993) = (52.272)
Acquired on business SBAKBRE
combination 4,075 3456 - 92,040 99,571
Balance at 31 December 2022 FA2022% 12431 B &84 843,656 15,684 = 531,722 1,391,062
Additions NE 210,479 455 = 883,303 1,094,237
Termination of leases BLIHRE (1,869) = = = (1,869)
Acquired on business SBAKBLE
combination = 1,408 = = 1,408
Balance at 31 December 2023 #2023F12A31HH
i3 1,052,266 17,547 - 1,415,025 2,484,838
Accumulated depreciation  EiHTE
Balance at 1 January 2022 202261 1B & e (62,284) (816) (15,678) - (78,778)
Charge for the year EREY (52,180) (1,508) (2,554) (17,682) (73,924)
Eliminated on termination RFRERH ()
of leases (Note) 357 = 18,232 = 18,589
Balance at 31 December 2022 M2022F 12831 B &84 (114,107) (2,324) = (17,682) (134,113)
Charge for the year ERER 180,518) (2830 - (69,200 (152552
Eliminated on termination RIFRERHE
of leases 373 - - - 373
Balance at 31 December 2023 120231231 Btk (194,252) (5,154) - (86,886) (286,292)
Carrying amounts REE
Balance at 31 December 2023 M2023%12A 31 HEV &84 858,014 12,393 - 1,328,139 2,198,546
Balance at 31 December 2022 FA2022%F 12431 B & s4 729,549 13,360 = 514,040 1,256,949
Note: During the year 2022, the Group negotiated with the lessors BHEE : FR2022%F - ZN SR B B H A A BE R I 1R Al

and early terminated certain leases. The Group derecognised WRIEETHE - REBERIEHERERE
the right-of-use assets of RMB33,683,000 and lease liabilities of EEANREE33,683,000MEEEBBAR
RMB37,335,000, resulting in gain of RMB3,652,000 in profit or #37,335,0007C © EEUEE P HIR U A

loss. R #3,652,0007T °

S .h
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17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

208

17. FRAEEEw®

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFIT

Expense relating to short-term leases BERARHEENHEY 25,238 39,687
Variable lease payments not included W AHEAETEN

in the measurement of lease liabilities AT E MR - 136

Total cash outflow for leases HERES RN 227,812 167,194

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

The Group leases land, property, farms, machinery and
equipment to operate its business. These leases are
typically made for fixed terms of 2 to 50 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different
payment terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group's lease agreements do not contain any extension,
early termination option or purchase option for lessee.

As at 31 December 2023, leasehold lands with a
carrying amount of RMB23,133,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB23,855,000) were pledged to other borrowings of the
Group (Note 29).

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for land,
property, machinery, motor vehicles and office equipment.
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the portfolio of short-term
leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which
the short-term lease expense disclosed in Note 8.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023

EREEERBRABRENE -

AEEHELH - WX - 5 - BRKRRE
NEEHER - ZEHERTEEHR A2
E50F - MEGRRIRERNEERER - 25
PR FIERE M - BERERRFED
ARAGHAENRER - ARERASONE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

18. GOODWILL 18. E&
Modern ADH
Farming  Companies Fuyuan  Aiyangniu Others Total
RRAKK(RE)  ADHAF ER BEY Eft #st

RMBOOO ~ RMBOO0 ~ RMBIO00  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMB'OO0
ARBTL  ARETT ARMTT ARETRT ARBTR ARETR

Cost RA&
Balance at 1 January 2022 R202F1 A1 B &S 310426 1,225,460 695,329 - 57,805 2,289,020
Avrising on acquisition of KRB AIREE
subsidiaries (Note 39) (Rf3£39) - - - 231,647 95,532 321179
Exchange adjustments i © o 3,888 o = 3,888
Balance at 31 December 2022 M2022E12A31 BRI &S 310,426 1,225,460 699,217 231,647 153,337 2,620,087
Avrising on acquisition of WEHB A AREE
a subsidiary (Note 39) (P3£39) = = = = 10472 10472
Exchange adjustments BEiAE - - 785 - - 785
Balance at 31 December 2023 M2023F 1231 B R &5 310,426 1,225,460 700,002 231,647 163,809 2,631,344
Impairment HE
Balance at 1 January 2022, R02F1R18
31 December 2022 and 0225128318 &
31 December 2023 023F 12831 B0 &S - (213,429) - - - (213,429)
Carrying amounts REE
Balance at 31 December 2023 20231231 BRI & 310,426 1,012,031 700,002 231,647 163,809 2,417,915
Balance at 31 December 2022 R02F 12831 B0 310,426 1,012,031 699,217 231,647 153,337 2,406,658
The Group's goodwill of RMB310,426,000 arose from AEBNEELBE A ARY310,426,000
acquisition of Modern Farming (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Modern 70+ ER2009F WEEIR R M E (EB) AR
Farming”) in 2009, RMB1,225,460,000 arose from acquisition AA(BRRAMEER) DMES - AEED
of the Asia Dairy Holdings and Asia Dairy Holdings Il (“ADH mESEAARK1,225,460,0007T © BAR
Companies”) in 2015 and RMB695,329,000 arose from 2015F B8 Asia Dairy Holdings & Asia Dairy
acquisition of Inner Mongolia Fuyuan International Industrial Holdings II(TADHA B ) ME4% - K&K H
(Group) Co. Ltd. (“Fuyuan”) in 2021. MEEESRE A ARE695,329,0000T @ AR

20N FPBARHEREBER (B ER
RA)((ERDMESE -
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18. GOODWILL (continued)

210

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group acquired certain subsidiaries which resulted in
goodwill arising on acquisitions, further details of which are
set out in Note 39.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill allocated to
each of the CGU or group of CGUs are as follows:

18.

[EET

HZE2023F K2022F 128318 IEFE » &
EEKREETHERAR  ERWEEELS
2 E—DFFBEIRMEI9 -

WAEARTE - HRTEREEL BTN
ReEABAERINERLT ;

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®F T ARBET T

Modern Farming BRWE(ER) 310,426 310,426
ADH Companies ADHZA 7] 1,012,031 1,012,031
Fuyuan dairy farming ERNGEHA 630,271 630,271
Fuyuan feeds — China ERENEL — A 22,680 22,680
Fuyuan feeds — USA SRRk - EE 47,051 46,266
Aiyangniu BRF 231,647 231,647
Others HAh 163,809 153,337

2,417,915 2,406,658

The recoverable amount of each CGU or group of CGUs has
been determined based on value-in-use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets or forecasts
approved by senior management covering a five-year period.

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of each
CGU or group of CGUs. The following describes each key
assumptions the management has based on in preparing the
cash flow projections for the purpose of impairment test:

. The estimated future market price of raw milk, the
estimated average daily milk yield at each lactation
cycle and estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk for
dairy farming; and the estimated revenue and costs for
feeds — such assumptions are based on the CGU's or
group of CGUs’ past performance and management's
expectations for the market development.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

18. GOODWILL (continued)

o Discount rates — the discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGU or
group of CGUs.

o Growth rates — the growth rates used to extrapolate
the cash flows beyond the five-year period are based
on the estimated growth rate of each CGU, taking into
account the industry growth rate, past experience and
the medium or long term growth target of each CGU or
group of CGUs.

The discount rates applied to cash flow projections and the
growth rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the
budget period are as follows:

18.

BEw

. BRIRE - FRE ARBRIR R ER AT &
MERAEREEEASNSIREGELE
A ABRIMEER ST R R -

. ERE - ARENEBSFORER
BHEXRENSARLEL B
i RE  YRERSARSEL
AT IR 6 A B AR B 01T
% BEERRTRMEREE -

iﬁﬁ%ﬁimu%%ﬁ EUE’]HEIEY&EHEATE%E
HHEEHENReREERENOT -

Discount rate (%) Growth rate (%)
BEER (%) BRE(%)

2023 2022 2023 2022
20234 20224 2023%F 20224
Modern Farming BRME(EE) 12.5 12.5 2.5 25
ADH Companies ADHAR] 12.5 12.5 2.5 25
Fuyuan dairy farming ERNGEA 12.5 12.5 25 25
Fuyuan feeds — China EREE - 9.3 9.2 2.5 25
Fuyuan feeds — USA EREE - £ 10.5 10.0 2.5 2.5
Aiyangniu B4 14.8 14.4 2.5 2.5
Others Hh 11.0-12.5 12.5 2.5 2.5

During the year ended 31 December 2023, management
of the Group determines that there is no impairment on
goodwill, hence no further impairment loss was recognised

(2022: nil).

Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying
amount of the CGU or group of CGUs to exceed its
recoverable amount as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

RBE2023F12A31BIEFE - $'§.’;§1§
EREREYELTRNE - R ERERE
FEVRERTE (20226 © ) o

ERERE  AUZSBRENEMEER G
BT BB eELEEMNNRCELR
748 51 ) BR E 2 BB AR 3 AL 2 20234 [2 20224F
12A31H/ AT EIS5E °
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

212

19. B EE

Distribution
channels
Computer  and customer
software  relationships Others Total
THEEER
SRE4 EFB% Hith st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETTT ARETFTT ARETTT
Cost A
Balance at 1 January 2022 202261 B1 B R 5k 3,831 - - 3,831
Acquired on acquisition TG =Nl
of subsidiaries 460 26,251 10,870 37,581
Additions NE 6,031 - 2,241 8,272
Disposals HeE (394) - - (394)
Balance at 31 December 2022 F2022F 12 A31 B &4 9,928 26,251 13,111 49,290
Acquired on acquisition NG
of a subsidiary = = 5,109 5,109
Additions NE 11,583 - 551 12,134
Disposals i (188) - (12,910) (13,098)
Balance at 31 December 2023 72023F 12 431 B A& &4 21,323 26,251 5,861 53,435
Amortisation e
Balance at 1 January 2022 R202F1A1ENES (54) = = (54)
Charge for the year FNFRE (862) (2,625) (720) (4,207)
Eliminated on disposals H & M8 229 = = 229
Balance at 31 December 2022 7202212 A31 B R4 84 (687) (2,625) (720) (4,032)
Charge for the year FRRY (2,942) (5,250) (1,057) (9,249)
Eliminated on disposals S 34 - 678 712
Balance at 31 December 2023  72023F 12 A31 B4 (3,595) (7,875) (1,099) (12,569)
Carrying amounts RHEE
Balance at 31 December 2023 72023F 12 A31H &4 17,728 18,376 4,762 40,866
Balance at 31 December 2022 FA2022412 A31 HE & 54 9,241 23,626 12,391 45,258
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such

20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R Y R

intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over

the following periods:

wiN =

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

19. HttBEFX EE @
T EFEENERSGAR - XFEFE
EE NHEIR NIZ B R A8

Computer software 5-10 years B E 5-10%F
Distribution channels and customer relationships 5years SIHRBREPHEER 54
Others 10 years EAh 104
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT 20. REE AR EEENER
VENTURE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARBTT
Cost of investments in associates BN B B3R & R
(Notes i &ii) (&1 Rzin) 599,676 288,657
Cost of investment in a joint venture RE &b ENRERAR 27,000 27,000
Share of post-acquisition profits and other 7 (Bt & A & AR EE B HFI &%
comprehensive income in associates Hih2mUA 142,558 142,868
Share of post-acquisition profits and other D& & FEMUWEER &EF &
comprehensive income in a joint venture Hith 2 EBA 1,813 392
771,047 458,917

a )
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT 20. REAE N NFIRSEPENERw
VENTURE (continued)

Details of the Group’s material associate at the end of the AEESERE QAN RE B ROFHEL
reporting period are as follows: TS ¢
Proportion of
ownership interest Voting rights Principal activity
BERRRLD k3R IERB
Place of
Name of company establishment 31/12/2023 31/12/2022 31112/2023 311212022
AFER RLBE 023F128318  0NF12A318  2023F12A318  202F12A318
% % % %
Modern Farming (Bengbu) Co., Ltd. The PRC 49.18 4918 49.00 4900 Liquid milk producing
("Bengbu") (Note il i business
BB (62) ARAR (TR (i) FERENER

Notes: B 5 -

i. During the current year, Modern Farming and its subsidiary i. RAFE  BRBEGEE) REWBAA
invested RMB308,659,000 to seven entities. Modern Farming FAEEERZIEE T ARE308,659,0007T °
can exercise significant influence over these entities because BRBE(EE)EHHZEEBHEMER
it has the power to appoint director under the articles of TR HAREEEBBERARERES
association and hence the investments in these entities were B FALERAEREARRZSERNR
accounted for by using the equity method. & o
Modern Farming also made additional proportionate investment WARBE (R E) AR L ORI KER A RS
of RMB11,000,000 in two existing associates. NalBERE AR 11,000,0007T °

‘ N o— -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT
VENTU RE (continued)

Notes: (continued)

ii. Modern Farming made investment of RMB8,640,000 for 48%
equity interest in Inner Mongolia Yunyangniu Technology Co.,
Ltd. (“Yunyangniu”) in March 2022. In March 2023, Aiyangniu,
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company which is
owned by Modern Farming and Inner Mongolia Mengniu as
to 75% and 25%, entered into an equity transfer agreement
with Modern Farming, Inner Mongolia Mengniu and other
sellers (the “Sellers”), pursuant to which the Sellers agreed to
sell, Aiyangniu agreed to purchase, 100% equity interests in
Yunyangniu at a total consideration of RMB19,080,000, among
which RMB8,640,000 was payable to Modern Farming and
RMB10,440,000 was payable to Inner Mongolia Mengniu and
other sellers.

Upon the completion of the above transaction in April 2023,
Yunyangniu became a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. Details of the acquisition are disclosed in Note 39.
The 48% equity interests previously held by Modern Farming
was remeasured at fair value at the date of acquisition and the
excess of RMB5,050,000 of the fair value over the carrying value
was credited to profit or loss.

iii. For Bengbu, the proportion of ownership interest owned by
Modern Farming is 50% and the voting rights held by Modern
Farming is 49%.

Summarised financial information of the material
associate

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group's material associate is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown in the
associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRSs.

20. REtE N EIREEENER @

BsE - ()

ii. EARKE(EE)NR2022F38UARE
8,640,000 L ERNSKHEEFRIEAR
AR([EBF)NEBISHIE - BEEF
(KRBT EWBRR » HERME
(EE)HEARERFSFET5% R 25%E
#H)R2023F3ABRBAKEEER) AR
BREREMES (EADI R EEE
Wi Bt BAREBLEREESRE
BEZEFTNEIRE  BREAARE
19,080,000t (K fE M IR R4 (R E) X
TE KB A R8,640,0007T LA K FE [ 1A
SO REMESIINOREARE
10,440,0007T) °

REM X HE2023F4A%KE - LS
RARRFINIIEZEWMBRR - WERE
BRI 30 E - MARBE(EER) Z a1
BR48HIIELBEE BN A EEH T
2 AT ESREEEEN=ZAEARE
5,050,0007C5F A B ©

i BRER - RAKEEEEANREL
7 7350% MK E (B HHENERIER
49% °

EEBRENTNNBERBRE
TXHINAEBEERBERBTNHEER

BE - U THBERBE RS R RRIEE
PR RS LR RENOMERRATEER
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20.

216

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT

VE NTU RE (continued)

Summarised financial information of the material

associate (continued)

20. RBE QTR ELENER @

EEHEQATNHEERME@

This associate is accounted for using the equity method in REFEETBEHRRT A= UNCIEPSEEE
these consolidated financial statements. FENER ©
Bengbu i
2023 2022
2023F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T AREFTT
Current assets MBEE 487,124 492,147
Non-current assets ERMBEE 87,511 103,905
Current liabilities mEAE 108,314 171,180
Non-current liabilities FERBAE 2,649 4,891
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREFTT
Revenue WA 1,114,937 1,062,076
Profit and total comprehensive income FREMNREEPALEE
for the year 43,692 51,740
Adjustments due to the difference between A& BHIAREER IR
the carrying value and fair value of the SRS REEREA A
Group's remaining interests in Bengbu on Z HEREHHFHE
the date of disposal (4,690) 874)
39,002 50,866
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KRB B85 ¥R Y R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023F 12 A31H IEFE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT 20. REE NN S ELENERT @
VENTURE (continued)

Bengbu (continued) ﬁi—%(ﬁﬁ)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information Fl B ERRE BN RS SRR RN
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate B E N RS REERER

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Net assets of Bengbu IR RS E 463,672 419,981

Proportion of Modern Farming'’s ownership I8 (S B R E R Y

interest in Bengbu AR LA 50% 50%
The Group's share of net asset of Bengbu AEBS(EHRFEE 231,836 209,990
Goodwill EES 33 33
Fair value adjustments NFERE - 2,345

231,869 212,368
Information of associates and joint venture that are BEREFERNBEEATREELEN
not individually material &H
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

The Group's share of profit of other associates 7%= B fE {5 E b B & A 7] &
and a joint venture BEREN RN (23,440) (10,023)

Carrying amount of the Group's interests in ~ ZNSE B RA E AL H & A 7] &
other associates and a joint venture SR ENEREDE 539,178 246,549
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21.

22.

218

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FVTOCI

21. BAFEFAREMBEZE WA RNRE

mTH
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
Listed: Naiie

— Equity securities - EREE 22,082 67,461

Unlisted: JEET
— Equity investments - EmIRE 35,260 38,768
Total et 57,342 106,229

The Directors have elected to designate these equity
instruments at FVTOCI as the investments are not held for
trading purpose.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

A — Nature of activities

The biological assets of the Group are dairy cows held to
produce raw milk.

The quantity of dairy cows owned by the Group at end of the
reporting period is shown below. The Group’s milkable cows
are dairy cows held for milk production. Heifers and calves
are those dairy cows that have not reached the age that can
produce milk.

22.

EFCEBEEERAPEFARMEZEEA
AERERATHE  ARRSREYIFER
R BEOMEFAE -

EMEE

A-¥EBME
AEBNENEEARAIFEERMNNI
4 o

UTRAKENREMREFOITHE -
AEBEHPFREREDOIS - NIFR
N RRMEDFEROILL -

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

Heads Heads

G| 58

Milkable cows e 218,711 199,793
Heifers and calves NG RN 231,851 205,565
Total dairy cows FLABE 450,562 405,358
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

A — Nature of activities (continued)

The Group is exposed to fair value risks arising from changes
in price of raw milk. The Group does not anticipate that
the price of the raw milk will decline significantly in the
foreseeable future and the Directors are of the view that there
is no available derivative or other contracts which the Group
can enter into to manage the risk of a decline in the price of
the raw milk.

In general, the heifers are inseminated with semen when
heifers reached approximately 14 months old. After an
approximately nine months’ pregnancy term, a calf is born
and the dairy cow begins to produce raw milk and the
lactation period begins. A milkable cow is typically milked for
approximately 340 days before a dry period of approximately
60 days.

When a heifer begins to produce raw milk, it is transferred
to the category of milkable cows based on the estimated fair
value on the date of transfer.

The Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its
biological assets. The Group is exposed to the following
operating risks:

i. Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the
location in which it operates plantation and breeding.
The Group has established environmental policies
and procedures aimed at compliance with local
environmental and other laws. Management performs
regular reviews to identify environmental risks and
to ensure that the systems in place are adequate to
manage these risks.

ii.  Climate, disease and other natural risks
The Group's biological assets are exposed to the risk
of damage from climatic changes, diseases and other
natural forces. The Group has extensive processes in
place aimed at monitoring and mitigating those risks,
including regular inspections and disease controls and
surveys and insurance.

22. £ EE@W

A-EBME@
AEEEASRENEREHERHATEE
BB o IBEAREBETERT - ER B R A RERR
MEETEABTY® - EERAE  AEEY
mA AMITE T A EMmA] AR I A& XA
RERREHNER TR r R -

—RIERT - DEFERERENTOEA KR
ETRRE - HNAEANZHBRE - NMEH
£ AR ERB RIS o 4
FBEGEPNAZ40K - 2 1BEAKIOKRE
A -

BB FRERBNE - THiREE B M
BEr A EEREDFTER -

AEEEBEEENEERBNSEAR -
REBERATESRR -

i ERRRERME
AEEAETHRARESBERER
BB EER MOER - ARED
HIE B EETEHRREREMERDY
REBRREERF - BEBETEDR
BB BIRIRER M EREREA RG R
NEEZFRER -

i. R RKEKEMERRR
AEENENEERREIRIRE
bt RKEEEMERERREBEENRE
o ARECERERLBIEZER
R - BREENRE MKEEG
BB RRRR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H IFF/E

22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)
B — Quantity of the agricultural produce of the
Group's biological assets

220

22. £YEEmW
B-AEEEYEENEELEENEE

2023
20234
kg

Fr

2022
20224
kg
TR

Volume of milk sold

2,546,924,000

2,327,351,000

C — Value of dairy cows
The fair value less costs to sell of dairy cows at end of the

C-I4mWEE

HE AR D FEREEXAEH 0

reporting period is set out below: ™
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETFIT
Milkable cows 7,384,921 6,570,971
Heifers and calves INEEG RN 4,543,056 4,060,200
Total dairy cows 11,927,977 10,631,171
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R Y R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

22. B|OLOG|CAL ASSETS (continued)

C — Value of dairy cows (continued)

22. EYEEw
C-H4MEE®

Heifers
and calves Milkable cows Total
NEERNE LR wmat
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREETIT ARBTIT ARBTIT
Balance at 1 January 2022 FR20224F1 B 1 H #4564 3,344,700 6,060,224 9,404,924
Acquired on acquisition of W R BT 8 B B
subsidiaries (Note 39) W (B 5E39) 114,174 215,077 329,251
Increase due to purchase Lk B B I N 154,570 - 154,570
Feeding cost and other B985 B 7N I EL At AR B B R
related costs 2,855,704 = 2,855,704
Transfer g (3,156,661) 3,156,661 =
Decrease due to disposal &= U (188,395) (936,668) (1,125,063)
Gain (loss) arising from changes 218 % &) 85 & 7K X
in fair value less costs to sell EA I (BE) 936,108 (1,924,323) (988,215)
Balance at 31 December 2022  FA2022F 12 431 H K &84 4,060,200 6,570,971 10,631,171
Increase due to purchase U B 38 B 104,840 - 104,840
Feeding cost and other 925 B 7N T2 E A B AR R
related costs 3,502,389 - 3,502,389
Transfer R (3,389,482) 3,389,482 -
Decrease due to disposal HEZEUR (200,042) (830,008) (1,030,050)
Gain (loss) arising from changes A 1B % &) 85 & 7K 2~
in fair value less costs to sell EX I (BE) 465,151 (1,745,524) (1,280,373)
Balance at 31 December 2023  FA2023F 12 831 HE &4 4,543,056 7,384,921 11,927,977

AEECZRBHERITERFERERER
REICBLEXGERR HYHEFERER
AFERTHE - WU EMERNEEEEE
EMBRTEE  JRAERTETSERZ
8 - URRHEEZLSET - BEAFEMR
BERMEGEEELAAEIEH ABERE
IR EA4 -

The Group has engaged Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal and Advisory Limited, an independent firm of
professional valuer, to assist it in assessing the fair values
of the Group's dairy cows. The independent valuer and
the management of the Group held meetings periodically
to discuss the valuation techniques and changes in market
information to ensure the valuation was performed properly.
The valuation techniques used in the determination of fair
values as well as the key inputs used in the valuation models
are disclosed in Note 44.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H IFF/E

22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 22. EYEE@
C — Value of dairy cows (continued) C-I4MEE®
As at 31 December 2023, the Group's dairy cows with carrying M2023F12A318 - AEEREEAARE
amount of RMB695,354,000 (2022: RMB831,830,000) were 695,354,0007T (20224 : AR ¥831,830,000
pledged to banks to secure certain bank borrowings of the TRNMGEERTRT - EAREERNE
Group (Note 28). FRITERAOERFTEE28)
The aggregate gain or loss arising on initial recognition of AN A A ERRE NI A EE
raw milk and from the changes in fair value less costs to sell of IHE XN AE LB A TR SRS ¢

dairy cows is analysed as follows:

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Gains arising on initial recognition of raw milk 7 FREHHUER 2 A FE
at fair value less costs to sell at the point of IR E K AN VIAHERE £ 8

harvest Wz 2,678,046 2,887,548

Loss arising from changes in fair value less HFRA T EEESFIAGHE
costs to sell of dairy cows AR E £ E 18 (1,280,373) (988,215)
1,397,673 1,899,333

23. INVENTORIES 23. &
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Feeds to be consumed #5H FE R AR 2,484,855 2,601,037
Feeds held for sale FHEHE MR 409,330 591,049
Others Eh 46,783 187,260

2,940,968 3,379,346

‘ N o— -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 24, FEWE Z R K H b fE W FR 18 LA

PREPAYMENTS REAFIE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Trade receivables FEUE S5 BRFK 1,549,119 1,633,165
Bills receivable S 6,657 14,268
Less: allowance for credit losses o S EEEEE (19,107) (1,965)
1,536,669 1,645,468
Prepayments for feeds, materials, insurance 8%} « ##} - Rz R A &)TE
and others (E-S5 198,359 337,218
Prepayments for property, plant and M - BE RERENTERNKIE
equipment 12,914 29,936
Input value added tax recoverable A] Uk B3 TH IEE 4,666 8,364
Receivables from the original shareholders FTUEM B N BRI IR R &
of an acquired subsidiary WRIE - 30,000
Short term entrusted loans to associates MEE D RREREBEZEER
(Note) (F=E) 94,786 68,620
Guarantee deposit receivables EURIRFE & 29,624 11,236
Receivables from selling biological assets HE Y& E RIKIE 36,785 61,915
Others Hth 35,043 21,086
1,948,846 2,213,843
Analysed as: BTBIDHT -
Current BN EA 1,935,932 2,183,907
Non-current JERNER 12,914 29,936
1,948,846 2,213,843
Note: As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group granted BisE :  7A2023%F %2022 128318 © A&EE A
entrusted loans to certain associates with the annual interest ETHERRRTEZRTER FHXA
rate of 5% which will mature in 1 year. 5% @ BARRG—4F -
As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contracts with R2022%F1 818 » REZFAANEWE 5
customers amounted to RMB1,044,160,000. AR A AR 11,044,160,0007T °
As at 31 December 2023, the Group's trade receivables with R2023F12A31H » AEBEREEAEAARE
carrying amount of RMB12,925,000 (2022: RMB19,697,000) 12,925,0007T (20224 : AR #19,697,0007T)
were pledged to secure certain other borrowings (2022: bank WEWE SRAEERABRAEENSE T
and other borrowings) of the Group (Notes 28 and 29). HAth {8 51 (20224 - #R1T R E M B R0 (i E
281%29) °
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

224

PRE PAYM ENTS (continued)

Trade receivables at the end of the reporting period
principally represent receivables from sales of raw milk, feeds
and farm supplies. The Group allows a credit period of 30
days to its customers of raw milk and no more than 90 days to
its customers of feeds and farm supplies.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables and
bills receivable, net of allowance for credit losses, presented
based on the invoice dates at the end of the reporting period,
which approximated the respective revenue recognition
dates at the end of the reporting period:

24. EWE SRR KR H b EWRFRIELL
REMAFE®
BREHROERESEREZEHIEERR
1~ AR RBOE M E R EIREIE - NEBLG
FEEBERNEFIOKNEEH R E AR R
SWEZEP T ZRO0ORNEER -

REERRRE T HHA(BERERREEK
AR BHRE) 2N EKE 5 R K IE
WEE (MR EEEERE) A RE S a0
T

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Trade receivables FEWE 5 BRK
— within 30 days - 30KAN 1,360,978 1,295,769
- beyond 30 days but within 90 days - HIB30R1BIORIAN 126,007 244,447
- beyond 90 days but within 1 year ~- HIBIOKRE—F AN 43,027 90,984
Bills receivable W = 15
— within 30 days - 30RAR 572 7,094
—beyond 30 days but within 90 days — HB30R{E0KR A A 6,085 7,174
1,536,669 1,645,468

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in Note 41.

JE U Z 5 BR 3R N L 4th 8 U 7k TE B R (B AT A
BT FEST ©

‘ u — -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 ?E“ﬁii2023¢12)5] MNBIEFE

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 5.1 em I A
Assets Liabilities
BE =N
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2022 2023 2022
20234 20224F 20234 20224F
12A31H 12A31H 12A31H 12H31H
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT AR¥BTIT AR¥TR AR¥TE

Interest rate swaps (Note i) F &2 25 (B 5Ei) - 16,945 - -
Foreign currency forward ~ YMERHIA %)
contracts (Note ii) (B =i 460 - (3,017) -
Foreign currency option HMNE BRRE & 4
contracts (Note ii) (£ - 5,257 (17,342) (58,034)
CFCCS (Note iii) CFCCS(PiEiii) 117,991 19,154 - -
118,451 41,356 (20,359) (58,034)
Analysed as: DR
Current B 460 22,202 (3,017) (14,388)
Non-current JERED 117,991 19,154 (17,342) (43,646)
118,451 41,356 (20,359) (58,034)
Notes: Bt
Key terms of the interest rate swaps are as follows: i. MEBREZERFWT :
Nominal amounts Swaps
£ETH =

At 31 December 2022

R2022F12H31H
United States dollars (“USD") 80,000,000 From London Inter Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR") to
0.66%-0.945%

80,000,000 7T ([%E 7)) BfRBERTTRER S (fRBRTEEF S ) £0.66%ZE0.945%

UsD42,300,000 From LIBOR+1% to 1.50%-1.90%

42,300,000%E 7T BmBIRITRIZEFRB+1%E1.50%E1.90%
The Group entered into several interest rate swaps contracts REBEETRITIAZE THXIEHE
with certain banks as an economic hedge of the risk of interest 2 - NEETRFBMENRITERESE
rate fluctuation arising from certain bank borrowings at BRI RR B R R AT E S - IHE A
floating interest rate. The fair value changes of the swaps were FEZBRMEKEARNZT

presented within finance costs.
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25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 25. STEEM I Ew
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Mozt : ()
ii. Key items of the foreign currency forward contracts and the ii. HINEEHANKINERRSHTEEA N
foreign currency option contracts are as follows: T
Nominal amounts Forward exchange rates
EELH BHE=
At 31 December 2023
20234125318
USD60,000,000 RMB7.0775 to RMB7.2497: USD1
60,000,0003 7T AR®E7. 0775 E ANRHET.24977T - 15E7T
Nominal amounts Type Position  Prices
BREH BE  HR%RAE ER
At 31 December 2023
R2023F 12H31H
USD100,000,000* Call Long RMB6.8850: USD1
100,000,000 7T * R FE  AR®6.88507T : 17T
Put Short  RMB6.8850: USD1
) W AR¥6.88507T 1 13E7T
Call Short  RMB7.1500: USD1
R W ARB7.15007T ¢ 15T
At 31 December 2022
R2022F12H31H
USD282,300,000* Call Long RMB6.7315 to RMB6.9550: USD1
282,300,0005= 7* R wE  ARBOTISTEARKSIS50T 1T
Put Short  RMB6.7315 to RMB6.9550: USD1
Roh wrE  AR®B67315TEAREK6.9550T 157
Call Short  RMB7.1000 to RMB7.1500: USD1
R wa  ARE7.1000CE ARKET7.15007T ¢ 15270

* These are currency call/put option portfolios.

The Group entered into several foreign currency forward
contracts and foreign currency option contracts with certain
banks as an economic hedge of the currency risk arising from
certain of its bonds and bank borrowings denominated in
USD. The fair value changes of the foreign currency forward
contracts and the foreign currency option contracts were
recognised in other gains and losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

iii.  Major items of the CFCCS contracts are as follows:

The Company entered into several CFCCS contracts with banks
as an economic hedge of the risk arising from the USD Bonds
(as defined in Note 31) in the amount of USD400,000,000. The
fair value changes of the CFCCS contracts were recognised in
other gains and losses.

According to the CFCCS contracts, at termination date, if the
spot rate is equal to or less than the cap strike rate agreed (the
“Cap Rate”), and equal to or greater than the floor strike rate
(the "Floor”), the Company will exchange RMB for USD at an
exchange rate of 6.478; if the spot rate is greater than the Cap
Rate, the Company will exchange RMB for USD at an exchange
rate of (6.478+(spot rate — Cap Rate)); if the spot rate is less
than the Floor Rate, the Company will exchange RMB for USD
at an exchange rate of (6.478+(spot rate-Floor Rate)). At the
same time, the Company will receive interest on USD nominal
amount at the interest rate of 2.125% and pay interest on RMB
nominal amount (translated from USD to RMB at the rate of
6.478) at the interest rate of fixed rate agreed (the “Fixed
Rate”) semi-annually until the termination date.

Nominal amount

HREH

25. fTEE€MI AW

BsE ()

CFCCSAR#MEEMBMT ¢

AARIEIBITEI N ZHCFCCSAR - UE
400,000,000F LR ELES (E&E R
SNEEMRBREITEELFR o CFCCSAEH
A FEZ ST A Kb Ueas REsiE -

RIECFCCSAEH - RRIERHE - A1
ERERNREROTEN LRER LR
ER|) AERSaR TREXR(TRE
R|)  RRAAELA6ATSHER G ARIEH,
BERKZET  EEHER AN FRER - K
NG A (6.478+ (BNEAE R — LPREESR))HY
ERGARBEBKET  ERHE XK
RTRER  KQFHEIA(6.478+ (BN HA[E
& - TREX))KEEHG AR S BKE
TC © [AIBF - ANRAE) 5 BA2.125%H) FI| R U BR
ETRELENNELIRDFEE T F X
((BEMNE)FEFIF—AAREEE
LERNA B (R6AIBETTHEAARE)
HEKRIEAMH -

At 31 December 2023 and 2022

JR20234F 2022412318

USD400,000,000 Fixed Rate

400,000,000 7T TE )&
Floor Rate
T BRFE
Cap Rate
ERRER

The valuation techniques used in determination of fair values
of the interest rate swaps, foreign currency forward contracts,
foreign currency options and CFCCS are disclosed in Note
44.

2.84% — 3.12%

6.00

7.00-7.20

BEMEREY INERHSH - INERRER
CFCCSAFEMERMNBERMEEER

B 5E44 o

—EocEER PERRNEBREEAT 227



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H IFF/E

26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 26. CEHRITERRBITEER
BALANCES
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Pledged bank deposits EHEARTER
Current maE 9,913 187,339
Non-current FEMRE 32,089 -
42,002 187,339
Note: The pledged bank deposits carry interest at prevailing market Mzt : EERRITEREREFN F0.00%%
rates ranging from 0.00% to 1.45% (31 December 2022: 0.25% 1~45%<_2022¢12H 31R : 0.25%:25:1.31_3%)
to 1.35%) per annum and represent deposits pledged for bank MIRITHH N R E - LERRITE
borrowings, letter of credit and bills payable. R ERERENRBENE MR -

‘ u — -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK
BALANCES (continued)

26. CEHBRITERRBRITERw®

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETT
Bank balances IRITH A
Restricted bank deposits (Note i) ZRRAIRITIE R (3D - 89,081
Term deposits with original maturity JRENEA A A2 iR = & A &Y
over three months (Note ii) E BATE R (BT i) 781,732 348,419
Cash and cash equivalents as stated FeERenRERMTEE R
in the consolidated statement of RSB (i aii)
cash flows (Note iii) 1,859,738 1,924,409
2,641,470 2,361,909
Analysed as: DA
Current mE 1,963,627 2,125,628
Non-current FERED 677,843 236,281
2,641,470 2,361,909

GEX

Notes:

i, As at 31 December 2022, bank deposits RMB89,081,000 can R2022%F12A318 » RITFRARYK

be used only to finance the Group's investments in new dairy
farms and the balances ware all used in 2023.

Term deposits with original maturity over three months were
held within banks and carry interest at prevailing market rate
of 3.10% to 3.55% (31 December 2022: 3.30% to 3.55%) per
annum at 31 December 2023.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and term
deposits with original maturity of three months or less which
are held within banks and carry interest at prevailing market
rate of 0.01% to 1.90% (31 December 2022: 0.01% to 2.10%) per
annum at 31 December 2023.

89,081,000 Cf& A] AEA K EIR &IN5
WES @ EHN2023FC 25 A% -

M2023F 128318 * FARTHEREREH
ARBE=EANEHTERIZREFI10%E
3.55% (2022412 5318 : 3.30%% 3.55%) #)
WITHIBFEETE -

R2023412A310 » RERRESENE
BRITRERFEARTERRITITEMNEE
F0.01%%E1.90%(20224 128318 : 0.01%
E2.10%) st EMRIMER=EAKURA
B BT o

“EC=F5% PEARKURERFRAR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H IFF/E

26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 26. EERBITERRBITERw
BALANCES (continued)
The Group’s pledged bank deposits and bank balances that NEBEBEERNNEEE NI EEE
are denominated in currencies other than the functional WAS BB ERRITERRBRITERET A
currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below: TS ¢
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBET T

usb = 76,577 73,711
Euro (“EUR") BT ((®&ocl) 419 378
HKD BT 15,665 12,430
Australian dollar (“AUD") T (RxT]) 3,023 2,939

‘ u — -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 @i2023¢12)5] JNHILEFE

27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. BNEZRAKEMENFKE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AREFTT
Trade payables BT E SRR 1,373,517 2,064,492
Trade payables under supplier finance HERRE L TR
arrangements (Note i) B SRR BT 3,022,045 84,486
Bills payables (Note ii) JE A~ SR 4 (B i) 41,870 67,921
4,437,432 2,216,899
Payable for acquisition of property, plant BEWE  WERERERE
and equipment ~RIE 481,547 277,694
Accrued staff costs FEET B AR 358,533 314,268
Receipts in advance from disposal of dairy BB FL A4 M TENRIE
cows 8,418 15,017
Guarantee deposit IREE 159,955 123,742
Payables for acquisition of subsidiaries s BE B B A A E A~ F0E 29,101 263,536
Payables for acquisition of non-controlling Wit B S E 422 A 1 B 1 R
interests - 20,894
Dividends payable to non-controlling & 1) FE 22 AR AR BRI A~ B9 AR B
shareholders - 5,341
Others Hitp 64,403 51,310
5,539,389 3,288,701
Analysed as: RV
Current BNH] 5,534,188 3,288,701
Non-current JEENER 5,201 =
5,539,389 3,288,701
..h —ECSEEH PERRRERRERLT 231
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27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

232

Notes:

These supplier finance arrangements permit certain suppliers
of the Group to be paid a discounted amount by certain
financial companies earlier than the due date. As the
arrangements do not permit the Group to extend payment
terms from financial companies by paying financial companies
later than the credit period which the Group would have
paid its suppliers, the Group considers amounts payable to
financial companies should be classified as trade payables. In
the consolidated statement of cash flows, settlements of these
trade payables are included within operating cash flows based
on the nature of the arrangements.

ii. Bills payables are with maturities within twelve months from
the respective issuance dates.

The credit period granted by suppliers for trade purchases is
generally within 180 days (2022: 120 days). The following is an
aged analysis of trade payables based on invoice dates at the
end of the reporting period:

27. ERNEZRAREMESNRE®
ot

ZEREHARMERFATAEEE THE
BEZMANAETHBREARE M
Re®W  MRZELETAFAREESB
BN AREREHEENROEEBANY
BRABN AR R RESMN KRBT
£ AAKERBENTER R TIE
ROBRENEZRN - REAHERE
R RERNZBENEERERENE
A ARZERERE -

o

i ENRBERFEBTAHBRFT_HEARN
28 -

HEEE FREBEREINEESH R AE180K
(20224 : 120K) - U N BREZHZH AR
REHKRNENE SERANERE DT

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®F T ARBET T

within 120 days 120K A 3,936,553 2,076,387
beyond 120 days but within 180 days F838120 R 18180 K A A 420,756 36,237
beyond 180 days but within 360 days 838180 A 18 360K JA A 26,751 14,606
beyond 360 days but within 720 days FB3B360ARIE 720K LA A 11,502 21,748

4,395,562 2,148,978
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. BANK BORROWINGS

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #( #2023 12 A31H |t F[Z

28. RITERK

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBET T

Bank borrowings: RITHEK -
Unsecured I 5,949,895 7,071,053
Secured (Note) B AR (1) 1,440,548 1,512,532
7,390,443 8,583,585
Carrying amounts repayable: FEEERREE -
Within one year —FHR 2,206,484 4,831,164
Between one to two years —FEMFNRA 2,364,698 1,772,370
Between two to five years MEEZRFNRN 2,634,750 1,453,997
Over five years HFEE 184,511 526,054
7,390,443 8,583,585
Less: Amounts due within one year shown B RRBBEE TR
under current liabilities —FRE IR (2,206,484) (4,831,164)
5,183,959 3,752,421
Note: Certain bank borrowings as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 MizE : M 2023F k2022 12A31HME TR
were secured by property, plant and equipment, biological TEFEREERENME  BE KH&
assets, trade receivables, bank deposits and equity interests in #H- EYMEE  BRESERER  RITF
subsidiaries owned by the Group as set out in Notes 16, 22, 24, SN =N ACN 9L =

26 and 47, respectively.

The bank borrowings comprise:

16~ 22~ 24 ~ 265 47) VR4 HH -

RITERBIE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARBTIT

Fixed-rate borrowings EBMER 6,233,012 7,050,995
Variable-rate borrowings FEER 1,157,431 1,532,590
7,390,443 8,583,585
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28. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

234

In June 2020, the Company entered into a facility agreement
with several banks, under which the Group was allowed
to borrow USD200,000,000 loan from the banks at floating
interest rate determined as LIBOR+1.65% per annum and
the upfront fee amounted to USD3,600,000 (equivalent
to RMB25,145,000). The Group withdrew USD200,000,000
(equivalent to RMB1,368,862,000) in 2020, partially repaid
USD60,000,000 (equivalent to RMB387,612,000) in 2021
and repaid USD15,000,000 (equivalent to RMB103,359,000)
in 2022, and repaid USD125,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB865,500,000) in 2023, and the effective interest rate is
3.88% per annum (2022: 3.49%) as at 31 December 2023.

In February 2023, the Company entered into a facility
agreement with several banks, under which the Group was
allowed to borrow USD130,000,000 loan which will mature in
February 2026 at floating interest rate determined as Secured
Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") +1.5% per annum and
the upfront fee amounted to USD1,350,000. The Group
withdrew the net borrowing of USD128,650,000 (equivalent
to RMB890,773,000) after deduction of the upfront fee
in March 2023, and repaid USD40,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB282,232,000) in 2023, and the effective interest rate is
7.52% per annum as at 31 December 2023.

Save as set out above, the effective interest rates of the
Group's bank borrowings equal to contractual interest rates.
The effective interest rates per annum are as follows:

28. IRITERmw

M2020F 67 + RARIEE TIRITEI L8t
g B AEBEAEFRITEAER
7£200,000,000% 7t © BFEmBUERTTRE
B +1.65%H)F B) Fl 2 [z 4 #13,600,0003
7T (EE R AR #25,145,0007T) &9 B HA 3%
=B o ANEEH 20204 12 H200,000,0003%
T (HEERARY1,368,862,0007T) * 2021
FE D E18 60,000,000 T (HHERARE
387,612,0007T) * 20224 &3 15,000,000
ZX(HER ARE103,359,0007T) %2023
F{E38125,000,000% T (HE R AR
865,500,0007T) © H2023%F 12831 B &
FHR 53.88%(20224F : 3.49%) °

R2023F 28 - KRR EEFIRITE L
BEWE Bl AEEEEEAER
130,000,000% 7T * #H2026F2 A B Hf -
FRAEBEFRABRENE(EEARBER
BERZE])+1.5%80 % B =& K 2 201,350,000
EILH AT B RET B o "REE R 2023F 3
BRETEMBATBHERENEFTFHE
128,650,000% 7T (48 & #J A R #890,773,000
7T) I A 20234 (& 1€ 40,000,000 7T (FHE 7
AR #282,232,0007T) + B20235%F12A318
R ERFFEA7.52% °

Br LaiESN - NREBRITERKNERNERE
RIREKRE - LT R/ERFHNX

2023 2022
20235 20224

Fixed-rate borrowings

A Fi

4
ofF oF
el

ey

Variable-rate borrowings

1.65%-8.16%
1.50%-6.85%

1.65%-8.16%
1.65%-6.85%

Interest rate of variable-rate borrowings are determined
based on the benchmark lending rate and loan prime rate
announced by the People’s Bank of China, the LIBOR and the
SOFR.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #( #2023 12 A31H |t F[Z

28. BANK BORROW'NGS (continued)

The Group's bank borrowings denominated in currency other

28. IRITER®w
NEBEEERENIEEE NI EEE
HAREBIRITERFHTWOT -

than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities

are set out below:

2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARET T
usb ETT 636,807 1,048,268
29. OTHER BORROWINGS 29. HAtfERK
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR AREET T
Other borrowings: HABEK
— From Mengniu (Note 46(c)) N CEE G Q) 255,998 35,785
— From a state-owned enterprise (Note i) - ke —REA 1% () 194,349 147,615
- Others - Hfh 96,878 110,419
547,225 293,819
Unsecured A T 531,807 268,403
Secured (Note ii) A A (P EED 15,418 25,416
547,225 293,819
Carrying amounts repayable: FEEERMEE :
Within one year —F LA 353,251 22,704
Between one to two years —EEZMENRN - 79,833
Between two to five years MFEERFNR 5,418 43,667
Over five years AERE 188,556 147,615
547,225 293,819
Less: Amounts due within one year shown B RNRE B ERE TR
under current liabilities —FRNEIEFRIE (353,251) (22,704)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities  3ERBIBER N RS EE 193,974 271,115

%
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29. OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

236

Pursuant to an investment agreement entered into between
the Group and an enterprise owned by a local government
of Inner Mongolia (the “SOE") in regard to the establishment
of a target company, the SOE invested RMB172,431,000
and RMB47,291,000 respectively in 2022 and 2023 to the
target company, the objective of which is to invest in newly
constructed dairy farms in local area with certain conditions
attaching to it. The SOE is entitled to a fixed return of 2% per
annum from its investment and will not share any variable
returns from the target company. The investment period for
each individual dairy farm should not exceed 7 years from the
date the amount is invested. Upon the end of the investment
period the target company will withdraw the capital from the
relevant farm and the Group is obliged to return the portion
of investment amount to the SOE. In addition, the SOE has
the right to request the Group to purchase its investment in
the target company in any particular invested farm upon the
occurrence of certain contingent events. The target company
has been accounted for as a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company and the investment from the SOE is regarded
as borrowings granted to the Group in the consolidated
financial statements to reflect the economic substance of the
arrangement as the SOE does not expose to any risks or entitle
to any rewards (including profit distribution) as equity holder of
the target company but receives fixed return. The borrowings
with preferential interest rate are initially measured at fair value
based on prevailing market interest rate and the difference of
RMB26,735,000 and RMB6,349,000 between proceeds received
and the fair value of the loan on initial recognition is treated as
government grants respectively in 2022 and 2023.

Certain other borrowings as at 31 December 2023 are secured
by property, plant and equipment, leasehold lands and trade
receivables owned by the Group as set out in Notes 16, 17 and
24, respectively.

Other than the borrowings set out in Note i above, the

Group's other borrowings are loans with fixed interest rates
from 3.35% to 7.65% (31 December 2022: 3.59% to 12.00%)
per annum as at 31 December 2023.
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i: BEAEEEANS O BRFFRBLE
((BELE DR IBEATRITNRE
Wik - BB ER202245F K 2023F 5 BlA
BERFIHREARK172,431,0007C 2 AR
#47,291,0007T * EMEREEREFE
WEWEERPNEETIESE - BELEE
EREREBPESTE2%9MEEOHE - B
TenZ BIZRQRMER A &R 3R - & (&
WSS EHRRTERRERESEZA
BETH7F - EEREHER - BIERAE
RIEBHERE  AEEEEBKBILHIE
ELHERETHALE o i ER LK
REMZHER  HECEAEERAER
BEERBEZAREIMNEERERSHN
"E - BIERARICIEARRRNEZENE
AEIAE  KERBLENRELELZAH
BHERPERAE T ARNEENE KA R
ZLEHNEEEYE  RARAB D ETRE
TRER LA ZEEEMIELEEEZARMR
HHEHK(BEFNBESE) MEESETE
B3R - BEMEEFTIRRITTMISHNEH D
FEEITORGE - WO FEHIAEE
BEEREN A TEZEANZEARE
26,735,0007C &2 A R #6,349,0007T 72 20224F
N2023F 2 BIVEBIRAT B IEIE -

ii: R2023F12A31 B E FTHEMERBEAE
EEENME  BEREE KAEEL
i % FEUE 5 BR R (D BIE I aE16 ~ 17K
24) fEHEHR o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £ 2023512 H31H L F &

30. SHORT TERM DEBENTURE

31.

'y

30. EHME

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBT T

Short term debenture RARE S - 100,522
On 15 November 2022, Modern Farming issued short term M2022F 11 A58 - BARME(EE)EITT

debenture at a principal amount of RMB100,000,000 with a
term of three months, bearing a fixed interest rate of 4.00%

per annum. The short term debenture was repaid in February
2023.

HHRES EAL A ARM100,000,000
T AH=EA - BEMEEEF400% -
HARN A STE2023F2 AEE -

LONG TERM BONDS . REIBES
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Carrying amounts repayable: JEEEREE -

Within one year —F AR 35,536 34,944
Between two to five years MEERFNA 3,523,467 3,458,072
3,559,003 3,493,016

Less: Amounts due within one year shown W RNRE B RE TR
under current liabilities —FE RN ERIE (35,536) (34,944)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities  3ERBIBERE N REEE 3,523,467 3,458,072

On 15 July 2021, the Company issued bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of USD500 million which will mature on
14 July 2026 (the "USD Bonds”). The net proceeds of the
USD Bonds amounted to USD495,165,000 (equivalent to
RMB3,200,760,000) after deducting the underwriting discounts
and commissions. The USD Bonds bear interest at the rate
of 2.125% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears. The
Company intended to use the proceeds from the USD Bonds
for refinancing and general corporate purposes. The carrying
amount repayable within one year at the balance sheet date
represented interest payable.

3 4. o

B2021%F 78158 » KRB EITAES L
B RS5008 83X - B1R2026F7H14

HEHNEF(ExXESF]) - NBREHE
WHIEBEeE ETESFHNMERE
/qa%éiz%ws,ws,ooo%m(;raEEEC/\EM
3,200,760,0007T) ° ELEHZFFI R
2125%5 B B¥FEXNF—IK - XRF#H
BELEFMEFEARBERENR —MEE
B - REEBBEXRAHN—ERNEEERE
HEIEEMFIE -
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32. LEASE LIABILITIES

238

32. HE&AE

2023 2022
2023F 202245
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARETTT
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEARE -
Within one year —FR 238,925 111,392
Within a period of more than one year but —F A BT EBBMER
not exceeding two years HAfE A 182,095 111,165
Within a period of more than two yearsbut ~ W4F A _HE T HEBRFH
not exceeding five years HARE A 459,817 272,505
Within a period of more than five years 838 1 F &Y BRfE A 1,139,258 572,983
2,020,095 1,068,045
Less: Amount due for settlement within B RRE B EE TR
12 months shown under current 1218 A NEEEFRIE
liabilities (238,925) (111,392)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months ~ RIEREBEIR 7R
shown under non-current liabilities 1218 B & £ E R 1,781,170 956,653

The lease liabilities are measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not yet paid. The incremental
borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from 3.22%
to 5.90% (31 December 2022: from 3.38% to 5.90%) per
annum as at 31 December 2023.

In May 2022, a subsidiary of the Group leases a parcel
of land for the period from January 2022 to December
2024. According to the lease agreement, the total rent
of RMB9,816,000 is borne by the local government. As
such, no lease liabilities have been recognised for this
lease. The fair value of the lease payments subsidised by
the local government amounting to RMB9,371,000 at the
commencement date was recognised as government grants
and the same amount was included in the cost of right-of-use
assets correspondingly.
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HEaERASNNAENTRETE - R
2023%F12H31H - A EBEFEALERE
RHNEN FEHFF322%E5.90% (2022512
318 : N F3.38%%E5.90%) °

2022958 - AEBEKH KB QA R#2022
F1RAE2024F12AMET — i LTib o 1B
BHEER:E BB ESHETARE
9,816,000 4TS - EIt - WERL M IE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 8220235 12 A31H IFF[E

33. OTHER LIABILITIES 33. HthEE
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBET T

Provision for obligation to return dairy cows — REZINFFEISHEE

(Note i) (B &%) 92,242 -
Commitment to non-controlling interests HIEIE AR SR ) AR
(Note ii) (B &) 68,289 -
Litigation provision (Note 39(b)) SRR (BT 5E39(0)) 9,856 4,573
170,387 4,573
Analysed as: IR -
Current E 9,856 4,573
Non-current IERE 160,531 =
170,387 4,573
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #{£2023F 12 A31H IFF/E

33. OTHER LIABILITIES (continued)

Notes:

In August 2021, the Group entered into an agreement with
a third party (the “Third Party”) to lease certain dairy cows
from the Third Party for a period of 20 years (the “Lease
Period”). Pursuant to the agreement, the Group is required
to return the dairy cows according to the agreed number and
age composition in the agreement to the Third Party at the
end of the Lease Period. On 30 September 2023, the leased
dairy cows have been delivered to the Group, the provision
for the obligation to return dairy cows of RMB96,276,000
has been recognised accordingly. During the year ended 31
December 2023, change in provision of the above obligation
of RMB4,034,000 was recognised in profit or loss.

In December 2023, Modern Farming (Wuhe) Co., Ltd.
(“Modern Farming Wuhe”, the then wholly-owned subsidiary
of Modern Farming), Anhui Suida Rongyao Equity Investment
Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Anhui Suida”) and
Modern Farming entered into a capital injection agreement,
pursuant to which Anhui Suida has agreed to subscribe for
approximately 11.4% equity interest of Modern Farming Wuhe
by way of capital injection in cash of RMB200 million. The
capital injection was completed on 28 December 2023. The
injection of capital from non-controlling interests contains
liability components and equity component, which are
classified separately in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument. At the date of issue, the
liability components, mainly represented the obligation to
make up the corresponding shortfall to the extent that Anhui
Suida is unable to exit its investment at the agreed amount
through the sales of equity to a third party in the event of the
specific circumstances and events of the agreement and the
obligation to pay the dividends of Modern Farming Wuhe in
respect of the years ending 31 December 2024 and 2025, are
measured at fair values. The difference of RMB131,711,000
between the total capital injection of RMB200,000,000 and
the fair value of the financial liabilities of RMB68,289,000 is
recognised in equity at initial recognition.
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33. HttEBw

P e

M2021F8H - AEBEFE=F(E=F))
AV MBEZAHEETHY - &S
200 ([HHEM)) - REHE - AEEER
HENERBAF=ZFTREHETHTN
HE RAREBXITE - R2023F9A30
A PHENFEINFAER  AHERE
RIREBNFEBFHEBEARE6,276,000
TT o RELE 2023128318 IEFE » Hit
EGEEEEH AREAL,034,000LE R B
RRER ©

#2023F 128 - MAEE(RA)ERA A
(ARBERTN]  BRBEGEE) ERK
2EAWBAT)  DHRIEELRBRILER
SAEBCEERER (ZREEDHEER
WEEBE Y EEHE  BUHEH
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BIARBMERRENL11.4% - S TEEE
BR2023F 12828 H /K © IEIERERT
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DPEBALTEBERZEHZTINETE
MEEHEELABEBRNEZ T HEREN
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ROMES  MEZE20245F %2025 128
3L FERARKE TR EIRT &S
AAFER 2 - #8)FE AR 200,000,000
TLHE g8 E AT EARE68,289,0000T 2
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34. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A MBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 8220235 12 A31H IFF[E

34. EHNERE

2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBET T

Sales of raw milk $HE REH 1,224 462
Sales of feeds THE fR 25,424 42,742
26,648 43,204

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to

RMBS5,343,000.

35. DEFERRED INCOME

R2022F 118 - aHNBEARARE

5,343,000, ©

35. EEWA
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARETT

Current BNER 12,570 11,563
Non-current JEENER 209,663 205,533
222,233 217,096
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35. DEFERRED INCOME (continued)

242

35. EZEWAm

Arising from

government

grants

BN FTESE

RMB’000

ARET T

Balance at 1 January 2022 PR20224F1 B 1 H W 4s 6k 184,562
Addition NE 111,040
Release to income BEUWA (78,506)
At 31 December 2022 HR2022%F12A31H 217,096
Addition NE 94,719
Release to income BEIA (89,582)
At 31 December 2023 7R2023F12H31H 222,233

Deferred income represents government grants obtained
in relation to (i) compensations of the capital expenditure
incurred for addition of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets, which are recognised over the useful life
of the related assets; (ii) the purchase of inventories, which
are credited to the profit or loss over the periods in which the
inventories were consumed and (iii) purchase of biological
assets measured at fair value less costs to sell, which are
credited to the profit or loss, when the conditions attaching
to the government grant are met.
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36. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 36. BAK
Share capital €S
Number Share
of shares capital
RGO EE IR A<
‘000 HKD’'000
TR THET
Ordinary shares of HKD0.10 each BAR010HE T E B
Authorised JETE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 202291 A1H ~ 2022F &
2023 2023F12A31H 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid BEEITRERE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and 20221818 ~ 2022F &
2023 2023F12A318 7,915,662 791,566
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Presented as 255 675,869 675,869
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36. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)
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. B

Other reserve HibfE e
Other reserve
H s
RMB'000
ARET T
(Note)
(bEzD)
Balance at 1 January 2022 720221 A1 B /&R 920,109
Equity transactions related to interest free EAEERNTERNERRZ S
intra-group loans 2,859
At 31 December 2022 72022912 A831H 922,968
Equity transactions related to interest free FRAEEANERNERR S
intra-group loans (1,727)
Injection of capital from non-controlling interests ~ FEIEMRIEZS )T & (83,139)
At 31 December 2023 72023F12831H 838,102

Note: Other reserve mainly represented the contribution from the
owners of the Company for the operation of the Group.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the articles of association of the
subsidiaries established in the PRC and relevant PRC laws
and regulations, these subsidiaries are required to transfer
at least 10% of their profit after tax, which is determined
in accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises and Financial Regulations applicable in the PRC to
a statutory reserve until the balance of such fund has reached
50% of the registered capital of the respective subsidiaries.
Statutory reserve can only be used to offset accumulated
losses or to increase capital of the relevant subsidiaries.
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37. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The PRC employees of the Group are eligible members of
the state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the government of the PRC. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries of the company are required to contribute in
accordance with employee pension insurance requirements
on monthly basis to the state-managed retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the state-managed retirement benefit
schemes is to make the required contributions under the
schemes.

Other subsidiaries in jurisdictions outside of the PRC
contribute to statutory retirement plans on behalf of their
employees which in many cases are managed by the
government in those jurisdictions. Those subsidiaries make
periodic contributions to the statutory retirement plans as
required and contributions are generally determined as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries or a fixed amount
per employee per calendar year depending on laws and
regulations of the jurisdiction.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had no forfeited
contributions under the above retirement benefit schemes
which may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level
of contributions. There were also no forfeited contributions
available at 31 December 2023 and 2022 under such schemes
which may be used by the Group to reduce the contribution
payable in future years.

The retirement benefit cost incurred are disclosed in Note 8.

. ,. "““

37. BRIBERIFE

AEENTFEEE STEBRFEHNBERE
ERREAGFBINAERKE - ARRRF
BHMBARNE T RIZRETIBEZRBHNE
kg ARBRE BR KRR BIF L F0UA
BINBREEN - ARERBERE RRKER
Al - B EARBEEBEIELREN

K

REASNRDE R E M B AR KRR EE
BRVAERMEIE - FHEEFZB
ATHBERAZEENBFERE - ZFH B
NEVIEIRTE E BRDEE R RFTBIEFR - 3R
—REEEEAFENADLXEREES
B/ FrEE 28R T RARREAERER
ERTE)EE

MR2023F K% 2022912 A31H » AEB I £
FHURREF G EIE THOR KA HR - A&
B ] gt 2 (5 A 5% 5 FORBR K IR A HR0K
oo RIEZETE 0 1A2023%F 20229124
31 B INE ] (AN E B B AR D R R FE
M BOLULE T o

EAE RO IR RAR MR ANE B FE8 AP HFR
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
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On 26 March 2018 (the “Adoption Date"”), the Company
adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
to motivate and award the contribution of certain members of
management and eligible employees of the Group. Subject
to any early termination as may be determined by the board
of directors, the Share Award Scheme is valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date.

The shares to be awarded under the Share Award Scheme (the
“Award Shares”) will be acquired by the Company through
Dairy Fortune Limited ("Dairy Fortune”) which is 100%
owned by Dairy Fortune (PTC) Limited (the “Trustee”) from
the open market by cash contributed by the Group under the
directions of the Company and will be held in trust for the
relevant selected participants until such shares are vested.
The maximum number of shares which may be purchased by
the Trustee is set at no more than 1% of the number of issued
ordinary shares of the Company at the preceding annual
general meeting. Based on the trust arrangements among
the Company, the sole shareholder of the Trustee and the
Trustee, the Company is able to control the Trustee and its
subsidiary, Dairy Fortune, pursuant to IFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements. Therefore, the Group accounts for the
Trustee and Dairy Fortune as consolidated structured entities.
The ordinary shares of the Company held by Dairy Fortune
are accounted for as a debit to the Group's reserve and are
presented under the heading of “shares held under the Share
Award Scheme” in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity.
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

During the current year, Dairy Fortune purchased 62,123,000
(2022: 9,200,000) ordinary shares from the open market
at a total consideration of approximately HKD48,488,000
(equivalent to RMB44,470,000) (2022: HKD10,962,000
(equivalent to RMB9,073,000)). In addition, the Group
retained a total number of 3,323,871 (2022: 4,112,062) vested
shares as a consideration of approximately HKD3,357,000
(equivalent to RMB2,939,000) (2022: HKD5,222,000 (equivalent
to RMB4,227,000)) for paying the individual income tax
on behalf of those selected participants under the Share
Award Scheme during the current year. The retained vested
shares were considered as repurchase from those selected
participants and the Group remits the cash value of the
repurchased equity instruments to the tax authority on behalf
of those selected participants to settle the individual income
tax in relation to the share-based payment.

Share Award —i

On 25 March 2021, a total number of 23,200,000 Award
Shares (“Share Award —i”) were granted to selected
participants. If certain performance and service conditions are
met, out of the total shares granted, 11,600,000 Award Shares
will be vested on 31 March 2022 (the “Award Shares A"), the
remaining Award Shares of 11,600,000 will be vested on 31
March 2022 with one year lock-up period beginning from the
vesting date (the “Award Shares B").

The following table discloses movements of the Award Shares

38.

RGOS

RAFEZ R » Dairy Fortuneft AR ™5
B 62,123,0000% & 38 A% (20224F : 9,200,000
%) - AR ({E#) 548,488,000 7T FHE R A
E#£44,470,0007T (20224 : 10,962,0007% 7T
(FBENARKS,073,0007T)) ° Lo - A
EAFERERDEBISRZIEETLH
BIXTEAFREEE - [RBE 3,323,871
R 53 B A% 1 (20224F : 4,112,0628) 1E B
{&#73,357,000/% 7t (FH & 1A A R #62,939,000
7T) (20224 : 5,222,0007 7T (B E N A R

4,227,0007T)) ° £R B KO 57 B A 12 AR R I RX
FRESLEENRE  AEERZFETSHE

EREERETANESEET DT IARS
R AEE RN NN R A R E
AFIEHEL -

B% 17 52 /&) —i

2021378258 + & $£23,200,000% £ E)
B ((ROER-i DR TEELEE o W
BB TRARRBEIGHE - BIRAERTRG
# v 11,600,0008% #EE) A% 19 15 7R 20224 3 A
JIEHEBE(EBRAAD - MR T 11,600,000
BRI LD K TA202243 A31E BB B
B —FEEH((EBREB)) -

P =]

TRIEEZBROANEZBRMHBN E—F

A and Award Shares B during the prior year: ErEe)

Outstanding Outstanding
as at Forfeited Vested as at
1 January during during 31 December
Categories 2022 the year the year 2022
&5l 120225 R2022%
1A1R 12A31H
RIATTHE FRRWR ENFE T ARTTEE
Award Shares A REERMHA 10,348,000 (61,000) (10,287,000) -
Award Shares B ZERIB 10,348,000 (61,000) (10,287,000) -
20,696,000 (122,000) (20,574,000) -

;“I TZRoCEER hEARKUERRARATR
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 38. IR XA MWHARR S @
(continued)
Share Award =i (continued) B 5B -
A total number of 20,574,000 shares of Award Shares A REEZE2022F12A31BILEFEE - & H#
and Award Shares B were vested during the year ended 31 20,574,000k 22 @) Iz A K 52 B A% {7 B 1% 5
December 2022, and the difference of RMB3,530,000 between B - R% 7 82D E 1 A R ¥ 29,140,0007T 2 5L
the share award reserve of RMB29,140,000 and shares held FIEBROBERDEBAZFENAR
under the Share Award Scheme of RMB25,610,000 for the #25,610,000TRH 2 FZBEEBARE
shares vested was recognised in retained earnings. 3,530,0007T IR B B FIERR -
Share Award —ii IR 40 32 B —ii
On 9 December 2021, a total number of 8,565,000 Award MR2021F12A9H » & 3£8,565,0004% 22 B A%
Shares (“Share Award -ii”) were granted to the selected HRGER-iDETEELEE - WHFE
participants. If certain performance and service conditions are & TRBERBRB GRS - BIRAERLRG
met, out of the total shares granted, 4,282,500 Award Shares /v 4,282, 500/% 22 B A 17 715 52 20224F 3 A 31
will be vested on 31 March 2022 (the “Award Shares C"). AiRE ([RBRAC)) - £2714,282,500/% 5%
The remaining Award Shares of 4,282,500 will be vested on 31 AR 5 1§ 7020223 A31B B E - BEEH
March 2022 with one year lock-up period beginning from the HEe—F2EM(RBRAD]) -
vesting date (the “Award Shares D").
The following table discloses movements of the Award Shares TRFERBRGCREZERRHDR £ —&
C and Award Shares D during the prior year: FENE
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Forfeited Vested as at
1 January during during 31 December
Categories 2022 the year the year 2022
Ll 2022 2022
1R1H 12A31H
AT ERREK FNEE WARITE
Award Shares C RERHC 4,282,500 - (4,282,500) -
Award Shares D ZERHD 4,282,500 = (4,282,500) =
8,565,000 - (8,565,000 -

248

A total number of 8,565,000 shares of Award Shares C
and Award Shares D were vested during the year ended
31 December 2022, and the difference of RMB2,026,000
between the share award reserve of RMB8,636,000 and shares
held under the Share Award Scheme of RMB10,662,000 for
the shares vested was recognised in retained earnings.
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 38. U XA RRXZ @

(continued)

Share Award —iii 42 R B —iii

On 12 April 2022, a total number of 52,549,000 Award Shares 2022648128 - & $£52,549,0004% 22 Bh
(“Share Award —iii") were granted to selected participants. o ((RBER —iii) X TFETLEE -
If certain performance and service conditions are met, out FeETRELRG GRS - BIRAERLR
of the total shares granted, 26,274,500 Award Shares will be 1P+ 26,274,500 R EN IR (7 1 PR H B HA
vested on the first anniversary of the grant date (the “Award WE—ERFHEE ((REBRMGED  MHT
Shares E”), the remaining Award Shares of 26,274,500 will 26,274,5000% S E AR (D i IR H B HAIME —
be vested on the second anniversary of the grant date (the EREFFE(RBRGOF])

“Award Shares F").

The following table discloses movements of the Award Shares T 5 B BR SR EN AR (0 E K2 SR AR 19 PR R 5 A
E and Award Shares F during the reporting period: R EE)

Outstanding Outstanding
as at Forfeited Vested as at
1 January during during 31 December
Categories 2023 the year the year 2023
Ll R2023% #K20235
1A18 128318

I RATE FRARW EREE W RITE

Award Shares E RERAE 26,124,500 (535,500)  (25,589,000) -
Award Shares F REIRMF 26,124,500 (1,060,000) - 25,064,500

52,249,000 (1,595,500)  (25,589,000) 25,064,500

Outstanding Outstanding

as at Granted Forfeited as at

1 January during during 31 December

Categories 2022 the year the year 2022
&5l 120225 R2022%
1A1R 12A31H

HATTE FRARH FRRK RIARTTEE

Award Shares E ZRRINE - 26,274,500 (150,000) 26,124,500
Award Shares F BERINF - 26,274,500 (150,000) 26,124,500
- 52,549,000 (300,000) 52,249,000
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
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(continued)

Share Award —iii (continued)

The fair values of Award Shares E and Award Shares F
were HKD32,318,000 (equivalent to RMB26,304,000) and
HKD32,318,000 (equivalent to RMB26,304,000), respectively,
which were determined based on the market price of the
Company'’s shares at the grant date.

A total number of 25,589,000 shares of Award Shares E
were vested during the current year, and the difference
of RMB4,870,000 between the share award reserve of
RMB25,618,000 and shares held under the Share Award
Scheme of RMB30,488,000 for the shares vested was
recognised in retained earnings.

Share Award —iv

On 25 November 2022, a total number of 4,415,000 Award
Shares (“Share Award —iv") were granted to selected
participants. If certain performance and service conditions are
met, out of the total shares granted, 2,207,500 Award Shares
will be vested on 12 April 2023 (the “Award Shares G"), the
remaining Award Shares of 2,207,500 will be vested on 12
April 2024 (the “Award Shares H").
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B0 82 B —iii )
REBROHERZBROFONAFTES A
32,318,000/ 7t (A8 & 1A A R 6 26,304,0007T)
132,318,000/ 7T (A5 & X A R # 26,304,000
T0) W AR EAARROER FTHENTS
BIRERE °

RAFEE - A H#£25,589,0000% 228 AL 1) EXE
B IR RENFE ARK25,618,0007T
ERFT B R M IRER G ERF 8 E W
AR #30,488,0007C %0 2 FH ZEEARK
4,870,0007T MR BE B I FERR o

AR 2R B —iv

2022411 A25H » & ££4,415,0000% 226
R ([ EB-iv) IR TIRTELESE - MFF
GETRARBRBIGHE - RIRE R T RD
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 38. U XA RRXZ @

(continued)
Share Award —iv (continued) B0 88 B —iv @)
The following table discloses movements of the Award Shares TRIBE RN GREENR D HR &
G and Award Shares H during the reporting period: ] By
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Forfeited Vested as at
1 January during during 31 December
Categories 2023 the year the year 2023
55 120235 72023
1818 12A31H
i RATE FRRHK FRNEE i RATRE
Award Shares G RREBNG 2,207,500 (44,0000  (2,163,500) -
Award Shares H RER HH 2,207,500 (77,500) - 2,130,000
4,415,000 (121,500) (2,163,500) 2,130,000
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Forfeited as at
1 January during during 31 December
Categories 2022 the year the year 2022
Ehl 20225 R20226F
1A18 12A31H
RATTERE FREKH FRRW AT
Award Shares G RERHG = 2,207,500 = 2,207,500
Award Shares H HEIRHH = 2,207,500 = 2,207,500
- 4,415,000 - 4,415,000
The fair values of Award Shares G and Award Shares H HERNDGRERMBRNOHHAO A FES R A
were HKD2,075,000 (equivalent to RMB1,895,000) and 2,075,000/ 7T (A& 7 A KR #E1,895,0007T) K&
HKD2,075,000 (equivalent to RMB1,895,000), respectively, 2,075,0007% 7T (A8 & pS A R #61,895,0007T)
which were determined based on the market price of the L TIRBEARRROER T AN TS ERE
Company's shares at the grant date. iE °
A total number of 2,163,500 shares of Award Shares G RAREE » & +2,163,5000 2RI 1D GE SR
were vested during the current year, and the difference B - IR SR A R ¥E1,857,0007T L 5t
of RMB721,000 between the share award reserve of FrER B IR AR IR () IRE ST BB AR
RMB1,857,000 and shares held under the Share Award 2,578,0007T {7 2 B H) = B8 A R 721,000
Scheme of RMB2,578,000 for the shares vested was TCRREE B A HERR ©

recognised in retained earnings.
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

252

(continued)

Share Award —v

On 28 April 2023, a total number of 69,882,000 Award Shares
("Share Award -v"”) were granted to selected participants.
If certain performance and service conditions are met, out
of the total shares granted, 34,941,000 Award Shares will be
vested on the first anniversary of the grant date (the “Award
Shares 1”), the remaining Award Shares of 34,941,000 will
be vested on the second anniversary of the grant date (the
“Award Shares J").

The following table discloses movements of the Award Shares

MRAD R B —v

20234 H288 -

HIH % —

38. IR NHNNRRZ

% #£69,882,000/% 22 B
i ([RGER —v)ETE
FeETRRERBGGET -
B&An A 34,941,0000% 22 Eh A& 17 # 7 #% 1 B

EEF (@R -

EEREE o fi
AR A R i

s

34,941,0008% RN A (D A X B HRE 56 —
BB 578 ((RmBRDI)) -

SRR R R A A | N 2R AR £ SR R 5 HARE

| and Award Shares J during the reporting period: ok
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Forfeited as at
1 January during during 31 December
Categories 2023 the year the year 2023
ghl 20235 R2023F
1818 12R318
e RITE FARH FRARY tef RAT6E
Award Shares | R - 34,941,000 (608,000) 34,333,000
Award Shares J e N - 34,941,000 (608,000) 34,333,000
- 69,882,000 (1,216,000) 68,666,000

The fair values of Award Shares | and Award Shares J

RO IRERRKROINRFED

=

were HKD33,893,000 (equivalent to RMB29,896,000) and
HKD33,893,000 (equivalent to RMB29,896,000), respectively,
which were determined based on the market price of the
Company'’s shares at the grant date.
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Share Award —Vv (continued)

A summary of the share award expense of the Group

38. LR XNHNNRRZ @

B0 82 B —v ()

RERE RS AR H B R R

recognised during the reporting period is as follows: mr
2023 2022
20234 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T R ARETIT
Share Award —i f& A1 tEED —i - 10,784
Share Award —ii &1 82 8h —ii - 6,727
Share Award —iii Ptn B2 —iii 19,255 26,841
Share Award —iv % 1 828 —iv 2,641 598
Share Award —v B 15 2B —v 28,153 -
Total HEt 50,049 44,950
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATION

254

Year ended 31 December 2023:

As detailed in Note 20, Aiyangniu, a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, acquired 100% equity interests
in Yunyangniu in April 2023 and since then Yunyangniu
became a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. This
acquisition has been accounted for as acquisition of business
using the acquisition method.

The Directors believe that the acquisition can further leverage
the advantages of synergy between Yunyangniu and the
Group as a leading dairy farming operator within the industrial
chain and enhance the Group's capability to provide services
on dairy farm-related information technology solutions and
artificial intelligence of things solutions for agriculture and
animal husbandry through the Group’s existing ecological
sharing platform to downstream customers.

Consideration transferred and goodwill arising on
acquisition:

39. ¥% 56

BE2023F12A31BLEFE :

AN E20FT AL - RAREREWMEB A
AIERLTN2023F4AANBERFTH2ER
% BUHEBRFIKNAARRANIZENBEA
Ao WREEEEEAKBEEARREBK
B o

EFMAE WEFHENE-—SRETEFHR
AEBEERDERELR)MEXBHFRE
2 WEBBAEERAENEERZTE 12
HARKE AT HEPRERHRENS ARG
BEMARRT R RA TS LB R RRIR T 2
ARISEVBES -

HRERAERWBELENEE

RMB’000

ARETIT

Cash consideration BeRE 10,440
Add: fair value of the equity interest in Yunyangniu Il : AEE Z T A EEFBRED

previously held by the Group 8,640

Less: recognised amounts of net assets acquired B TR E E R EMNER SR (8,608)

Goodwill arising on acquisition R EE A 10,472

Goodwill arose from the acquisition of Yunyangniu because
the acquisition was expected to result in benefits of synergies,
revenue growth and future market development. These
benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill because
they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable
intangible assets.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition is not expected to be
deductible for tax purposes.
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 39. %ﬁéﬁ*(@)
Year ended 31 December 2023: (continued) BZ2023F12A31HLEFE : @
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RUBEHBENEERBIANEE
acquisition
RMB'000
ARET T
Property, plant and equipment M - WE RERE 588
Right-of-use assets PREEE 1,408
Other intangible assets HithEREE 5,109
Inventories &8 54
Trade and other receivables and prepayments &8 5 BR 58 K H 4t & W 5038 LA K2 FB - 5/ I8 3,973
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 8,761
Trade and other payables B2 5 R H A e~ FUAR (10,098)
Lease liabilities HEBE (1,187)
8,608
The receivables acquired with a fair value of RMB1,421,000 FriiiE s EW BN W E BB AFES
at the date of acquisition had gross contractual amounts of AR¥1,421,000T - HREHWHBER/RARE
RMB1,421,000. At acquisition date, it is estimated that there 1,421,0007T ° {H&FHA U EE B B0 451 e I ER
are no contractual cash flows that will not be collected. MNEHNRERE -
Net cash outflow on acquisition of Yunyangniu WBREEFNRESRHFE
RMB'000
ARET T
Cash consideration paid EREERE 10,440
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B BSNIRES MREEEY (8,761)
1,679
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

256

Year ended 31 December 2023: (continued)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

Included in the profit for the year is loss of RMB4,995,000
incurred by Yunyangniu. Revenue for the year included
RMB15,126,000 from Yunyangniu.

Had the acquisition of Yunyangniu been completed on
1 January 2023, revenue for the year of the Group would
have been RMB13,458,310,000 and profit for the year would
have been RMB183,380,000. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 January 2023, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ profit of the Group had
Yunyangniu been acquired at the beginning of the current
year, the Directors calculated depreciation of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible
assets based on the recognised amounts of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible
assets at the date of the acquisition.
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 39. B & @
Year ended 31 December 2022: BI22022F12R31ALFE :
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group REZE2022F12A31B IEFE - AEEE K
has acquired certain subsidiaries as set out below. These BTIETHBAR - 2 WHEEIECHA
acquisitions have been accounted for as acquisition of Wi A ABR RS TEUNEE -

businesses using the acquisition method.

Consideration transferred and goodwill arising on acquisition: EEREMBELNEE
Mufeng Yilei Aiyangniu Total
we FRE EEY st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARETT AR®TT ARETR
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(FfEta) (Pt 5Eb) (BfaEe)
Purchase consideration BERE 105,486 66,000 287,775 459,261
Plus: non-controlling interests o FEEERER 53,189 4,583 18,709 76,481
Less: recognised amounts of net R PTUREE & ERER
assets acquired EALH (110,810) (22,916) (74,837) (208,563)
Gooduwill arising on acquisition WEEEHDHE 47,865 47,667 231,647 327,179
These acquired subsidiaries are principally engaged in ZERWENOMB AR EZHEMEEEIN
business of dairy farming and sale of feedstuffs, additives K EREL ~ RN N BR AR SH 3RS o 1EH 0%
and veterinary medicine. These acquisitions were made as FWETHBRAKE MR E N4 BET
part of the Group's strategy to strengthen its position in dairy HERf - E— P RIEEXERREZ A
farming industry, and further leverage the industrial chain BEE)—&B 5 ©

synergy advantages.
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022: (continued)
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None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is

39. ¥%50tw

BI£2022F12R31BLFE ' @

expected to be deductible for tax purposes. i o
Notes: Mzt -
(@)  Acquisition of Dengkou Jinmahu Mufeng Dairy (a)

Farming Co., Ltd. (“Mufeng”)

Modern Farming acquired 52% equity interests in Mufeng on

21 March 2022.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB372,000 have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been

recognised as an expense in 2022.

A ¢ 3))

BY52% I HEE

B ZFWEERELNHES A ARE

WBEORSSHRENFEERR

WA (R )P 2022F3 A 21 BRI g

U BEFRBA R AN A R #6372,0007T Nt A 8858
R WER2022FE-EREMAX -

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RUBRHUENEERBRNAE
acquisition

RMB’000
ARBFT
Property, plant and equipment M - BE RERE 85,864
Right-of-use assets FREEE 4,075
Other intangible assets Hibhmp & 296
Biological assets EYEE 207,881
Inventories T8 35,442
Trade and other receivables and prepayments JRE M5 & 5 iR 3R B L A R Wi R T DA J TR R IE 30,647
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 271
Pledged bank deposits BERIFITFER 1,000
Trade and other payables e B SRR N E b B FRIR (128,299)
Bank borrowings SRITER (74,680)
Other borrowings HAh &K (48,193)
Lease liabilities HEARE (3,494)
110,810

The receivables acquired with a fair value of RMB28,215,000
at the date of acquisition had gross contractual amounts of
RMB28,215,000. At acquisition date, it is estimated that there
are no contractual cash flows that will not be collected.
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 39. ¥%&0w

Year ended 31 December 2022: (continued) B ZE2022F12A31BLEE @

Notes: (continued) W (8

(@)  Acquisition of Dengkou Jinmahu Mufeng Dairy (@) WEBEBORSEHREDN4FEEER
Farming Co., Ltd. (“Mufeng”) (continued) AR (THE D @
Non-controlling interests FEIERER
The non-controlling interests of 48% equity interests in Mufeng T U B B R T SR AR 2 489% AR E O FE 1R AR 1
recognised at the acquisition date amounted to RMB53,189,000 A AREES3,189,0007T © 2 RKEEE
was measured by reference to the proportionate share of FEERSENLAIEE -

recognised amounts of net assets of Mufeng.

Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEELENEE

Goodwill arose from the acquisition of Mufeng because the WM EEETHE  ARETIEKT
acquisition was expected to result in benefits of synergies, RIpEAE - WA R RRRTISE RS
revenue growth and future market development. These B o ZERHTEHEESHBER  BA
benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill because TREAHRELEENERITE -

they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable
intangible assets.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Mufeng WM E R SRR
RMB'000
ARBFT
Cash consideration paid BNIEERE 105,486
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B BISHERE RBESEEY (271)
105,215

s
L L T
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022: (continued)

Notes: (continued)
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(b)

Acquisition of Datong Yilei Second Animal Husbandry
Co., Ltd. ("Yilei")

Modern Farming acquired 80% equity interests in Yilei on 6
May 2022.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB462,000 have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense in 2022.

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of
acquisition

39. ¥%50tw

BZE2022F12A31BLLEE : @
M - (88

(b)

BEARFE -HRBUEERAF(H
#Z1
BARBE(EER20225F5 6 A WEFRE
HI80% IR #E -

e BE AR B AR AR A R ¥ 462,0007T AT A 858
RIE - TER202FHREMX -

RUEE AN B E R ERN RS

RMB’000

ARETT

Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 10,194
Right-of-use assets EREEE 92,040
Biological assets EEE 121,370
Inventories FE 31,094
Trade and other receivables and prepayments FEUL R 5 B 5K K B Ath & W SR IA A IR TR 7RI 44,339
Bank balances and cash SRITHEB MRS 3,498
Trade and other payables FE B SRR N E b B FR0R (102,820)
Other liabilities (Note) H b & &P aE) (4,573)
Bank borrowings RITRERK (57,043)
Other borrowings HbER (24,185)
Lease liabilities HEAE (90,998)
22,916

Note: Yilei has been the respondent of an ongoing
arbitration proceeding, the claimant accused that
Yilei failed to supply goods to it in accordance with
the terms of contract and the claimed compensation
was approximately RMB43,313,000. Provisions of
RMB4,573,000 was recognised under other liabilities
in respect of this ongoing arbitration at the date of
acquisition. Yilei had received a conclusive arbitral award
from the arbitration commission during the current
year and an additional provision of RMB5,283,000 was
recognised in profit or loss.

The receivables acquired with a fair value of RMB42,742,000
at the date of acquisition had gross contractual amounts of
RMB42,742,000. At acquisition date, it is estimated that there
are no contractual cash flows that will not be collected.
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

39. ¥ 50w

Year ended 31 December 2022: (continued) BI22022F12R31ALFE : @
Notes: (continued) W (8
(b)  Acquisition of Datong Yilei Second Animal Husbandry (b) WEBABFE-HBEERAB(HF
Co., Ltd. ("Yilei") (continued) =z m
Non-controlling interests FEIERER
The non-controlling interests of 20% equity interests in Yilei at U B HR R 7 22 209 AR E O FE 1R AR 1
the acquisition date amounted to RMB4,583,000 was measured = A ARE4,583,0000T ' W2RBFPEGEE
by reference to the proportionate share of recognised amounts FEERSENLPIGE o
of net assets of Yilei.
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEELENEE
Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Yilei because of the WHEFRZEETHE RAAREHSREA
expected enhancement of the Group's position in dairy REBENGTBETENMLURRSLE
farming industry and enhancement of operation efficiency. ME o ZEBRFTEEB D RER
These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill THRE A HRELEENBERE E
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets.
Net cash outflow on acquisition of Yilei WEFENRSREFE
RMB'000
ARBFT
Cash consideration BeRE 66,000
Consideration payable JERTRAB (38,000)
Consideration paid BARE 28,000
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B BISHERE RBELEEY (3,498)
24,502

Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Ai Yang Niu Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Aiyangniu”)

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 15 March
2022, Modern Farming entered into an equity transfer
agreement with certain sellers (the “Sellers”) and Aiyangniu
on 15 March 2022, pursuant to which the Sellers agreed to sell,
and Modern Farming agreed to purchase, 75% equity interests
in Aiyangniu at a total consideration of RMB287,775,000. The
above transaction constituted a connected transaction of the
Company and was completed on 28 June 2022.

Acquisition-related costs in relation to the acquisition of
Aiyangniu amounting to RMB2,331,000 have been excluded
from the consideration transferred and have been recognised
as an expense in 2022.

KEBARLEEESFNEERAAE
B4

BIEAAT B A202FE3815B R -
RAKEEGEE)BRETEF(ERDRES
4202238 158 5T RS e 0 1K
o BFRELEMRAREREEBRRE
EETEFN7S%EE  BREABARE
287,775,0007T » it X SRR R KIS
B BAH2022F6 A 28B 7R ©

(e

HWEERELERNKBHEBARAARE
2,331,0007c NEF A SRR E - WE R2022
FHRBAX -
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022: (continued)

Notes: (continued)
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(c)

Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Ai Yang Niu Technology c)

Co., Ltd. (“Aiyangniu”) (continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of

39. ¥%50tw

BZE2022F12A31BLLEE : @

BaE ()

B4 )@

BREAREEEFNEERARATE

KU BB B E R ERNAE

acquisition
RMB’000
ARBTT
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REE 1,692
Right-of-use assets FREEE 3,456
Other intangible assets Hib & i 37,285
Inventories FE 20,032
Trade and other receivables and prepayments FEUL R 5 BR 5K K B Ath & W R TR A IR TR 3R 136,083
Deferred tax assets BERIEE E 345
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR MRS 19,473
Pledged bank deposits EEMRITER 4,454
Trade and other payables JERHE B R R E Ath fE A 5118 (111,066)
Tax payable FERTHIA 4,177)
Bank borrowings SRITRER (22,721)
Lease liabilities HEBE (3,456)
Deferred tax liabilities BEHIEAE (6,563)
74,837

The receivables acquired from Aiyangniu with a fair value
of RMB129,678,000 at the date of acquisition had gross
contractual amounts of RMB130,191,000. The best estimate at
acquisition date of the contractual cash flows not expected to
be collected amounted to RMB513,000.

Non-controlling interests

The non-controlling interests of 25% equity interests in
Aiyangniu recognised at the acquisition date amounted
to RMB18,709,000 was measured by reference to the
proportionate share of recognised amounts of net assets of
Aiyangniu.

Goodwill arising on acquisition

Aiyangniu is mainly engaged in feed business. Goodwill arose
on the acquisition of Aiyangniu because the acquisition was
expected to leverage the industrial chain synergy advantages.
These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets.
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BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)  Acquisition of Inner Mongolia Ai Yang Niu Technology
Co., Ltd. (”Aiyangniu”) (continued)

39. B & @

BZE2022F12A31MBLEFE : @
Wik« (4)

o WBARLEEFNEERAIT(E
24 D@

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Aiyangniu W?ﬁgﬁqiﬂgﬁﬁmutﬂgﬁ
RMB’000
ARBTT
Purchase consideration BERE 287,775
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B RENRERIREEEY (19,473)
268,302

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December 2022
is profit of RMB21,252,000, loss of RMB3,783,000, and profit
of RMB15,731,000 attributable to the additional business
generated by Mufeng, Yilei, and Aiyangniu, respectively.
Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 included
RMB149,926,000, RMB65,902,000 and RMB497,754,000
generated from Mufeng, Yilei and Aiyangniu, respectively.

Had the acquisition of Mufeng, Yilei and Aiyangniu,
been completed on 1 January 2022, revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2022 of the Group would
have been RMB12,374,630,000, RMB12,329,813,000 and
RMB12,670,422,000, respectively and profit for the year
ended 31 December 2022 would have been RMB582,570,000,
RMB576,219,000 and RMB597,150,000, respectively. The pro
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had
the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2022, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ profit of the Group had
Mufeng, Yilei and Aiyangniu been acquired on 1 January
2022, the Directors calculated depreciation of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible
assets based on the recognised amounts of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and other intangible
assets at the date of the acquisition.

WBEBEHAREXENTE
HE2022F12A31B I EEREANE B
WE . FRREEFEENNILER S5
FEAE B T A R #21,252,0007T ~ BB A
R ¥3,783,0007T K F A R ¥ 15,731,000
JC e BZE2022F12A31BEFERNBRAER
EWE - FEEEESHIEENARE
149,926,0007T * A R#65,902,0007T & AR
#497,754,0007T °

iWF2022F 1 1B eI HRE - FER
TES  AEBEZE2022F12A8318IE4F
EHW Ao Bl A ARY12,374,630,000
7T AR®12,329,813,000t & AR
12,670,422,0007T + M E20229F12A831H
IEFER RS2 B A AR 582,570,000
7T AR#576,219,0007T & AR
597,150,000t ° HEERHEMHA A -
WA AIAR R HMEE R 20221 A 1H TR
AEEERSERHORARGEESE &
BIEREARREETEA -

FEEEMPR202F1 A1 HEWEKRE - 7%
RERFTHNERTAKENMEE D ME -
EXCREBEVE  BELRE ERAEEE
NEMETEERKER RN ERSET
BYE  BEMRE  ERAREENREME
FWEEITE
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40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

264

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
mainly includes bank borrowings, other borrowings, short
term debenture, long term bonds and lease liabilities as
disclosed in Notes 28, 29, 30, 31 and 32 respectively, net of
bank balances and cash and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital, share
premium and reserves.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of the review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. The Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the issues of new shares and the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M BRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # % 20234128318 L F /&

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

1. €T A

Categories of financial instruments TRIEEH

2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETIT

Financial assets: cRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost K AT EN S RE E 4,416,379 4,387,573

Equity instruments at FVTOCI BATHE AR M2 EBAR

B=TA 57,342 106,229
Derivative financial instruments PTHESRTAE 118,451 41,356
2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT

Financial liabilities: cEAasE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost WK AT EN S RmEaE 16,661,463 15,417,637
Derivative financial instruments PTHEESRMTA 20,359 58,034
Commitment to non-controlling interests HIEE IR s YRR 68,289 -

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include equity
instruments at FVTOCI, trade and other receivables, pledged
bank deposits, bank balances, trade and other payables, bank
borrowings, other borrowings, long term bonds, short term
debenture, derivative financial instruments and certain other
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in the respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

cREAREENBEERBE
AEENTIESRITABERATENAR
EEBANERTA BRESERRNE
fEUEKIR - EEMIRITIE - RITHERR
FEN B B E MR FIA - RITEK
HpfEsK - REES  EHREs 142
BMITANETHEMARE - ZFLR LA
BREEMEHHKE -

ZEeRTASRORERSETSER(E
KRR - FERREEGERRR)  EFE
R EREE SRR o T XEHAWAREE
BRERHBER - EEESEEAMRAR -
R K B B b EREUAR IR 36
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #Z= 2023128318 It F[E

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk

(i) Currency risk
As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
the following major monetary items and intra-group
balances denominated in foreign currency:

41. €I Ew
tREREENEERBE®

5 & b
() EEEE

HERESHKR  AEBHESB TSN
BAENETEEBEA REBADBLE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

USD denominated items EUFTEER
- pledged bank deposits and bank -BERRITERAR
balances IRITAEER 76,577 73,711
- bank borrowings - IRITERK (636,807) (1,048,268)
- long term bonds - REES (3,559,003) (3,493,016)
~intra-group balances -SEAEH (102,412) 112,644

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign
exchange exposures and may enter into foreign
currency forward contracts, foreign currency option
contracts or CFCCS, when necessary, to manage its
foreign exchange exposure.

Sensitivity analysis

2023: 2% (2022: 2%) is the sensitivity rate changes
which represented management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

AEBRBETHESINERRFE
WA RERT M IMNE BRI A4 - SNE 42
BHHCFCCSIMFBR) - UEBES
BEE 2t ©

B S AT
MR20235F + 2% (20224 : 2%) KYBURREK
BBRE SR EYHNEEE AR
BEIETLE -

oy -y
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # 22023 12831H It F &

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(1)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The Group was primarily subject to foreign currency
risk from the movement of the exchange rates between
RMB against USD. The sensitivity analysis below
includes USD denominated monetary items that are
not associated with a foreign currency forward contract,
a foreign currency option contract or CFCCS, as the
Group uses these derivative contracts as an economic
hedge of its currency risk on USD denominated
monetary items and its net exposure to variability in
changes in foreign currency rate is insignificant. At the
end of the reporting period, if the exchange rate had
been strengthened in RMB against USD by 2% and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's post-tax
profit for the reporting period would increase/(decrease)
as follow:

41. €I BEw
tREREENEERBE@®

T 45 & B (46)

(1)

EME R )

BURE 24 (480

AEEFEABRAAREEETE
KRB INE R o A NRRE DT
BIEEIINERIAEGH - INERIES LD
HCFCCSEMMUETEN SR
B AAAEEFEAZENEIES
HIEAREETFEEKEENELRE
B B 4 75 49 B EL S AN EE [ R E) )
BEFELTEKN - RBEHR - M
AREE R ETTFE2% - MATA M A]
BREARFIE  AIASERHREH
FE O Bk B 18 0 1) 8 8 20 T 38 n 7 Ok

L)

2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AREFIT
517 (3,724)

For a 2% weakening of the RMB against USD, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax
profit.

fisd ARWE H R TTRZ(E2% » BIAS S BR T
BEMNEERFHERNZE -
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

268

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to term deposits, fixed-rate bank borrowings,
other borrowings, short term debenture, long term
bonds and lease liabilities. The Group's cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly due to fluctuations in the
prevailing market interest rates on bank balances,
pledged bank deposits and bank borrowings which
carry interest at variable interest rates.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group's net interest rate
exposures and may enter into interest rate swap
contracts, when necessary, to manage its interest rate
exposure.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable
interest rate bank borrowings that are not associated
to an interest rate swap contract. Bank balances and
pledged bank deposits are excluded from the sensitivity
analysis since they are not considered sensitive to
fluctuation in interest rate. The analysis is prepared
assuming the variable interest rate bank borrowings
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 (2022: 50) basis
points increase or decrease represented management's
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

Sensitivity analysis

At the end of reporting period, if interest rates had
been increased/decreased by 50 (2022: 50) basis points
and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
post-tax profit would have decreased/increased by
RMBS5,704,000 (2022: RMB2,272,000) for the current year.
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A M BRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # 22023 12831H It F &

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
Market risk (continued)
(i)~ Other price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly

through its investments in listed equity securities
measured at FVTOCI.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on
the exposure to the fair value of equity price risk at the
reporting date.

If the prices of the investments in listed equity securities
had been 10% (2022: 10%) higher/lower, the other
comprehensive income would increase/decrease by
RMB2,208,000 (2022: RMB6,746,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group
holds an insurance to credit risks of certain trade receivables
of feeds. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with
its financial assets.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any
new customer, the Group uses an internal credit scoring
system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring
attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on trade balances individually or collectively with appropriate
groupings. In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

1. €T AEw

tREREENEERBE®

bkl )

(i) A EE R
AEBFERZAFEFTAEMETR
WAFTEN ETRESEFEEM®E Y
BARERERE R

BURE DT
GURE DM TR EE E ) R A E R
RN E B RN R FEMEE

W EMERFHFRENER LR T
BK10% (20224 : 10%) @ Bl EM 2 E
W A #3808 > A R 5 2,208,0007T
(20224 + AR#56,746,0007T) °

FEE R KRERE
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BARRKMIIN SR RS REENRE
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

270

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
(continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as approximately
57.14% (31 December 2022: 52.06%) of total trade receivables
as at 31 December 2023 was due from Customer A (31
December 2022: Customer A).

Bank balances and pledged bank deposits

The credit risks on pledged bank deposits and bank balances
are limited because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings and/or authorised banks in the PRC.

Approximately 21%, 13% and 11% of total pledged bank
deposits and bank balances were deposited in bank A,
bank B and bank C respectively as at 31 December 2023 (31
December 2022: 20%, 15% and 14% of total pledged bank
deposits and bank balances were deposited in bank C, bank
D and bank A respectively).

Other receivables

The management makes periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The management believes
that there are no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12m ECL. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group recognised loss allowance of
other receivables of RMB62,000(2022: RMB30,000).

Other than the concentration of credit risks of trade
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
mentioned above, the Group does not have any other
significant concentration of credit risk.
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41. €I BEw
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

EE R &R E T @

H fih JEYL 7 IE (48)
REBENIEERBRTRBIEATER

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Other receivables (continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

Internal credit

rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
A EEE R i P E 5 BRK HitSmEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default  Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL

and does not have any past-due amounts  credit-impaired

KRR HFEFRONERRE  BXSEEad 2HEHEEBR 12AAFRHEEER
IR - ﬂ'fm /UME
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - not Lifetime ECL - not

credit risk since initial recognition through  credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally or

external resources

Tt BB B AR B E R SN AR R 2 HIRHBEEER 2HIRREEER
EE B B 96 R AR B Z N -EEERE - EEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating that the asset  Lifetime ECL - credit-  Lifetime ECL - credit-
is credit-impaired impaired impaired
Bx BEBRTNEECRAGEERE EHIFRHREEEE HIFRREERERE
- EERE - EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off

is in severe financial difficulty and the

Group has no realistic prospect of

recovery

i BEBBENETGARBABRENT R
ARKETRA BRI E A EHRIE

R

MIH S
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

272

41. €I Ew

Financial risk management objectives and policies TREREENEERBE®
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) &R &R A @
Other receivables (continued) B fih JEY K IE (48)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRV ASERBEEREEBETENS
Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: MEEEERR
Internal credit Gross carrying Gross carrying
Notes rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount 2023 amount 2022
W& ABEETR  12BAR2HEHEEEER RESE2023% REBE02F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT
Financial assets at amortised costs
RBERATENEREE
Pledged bank deposits 26 N/A 12m ECL 42,002 187,339
BEARTER A 12EARSHEERE
Bank balances 26 N/A 12m ECL 2,641,470 2,361,909
BT TER 12EABHEESS
Other receivables 24 Low risk 12m ECL 196,238 192,857
H YR Vel 12EAEHEEESR
Bills receivable 24 Low risk 12m ECL 6,657 14,268
EREE vl 1EAESHEEESE
Trade receivables (Note)
e E 5% (fite)
- raw milk 24 Low risk Lifetime ECL (individual assessment, 976,705 922,754
not credit-impaired)
- B ivEl FHRBEEHR(ERE
BEEHE)
~feeds 24 Low risk Lifetime ECL (collective assessment, 538,412 710,411
not credit-impaired)
- fakt {ERE PRSI EEEE(GETT
BEERME
~feeds 24 Loss Lifetime ECL (individual assessment, 34,002 =
credit-impaired)
- gt B 2 ERMEERE(ER TS
EERE)
Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified s : BEKRE SRR AEECEREREY

approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade receivables individually or collectively with
appropriate groupings, of which these receivables are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to past
due information for the customers.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £2023F12831H It F /&

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. €T Emw
Financial risk management objectives and policies CRIEABEENBEERBEK®
(continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EE R ks &R E 7 @)
Other receivables (continued) HL 1t JE KR (%
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRIRREBE T ED EREWE FRR
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the RERBEHREEHENES -

simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

2 HATE AR 2 HTAH

FEEE FEEEE
(BEERME) (FERE) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMBTTT ARETT ARETT

As at 1 January 2022 72022%1H1A = = =
New financial assets originated: JRAERFTEBEE : 1,965 = 1,965
As at 31 December 2022 "2022512831H 1,965 - 1,965
Changes for trade receivables 720234 1 8 1H#ERH
recognised as at January 1, FEWE SRR EE
2023:
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE = 5,955 5,955
Transfer % (497) 497 =
Write-offs 8 - (74) (74)
New financial assets originated: JRAEMFT & FEE : = 11,261 11,261
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12H31H 1,468 17,639 19,107
The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is WBEERNBREBABYREN KR A K
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial [B] FRIE K R A K (B A EE R SR
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. WERF  URFEER/E)  AKEEHH
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has FEWE ZERK -

entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs
earlier.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

274

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group had net current liabilities of RMB1,594,681,000 as
at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: RMB541,093,000).
The Directors closely monitor the cash flows of the Group
and, upon maturity, would arrange the renewal and
refinancing of the borrowing facilities, when necessary, to
ensure the Group has sufficient funds to enable the Group
to meet its financial obligations. In addition, taking into
account, (i) the available credit facilities of approximately
RMB6,989,029,000 which remain unutilised as at 31 December
2023, of which an amount of RMB1,000,000,000 is from
Inner Mongolia Mengniu, a subsidiary of Mengniu, and the
remaining facilities are from licensed banks; (i) the expected
net cash inflows generated from the Group's operations for
the next twelve months, the Directors are satisfied that the
Group will be able to meet in full its financial obligations as
and when they fall due in the foreseeable future.

The Group finances their operations by using a combination
of borrowings and equity. Adequate lines of credit, including
a facility of RMB1,000,000,000 from Inner Mongolia Mengniu
are maintained to ensure necessary funds are available when
required. The Directors monitor the liquidity position of
the Group on a periodical basis to ensure the availability of
sufficient liquid funds to meet all obligations. With reference
to the existing unutilised facilities, the Directors consider
the liquidity and source of funds for the daily operation and
capital expenditure are sufficient.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # 22023 12831H It F &

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group's liquidity
analysis for its derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted gross (inflows) and
outflows on those derivatives that require gross settlement.
When the amount payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed
has been determined by reference to the projected interest
rates as illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of
the reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group's
derivative financial liabilities is prepared based on the
contractual maturities as the management consider that the
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of
the timing of the cash flows of derivatives.

41.

‘ R
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41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

41. €@ I Ew

tREREENEERBE®

Liquidity risk (continued) WENE & Ek
Total
Interest Within -~ 181 days Over undiscounted  Carrying
rates 180 days to365days  1-2years 2years  cash flows amount
181% RRR
Rz 180K E365KA  1E2F BEE RENBAR M
%  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARETX
As at 31 December 2023 R2023%12A318
Non-derivative financial HiTEEBEE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ENEFEARAMEN
4| 4,563,322 596,269 2,081 3,120 5164,792 5,164,792
Fixed interest rate bank EERIEH
borrowings 1.65-8.16 1,189,256 1,026,641 2,444,978 1,939,196 6,600,071 6,233,012
Variable interest rate bank FERIRER
borrowings 1.50-6.85 42,340 100,796 80,706 1,103,883 1,327,725 1,157,431
Fixed interest rate other EREMER
borrowings 3.35-7.65 264,867 92,966 4,186 226,011 588,030 547,225
Fixed interest rate long term TERERES
bonds 213 38,463 38,045 76,299 3693948 3,846,755 3,559,003
Lease liabilities HERR 3.22-5.90 180,683 65,817 194,127 2,390,058 2,830,685 2,020,095
Other ligbilties HthBR - - 9,109 10,650 19759 19,759
6,278,931  1,920534 2,811,486 9,366,866 20,377,817 18,701,317
Derivatives-gross settlement #1418 - {#HLE
Foreign currency option HNEBES Y
contracts
=inflow -mA - - - (24,700) (24,700) (24,700)
- outflow - - - - 42,042 42,042 42,042
Foreign currency forward HNEEBAY
contracts
=inflow -mA (212,481) - - - (212,481)  (211,593)
- outflow - i 215,511 - - - 215,511 214,610
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41. €T Emw
Financial risk management objectives and policies CRIEABEENBEERBEK®
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) TENE & E R
Total
Interest Within-~ 181 days Over undiscounted ~ Carrying

rates  180days  t0365days  1-2years 2years cash flows amount
181X ABH

ME180RA E3RA 1528 BEXF ROREER E(E

%  RMB'OO0O ~ RMBO00 ~ RMB000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000

AREFL ARBTT ARETR ARBTT ARETR ARETR

As at 31 December 2022 #2022%12A318
Non-derivative financial Pt RER

liabilities
Trade and other payables EREFEARAMEN

B 2221314 725,381 - - 2,946,695 2946,695

Fixed interest rate bank EERITEH

borrowings 165-8.16 1,872,524 1,718,037 1719113 2,045,188 7.414.862 7,050,995
Variable interest rate bank FERITER

borrowings 1.65-6.85 1,381,708 13534 63,839 107,030 1,566,111 1,532,590
Fixed interest rate other EBEMER

borrowings 3.59-12.00 10,161 13,328 83,143 198,166 304,798 293819
Fixed interest short term TERERES

debenture 400 101,000 = = = 101,000 100,522
Fixed interest rate long term EERERES

bonds 213 37,822 37,205 75232 3,632,353 3,782,612 3,493,016
Lease liabilities HEafk 3.38-590 6273 51460 118728 1,294,484 1527408 1,068,045

5687265 2558945 2120055 7217221 17643486 16485682

Derivatives-gross settlement #1418 - {AHHE

Foreign currency option HNEBELY
contracts
=inflow -imA (15,964) - - (23,6719) (39,643) (39,643)
- outflow - il 30,352 - - 67,325 91,677 97,671
Note: The amounts included above for variable interest rate PESE : W% BN A0 ML B R & B R E /O 7
borrowings are subject to change if changes in variable interest REFAER AL EERBEN
rates differ from these estimates of interest rates determined SRERMAFE -

at the end of the reporting period.
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42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 42. BEEFEfiEL B ENEHIR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities TERHANAEEREETDMELEABENE
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- B BRERASKIFREED -  ETHAE
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are FREERRERECKIARKRERER
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be RASBGEReRERTHHEARE T
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows FEANRERENLZEFRE -
as cash flows from financing activities.
Other
liabilities -
commitment
Derivative to non-
Bank  Longterm  Short term Other Lease financial  controlling
borrowings bonds  debenture  borrowings liabilities instruments interests
(Note 28)  (Note 31) (Note 30) (Note29)  (Note 32) (Note 25) (Note 33) Total
At
HEER
fER REER  EHRER  HtRR  HERE FLSRIR  EENER
(Hrst2e) (KrzE31) (Kr3E30) (Kr3t29) (KrzE32) (WaE2s)  ((W&E33) gt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2022 R02E1R18 4,666,016 3191719 - 637,004 57,512 43,51 - 9,110,802
Financing cash flows HERERE 3,369,955 (69,723) 100,000 (427,483 (93,127) (24.417) - 28525
Acquired on business SHatinie
combination 154 444 - - 72378 97,948 - - 324,770
New leases entered MAURE - = = = 496,207 = = 496,207
Eliminated on termination of %1t EF i3
leases = = = = (37,335 = = (37,335
Foreign exchange HNE 115,859 291,903 = = = = = 407762
Interest expenses lERx M3 9,17 52 11920 36,840 = = 405,710
Fair value adjustments NERR - - - - - (745) - (7 456)
At 31 December 2022 RA2E12A318 8583585 3493016 100522 293819 1,008,045 16,678 - 13555665
Financing cash flows HERENE (1,541,884) (73,829)  (101,508) 234,551 (166,543) (34,806) 68,289  (1,615,730)
Acquired on business SHatinieE
combination - - - - 1,187 - - 1,187
New leases entered HiIuHE - - - - 1,046,490 - - 1,046,490
Eliminated on termination of %1t B34
leases - - - - (1,486) - - (1,486)
Foreign exchange S 18,217 57,072 - - - - - 75,289
Interest expenses MR 330,525 82,744 986 18,855 72,402 - - 505,512
Fair value adjustments NYERE - - - - - (79,964) - (79,964)
At 31 December 2023 0235124318 7,390,443 3,559,003 - 547,225 2,020,095 (98,092) 68,289 13,486,963
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M BRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # 22023 12831H It F &

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
entered into certain new lease agreements for the use
of leased properties, lands, and farms. On the lease
commencement, the Group recognised right-of-use assets
of RMB1,046,490,000 (2022: RMB505,578,000), lease liabilities
of RMB1,046,490,000 (2022: RMB496,207,000) and deferred
income of nil (2022: RMB9,371,000), respectively.

In addition, during the year ended 31 December 2023, other
receivable of RMB30,000,000 was offset by the same amount
of consideration payable to the seller of Yilei according to the
agreement.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, trade
receivables of RMB38,961,000 was offset by the same
amount of consideration payable to the seller of Zhongyuan
Muye Company Limited (“Zhongyuan”) according to a
supplementary agreement.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value of the Group's biological assets, financial
assets and financial liabilities that are measured at

fair value less costs to sell or fair value on a recurring
basis

The Group's biological assets are measured at fair value less
costs to sell, certain financial instruments are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period. The Directors
have set up a valuation team, which is headed up by the
chief financial officer of the Company, to determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 and Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group
engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
The valuation team works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the model. The chief financial officer reports the
valuation team’s findings to the Directors semi-annually to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets
and liabilities.

43.

44,

EXFRERS
REZE2023F12A31BILFE » A&EH
AIVEBEEWE LM EBISERNE
FTHHEEHE HERBKE  A£EH
FIERFERELSE  HEABRELZRA
AR #1,046,490,0007T (20224F : AR
505,578,0007T) + AR #1,046,490,0007T
(20224F : AR#496,207,0007T) & Z (2022
F: AR¥9,371,0007T) °

BESN - B ZE 20231231 B ILEE - HApb
JE < ZRIE A R #530,000,0007T 1 48 15 175 3% &
NFEZEHFHWHERSEREMKHY -

REZE2022F 128318 ILFE - BRE SR
AR 438,961,000 #5415 15 18 7t 19 vk FE 1
P EERAG(HR)EFNERSE
REFTIKE -

AT (E &
BEEMERENUQNPEBMEERERA
FEFENEAEELEYEE  SHEE
EemAEnAFE

AEBENEYEERA FER LSRRG
& AETERTARSHRERARZAFERT
B -EFCRUMBEERR  AXRFREREY
BERE  NETHEENMGERMEAFE
AFEMNRARE -

BETEERBBENRFER - AKEERA
ATSABRSE - WE—RARE-ENE
ABBEAAR  AEESZREFE=1RER
HERMETHE - AEEKESERIMNERG
BEEZAE  /RUETSENBETA
RBARE - BEMBEEELFREEER
HEEGNERABEEERABRFER
HHREA -

“EC=F5% PEARKURERFRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N

e MBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #Z= 2023128318 It F[E

44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

280

Fair value of the Group's biological assets, financial
assets and financial liabilities that are measured at

fair value less costs to sell or fair value on a recurring
basis (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these assets and liabilities are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well
as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (Level 1, 2 and 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.

44, AFEFTEw
BREEMEEUNRZEREERAE A
FEAENAEEEYEE  SREE
REmBEN A E®

TREH#AEREQFEENRAZRIEN
AEEEENNEETXEEENBENAYF
BRI MAERNGBETEREARE) -
KX HEEMRE DA FERRIKF(F
ZR=BNER

Fair value hierarchy DR ERA
Fair value as at  Fair value as at
31 December 31 December Fair
Assets (liabilities) 2023 2022  value hierarchy
R20234F 20224
12HA31H 12A3318
EE(ER) NS A E NEEHA
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBFIT
Biological assets EMEE Level 3
11,927,977 10,631,171 E=M
Derivative financial instruments 74 &R T A
— Interest rate swaps — F| =42 51 Level 2
- 16,945 E_H
~ Foreign currency option - SNEERRE S A Level 2
contracts - 5,257 E4
— Foreign currency forward - SNERERE A Level 2
contracts 460 = F_
- CFCCS - CFCCS Level 2
117,991 19,154 EH
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BRAFEFT AR EE
WA EZTA
— Listed equity securities - FTRERES Level 1
22,082 67,461 FE—R
— Unlisted equity investments - LEmERRE Level 3
35,260 38,768 E=/R
Derivative financial instruments T4 &g T A
~ Foreign currency option - SNEERRE S A Level 2
contracts (17,342) (58,034) E—m
~ Foreign currency forward - SNERERE A Level 2
contracts (3,017) = B
Other liabilities Hih & &
- Commitment to — ¥R B RS YRR Level 3
non-controlling interests (68,289) - FE=

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023
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44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M BRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # 22023 12831H It F &

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

The following table shows the valuation techniques used

in measuring level 2 and level 3 fair values, as well as the

significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation models:

44. PEEFE®

RFEFEREANEESE

PRI EBRE R RE =R FERA
MBETE - KERBEERAANEANTH
B A8

Inter-relationship between significant
unobservable inputs and fair value

Types Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs measurements
EXTUBEBARBENTEHE
Eofid fhER%E EXTTRRRARE ZENEERE
Foreign currency Discounted cash flow N/A N/A
forward contracts FRATRE TEm TiEA
HNEREAN Future cash flows are estimated based on
forward exchange rates (from observable
exchange rate at the end of reporting
period) and contracted exchange rates,
discounted at a rate that reflects the
credit risk of various counterparties.
AFRERETREEINE(RERE
HRNATBENE) R DEX (G -
BRBREEUFINEERRD
MREH -
Foreign currency Garman-Kohlhagen model N/A N/A
option contracts Garman-Kohlhagenf&#! ack: TER
HNEHRAY
Interest rate swaps Discounted cash flow N/A N/A
ME i BRAENE TEH TR

Future cash flows are estimated based on
forward interest rates (from observable
interest rate at the end of reporting
period) and contracted interest rates,
discounted at a rate that reflects the
credit risk of various counterparties.

ARBEERENRERBNE(RERE
BROATERME) RENFIRA -
RRBSEHTFHNEERRY
ES 32

“EC=F5% PEARKURERFRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #Z= 2023128318 It F[E

44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

44. AFEFEmw
AT EFEFERANEES Z@®

(continued)

Inter-relationship between significant
unobservable inputs and fair value

Types Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs measurements
EXFABERARBANYENE

fid fhEN%E EXFUBRGARE ZBNREEE

CFCCS Garman-Kohlhagen model and N/A N/A

CFCCS Discounted cash flow TR TEm

Garman-Kohlhagen2 % KA B &7 &

Since it is fixed-to-fixed cross currency
swap, future cash flows are estimated
based on the contract. Different cash
flows in different currencies are
discounted via the corresponding curves,
and netted into the same currency as at
the valuation date.

AR EEEZETNEEE RS
FRASTREDREA DRI -
TREENARRS T2 RBARN
BRI - WEEERKERE
EHFEHE

An increase/decrease in the discount for

Unlisted equity Market approach Fair value is estimated based on value

investments s

282
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of comparable listed companies and

discounted for lack of liquidity.
AFETEIALR E AN

BEFLETRARDET RS «

lack of liquidity would result in a
decrease/increase in the fair value
measurement of the unquoted equity
investments.
RBMETREEREN/ H D TERK
BEESRANTETERD /M-



44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

(continued)

Types

b

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M BRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # 22023 12831H It F &

Valuation technique

fhiER %

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTTRRAARE

44. PEEFE®
AT EFEFERANEES Z@®

Inter-relationship between significant
unobservable inputs and fair value
measurements
EXFABERARBANYENE
ZBHHERE

Heifers and calves

N R

The fair value of 14 months old heifers
is determined by reference to the local
market selling price.

TEEA NG ATENSEZEN
TMHERET °

The fair values of heifers and calves at
age- group less than 14 months are

determined by subtracting the estimated

feeding costs required to raise the cows
from their respective age at the end of
the reporting period to 14 months

plus the margins that would normally be
required by a raiser. Conversely, the fair
values of heifers at age group older than

14 months are determined by adding the
estimated feeding costs required to raise

the heifers from 14 months old to their
respective age at the end of the
reporting period plus the margins that
would normally be required by a raiser.
F/ R A A B s B A B R
NEMATEDERERT EHE
RERBESANFEEEETNER
FAMMEH HENA - WEEH—R
FENBMER - Rt EARTE
fEASERARIN MR TEDE
MER S4B +REREEER
FERBERRNFEAANEHAE
B MEEE-RAANENER «

Average local market selling prices of the
heifers of 14 months old were estimated
at RMB21,300 per head at 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB22,000).

RABE12A318 - TEEAH
NN B TR E B
BEEARE213007T
(2022 + AR¥22,0007T) «

Estimated average feeding costs per

head plus margin that would normally be
required by a raiser for heifers and calves

younger than 14 months old are
RMB17,869 at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB19,287); average estimated feeding
costs per head plus margin that would
normally be required by a raiser for
heifers older than 14 months old are
RMB17,976 at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB19,415).

20235128318 + FAVR T I{EA K
MRS - BREET
AERAMEEE—RAETEA
ARE17 8697 (20025 -
ARH19,28770) - R2023F 127318
FARTREARNNEEME -
BRSO REN LA
—RAENMBEAARK17 9767
(2022% : ARB194157C) «

R

“EC=F5% PEARKURERFRAR

An increase in the estimated local market
selling price used would result in an
increase in the fair value measurement of
the heifers and calves, and vice versa.

R B TS EEE RSN

MR RTER B -
RZTdh »

Anincrease in the estimated feeding costs
plus the margin that would normally
be required by a raiser used would result
in an increase/decrease in the fair value
measurement of the heifers and calves
older/younger than 14 months old, and

vice versa.
FTRMEHRERAME R B M
AFBEMEETAR,/ A+ EEA

BN RN D B BRI
WY R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

N

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & £2023%12A31H IE &

44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

284

(continued)

Significant unobservable inputs

EATUBRGARE

44. AFEFEmw
AT EFEFERANEES Z@®

Inter-relationship between significant
unobservable inputs and fair value
measurements
EXFABERARBANYENE
ZBHEERE

Types Valuation technique

ot fhEN%E

Milkable cows The fair values of milkable cows are
4 determined by using the multi-period

excess earnings method, which is based

on the discounted future cash flows

to be generated by such milkable cows.
4R TEERERZBREREE

ERBhEBNtELNER

KRBEREET -

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023

The estimated feed costs per kg of raw
milk used in the valuation process
range from RMB2.01 to RMB2.13 as at
31 December 2023 (2022: range from
RMB2.13 to RMB2.30), based on the
historical average feed costs per kg of
raw milk after taking into consideration
of inflation.

BEBF12ANBILEE  fHERETR
RRME DT R DL AR
BARB20ITEARB213T
(20225 - ARB2131E
ARB2307) - HERGRTREH
B POmERALHR

A milkable cow could have as many as
six lactation cycles. Estimated average
daily milk yield at each lactation cycle
ranges from 33.50 kg to 35.70 kg as at 31
December 2023 (2022: 32.36kg to 34.56
kg), depending on the number of the
lactation cycles and the individual
physical condition.

BN ALY - R2023F128318
BB T98R
ENENTRNATEBIOAT
(20225 : 2R E
US6ART) - RRABHKE SR
{ERIFBARME o

An increase in the estimated feed costs
per kg of raw milk used would result in a
decrease in the fair value measurement
of the milkable cows, and vice versa.

FRANG AT BRI AER AN
B AT ERE TR
2 IR9% ©

An increase in the estimated daily milk
yield per head used would result in an
increase in the fair value measurement of
the milkable cows, and vice versa.

FRMEE B8R & A ENEE M EH
MEATEFBRE  R2HA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R Y R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £2023F12831H It F /&

44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 44. R FEETTE @
Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements AV EFEEANEELT 2@

(continued)

Inter-relationship between significant
unobservable inputs and fair value

Types Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs measurements
EXFABERARBANYENE
ofid fhER%E EXFUBRGARE ZBNREEE
Milkable cows Estimated future market price for raw milk A increase in the estimated average
(continued) range from RMB3.91 to RMBA4.15 per selling price of raw milk used would
48 kg at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB4.27  result in a much higher percentage
to RMB4.38 per kg). increase in the fair value measurement
RNBF128318 B ARBERTTHE of the milkable cows, and vice versa.
AEATARB3IITELIST PR RED M & B M A3
(2022 : R ARBAZIT M4 RTEFEHEAL LM -
F4387) RZTRA

Discount rate for estimated future cash flow An increase in the estimated discount rate

used is 12.50% at 31 December 2023 used would result in a decrease in the fair
(2022:12.50%). value measurement of the milkable cows,

W02BF128318 » FIAGHAK and vice versa.
REMEMERER1250% FRME MR RE NSRS ATE
(2022 + 12.50%) ° SETHE - R2HA -

":_‘ .'“ "o —Eo=FEH PERRNRBRRERAE 285



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & £2023%12A31H IE &

44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Valuation techniques used in fair value measurements

(continued)

Types

ofid

Valuation technique

fhERE

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTUBRBARE

44. P EFE®
AR EFEFANGES Z@

Inter-relationship between significant
unobservable inputs and fair value
measurements
EXTIBRGARBRALYENE
ZBHEERE

Commitment to
non-controlling
interests

IR RN

286

Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model
(The obligation to make up the
corresponding shortfall is considered as
put option granted to Anhui Suida)
R - R R ERE
(RREERONZBRERA
RYe@iREnRa e

Discounted cash flow

HRATRE

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023

Volatility of 30.62% was estimated based
on median of historical volatilities of the
comparable companies for a period from
31 December 2023 to maturity date.

BETLBAFNBF12A31Z
N RHRHOE L RBE B
REER3062% °

Risk-free interest rate of 3.14% was
estimated based on the Hong Kong Govt
BVAL Curve with maturity matching to
the expected maturity date.

314%EBBFE IR EEBBTBVAL
iRt E - BRERPIHARAR -

Dividend yield of 3.29%
RE K= %E329%

The fair value of obligation to pay the
dividends are estimated based on profit
estimation of Modern Farming Wuhe in
respect of the years ending 31 December
2024 and 2025.

XREEBOATED
BERAHE LT Z204% R 20255
124318 LEEMEMBRIG -

An increase in the volatility would result in
an increase in the obligation, and vice

versa.
RBRMEMBEREHOEM
R TR °

An increase in the risk-free interest would
result in a decrease in the obligation, and
vice versa.

RERFZNENHEREBORD -
RZTH

Anincrease in dividend yield would result
in an increase in the obligation, and vice
versa.

REKEEREMEETEHAEN -
2 7R85

Anincrease in the profit estimation would
result in an increase in the obligation.

MR IR S S B E SR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M BRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £2023F 12 A31H 1L F &

44. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

R 4. v

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

44. PEEFE®

F=MOFEFAENHIR

Equity

instruments

at FVTOCI

BEAFEFA

Hib2mEU AL

EHEITAE

RMB'000

ARETIT

Balance at 1 January 2022 FA20224F1 A1 H #4564 2,655
Additions NE 45,495
Total losses in other comprehensive income REMEEUR AR EIEZE (9,382)
At 31 December 2022 2022912 A31H 38,768
Total losses in other comprehensive income REMEERAREELEE (3,508)
At 31 December 2023 F2023%F12A31H 35,260

The reconciliations for fair value measurements of the
biological assets are disclosed in Note 22.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The fair value of the long term bonds was USD440,961,500
(equivalent to RMB3,123,198,000) (31 December 2022:
USD424,362,500 (equivalent to RMB2,955,515,000))
which was classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy
based on quoted prices in active markets and its carrying
amount amounted to USD502,492,000 (equivalent to
RMB3,559,003,000) (31 December 2022: USD501,539,000
(equivalent to RMB3,493,016,000)) as at 31 December 2023.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate
their fair values.

EMEEANFEFENHREENMFE22

VHREFEEUQAFEFTENERE
EREBMEENAFE

REEH BN QA FEA440,961,5003 70 (48
BN ARE3,123,198,0007T) (20224 12
A31H : 424,362,500 T (FHE RN AR
2,955,515,0007T)) © RIBER/ER TS L&Y
REWDEAAFERBOE—HF - ER
2023412 A31 B W AR & £502,492,0003%
T (B E M A R #3,559,003,0007T) (20224
12A318 : 501,539,000% 7T FHE R AR
3,493,016,0007T)) °

EER/EAMBRRARBENAEN

HiteRMEENSRABENREAEEEQF
BHE%E -

SECCEFR PERRKERRERAT 287



N(BJ'ES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= A

=R E ey

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #Z= 2023128318 It F[E

W

45. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 45. EREE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Capital expenditure contracted but not MBI - BB &R

provided for in respect of acquisition of EERTAERGHRBED

property, plant and equipment BARRY 281,130 261,798

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

288

(a)

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, during the current year, the Group

46. A X5
RS MBEREEMBOFABREE
O RAERE - AE W BT

(a)

entered into the following transactions with related P
parties:
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREETIT
Mengniu Group S4HEE
Sales of raw milk $HE SRR 9,518,407 9,201,510
Purchase of liquid milk R R 24 2,350 690
Purchase of feeds BREE fR R 8,496 60,144
Associates and a joint venture BENRREERE
Sales of feeds 55 R 44,557 10,549
Sales of biological assets SHEAWMEE - 84,115
Purchase of feeds REE R 48,188 26,634
Purchase of power and utilities REBRER M AR 44,034 39,182
Purchase of raw materials BREE R R 5,785 6,550
Purchase of equipment R - 11,084

The sales and purchase prices were determined on
mutually agreed terms based on prices offered to
independent third parties.

BEEERIRERNBLE =7RED
BIRIZET 1 E M IRRETE °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M BRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £2023F12831H It F /&

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements, at the end of the reporting period,

46. R R Z @
(b) BGEMBHRREMIBOFIEES
Gh - REREHIR AEBHBEH LA

the Group had the following balances with related TEI A ER
parties:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AREFT
Mengniu Group S45HE
Trade receivables FEWE 5 8RR
—raw milk - [REH 874,274 849,273
Prepayments Tt IE
= liquid milk - REEY - 3,118
Trade and other payables FET B 5 BR R R o FE At
B
= liquid milk - REEH 47 =
—feeds - gR 19 =
— outsourced research and - INBEREE
development 6,242 -
Trade payables under supplier finance — HER B E ZHE TH
arrangements JERTE ZERR 2,860,604 =
Associates and a joint venture BENRREEDE
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 BR 3 K E Ath B UKL
B
~feeds - Akt 21,954 9,398
—biological assets -EYEE 36,785 61,915
Prepayments BT RIE
—equipment - &iE - 2,677
Trade and other payables JETE 5 BRAR N H e A~
RIE
—feeds — gAY 4,609 23,390
- power and utilities - BeIR KA ARk 3,293 6,591
- raw materials - R # 3,186 1,878
- equipment - B - 10,029
“_‘t: “ECCZHEFHR RERKRKURERRERLT

s

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #Z= 2023128318 It F[E

2 =

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

290

(c) Other borrowings

46. BB AR @

() EABERK

Interest
expense
accrued As at
As at Drawdown during Repayment 31 December
Category 1 January 2023 during the year the year  during the year 2023
M023% FRRi #2023%
B5 1A1H FnEs MERX FrEE 128318
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETTR ARETTR ARETR ARETT
Mengniu loans SHEH 35,785 255,000 5,449 (40,236) 255,998
Interest
As  Addition due Drawdown expense As at
at1January  toacquisition during during Repayment 31 December
2022 of subsidiaries the year theyear  during the year 222
LN 120226
R20251 718 Mg FREE  FRNERX FREE 12A31H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AEETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT
Mengniu loans FHER 495,466 69,269 35,749 5216 (569,915) 35,785

Mengniu loans carry interests at fixed rates from 3.35%
to 3.90% (31 December 2022: 3.85% to 5.70%) per

annum as at 31 December 2023.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023

R2023F12A31H » REEFZRET
F K3 35%E3.90% (2022512 A 31

H : 3.85%%5.70%):t &8 °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R Y R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # £2023F12831H It F /&

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 46. BB A X F w

(d) Compensation of key management personnel d EEEEASHEN
The emoluments of key management during the NTRFEEERAS NS AR
reporting period are as follows: &
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

Salaries and other benefits e kEMET 11,822 11,239
Performance related bonuses RIFHERTEAT 10,916 17,060
Recognition of equity-settled RIR IR AL AR D
share-based payments FANEOENE 16,882 13,935
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3R 4@ Fl| 51 E 5% 921 776
40,541 43,010
47. SUBSIDIARIES 47. B~ E]
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 M2023F12A318 * ARG EZHEBAF]
December 2023 are as follows: BT
Place of
incorporation/
establishment/ Paid up capital
Name of subsidiaries operations at 31 December 2023 Equity interest attributable to the Company ~ Principal activities
AL/ 20235128318
WEAREHE R/ $B4% BHRER ARREERE IEED
2023 2022
2023 0025

Directly ~Indirectly ~ Directly  Indirectly
E# 3 B B

% % % %
Modern Farming (Notes i The PRC RMB3, 774,696,441 - 98.36 < 9836 Production of milk
B (B () HE ARE3,774696 4417 EEE
Modern Farming (Shanghe) Co., Ltd. (Note i The PRC RMB840,000,000 - 98.36 - 98.36  Breeding dairy cows and
production of milk
BRUE ) BR A3 (W) HE AR 840,000,007 AR REEL]
Modern Farming (Zhangjiakou) Co,, Ltd. (Note i)~ The PRC RMB430,000,000 - 98.36 = 9836 Breeding dairy cows and
production of milk
RRUE(RFD)BRAR () HE AR 430,000,000 HENEREEF]

LM
s

o —",
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #Z= 2023128318 It F[E

47 o S U BS' DIARI ES (continued)

47. B A T w

Place of
incorporation/
establishment/ Paid up capital
Name of subsidiaries operations at 31 December 2023 Equity interest attributable to the Company Principal activities
e/ 1420235128318
WEAREE R/ $54Y BHRER RRAEERE ITEH
2023 202
2023% N0F
Directly ~Indirectly ~ Directly  Indirectly
E# B E% 3
% % % %
Modern Farming (Baoji) Co., Ltd. (Note ii The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 98.36 - 98.36  Breeding dairy cows and
production of milk
AR (ER) AR AR (W) e AR 50,000,007 WENFREEF
Modern Farming Wuhe (Note ii& Note 33 (i) The PRC RMB394,818,853 - 87.15 o 9836 Breeding dairy cows and
production of milk
BRIER (Wi RMs33;) e ARE394,818,8537L WEN REEF])
Modern Farming (Shuangcheng) Co,, Ltd. (Note i)~ The PRC RMB20,000,000 - 98.36 = 9836 Breeding dairy cows and
production of milk
RRYE () AR AR (W) hE AR 20,000,000 HENEREEF]
Modern Farming (Chabei) Co., Ltd. (Note i) The PRC RMBA90,000,000 - 98.36 - 98.36  Breeding dairy cows and
production of milk
RRUE(E) BB A3 () e AR 90,000,007 WENFREEF]
Zhongyuan (Notes i) The PRC RMB380,000,000 - 98.36 o 9836 Breeding dairy cows and
production of milk
b (3 i) il AR380,0000007C AENFREEH]
Fuyuan (Notes i&ii) The PRC RMB1,522,400,000 - 99.07 = 9907 Production of milk
BR (i) e ARE1,522,4000007C R
Modern Grass Industry Co., Ltd. (Note ii The PRC RMB328,965,800 - 98.49 = 9836 Feedbusiness
RREZARAE () hE AR 3289658007 AHER
Aiyangniu (Note i) The PRC RMB40,000,000 - 7377 = 7377 Digital intelligence
platform business
BE(HHi) hE AR 40,000,007 YETLEH

292

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023



47.

48.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M BRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # 22023 12831H It F &

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

i The entity was established in the PRC and became a sino-
foreign investment enterprise.

ii. These entities were established in the PRC as domestic
companies and owned by Modern Farming.

iii. As at 31 December 2023, 100.00% (2022: 100.00%) of equity
interests in Zhongyuan and 56.65% (2022: 56.65%) of equity
interests in Fuyuan were pledged to bank borrowings of the
Group (Note 28).

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of year 2023 and 2022 except for Modern Farming which
has issued short term debenture at a principal amount of
RMB100,000,000 during the year ended 31 December 2022,
as detailed in Note 30.

DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group that have material non-controlling
interests:

Place of
incorporation and

principal place of ~ and voting rights held by non-

Proportion of ownership interests

47.

48.

Profit for the year allocated to

Ft B A B o

gt -

i ZEBESRBEKY WK AETPIMNEED
%o

ii. ZEETEREDBEKY  (EABRARNR - B
BRBEEBRHES -

i, FA2023%F12A318 » B THI100.00% (2022
4 1 100.00%) B& # & = JR #)56.65% (2022
F 1 56.65%) RIECHERIEAAEBIERIT
B IR EIR (FT5E28) o

BRIRAR AR E (EE) NE E2022F128318
IEFEEETA£ AR 100,000,0007T 5
B e & GERMIFE30) 9N - REE2023F &
202212 A3 HIEFEEREWB AR R
BITAMERES -

BEERFERESNFEZEN
BRRNFRS

TR FEEEREREENARE IS
BB RIS

Accumulated

Name of subsidiary business controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
MR L BER FERBRA A RES
WEBLRER TREXBE RERELA PEEFEREZHFAEF itk ERER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2023% 2000 2023% 0005 2023% 0004
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTR AREFT ARETT AREFT
Modern Farming The PRC 1.64% 1.64% 2,566 15,096 179,504 175,762
BRAE(RE) i

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set
out below. The summarised financial information below
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

BRAGA EAFER A s ) A R E B R 7]
WM BERMRENT - TXHBERBRE
SERRIBEHATAN T

“EC=F5% PEARKURERFRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B B 55 ¥R R B Rt

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #Z= 2023128318 It F[E

48. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

Modern Farming and its subsidiaries

48. BEERFERESNWIEZEM
BATANFHERE®

BERBEGEERRENEATF

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Current assets mENEE 7,192,884 8,283,631
Non-current assets JERENEE 23,741,808 20,195,963
Current liabilities k=Y (8,738,926) (8,940,036)
Non-current liabilities FEREEE (9,425,133) (7,439,860)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A2 Bl A A FE(h 12,128,854 11,720,515
Non-controlling interests of Modern Farming ~ #MEBA% 5 FEAG O IR A 4R 3
attributable to outside shareholders (EE)FEIE Mgz 179,504 175,762
Non-controlling interests of Modern Farming’s IR U4 (SR E) KB A Y
subsidiaries IR A 462,275 203,421
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R Y R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 £ Z= 2023128318 [t F /&

48. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL

48. ERERFERERHNIFZEK

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

Modern Farming and its subsidiaries (continued)

BARINFRE®

BERBEEERENE 2T @w

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2023 31/12/2022
HZE2023F HE2022F
12A31H 12A31H
IEFEE WEFE
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Revenue WA 13,458,223 12,295,091
Expenses 5 13,273,848 11,467,320
Profit attributable to owners of the Company ZNA A% A AFE (L@ T 174,100 810,002
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests N2l A% 5 FE(E IR (U2 (2 E)
of Modern Farming attributed to outside FEFE AR M 55 FE AL B3 7
shareholders 2,566 15,096
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests IR (RE)NB A )
of Modern Farming’s subsidiaries JEEE R 2 B {1 A )i 7 7,709 2,673
Net cash inflow from operating activities LEREIR S R AERE 5,460,305 1,585,679
Net cash outflow from investing activities BN R FEE (3,854,375) (3,923,505)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing BEEEHIRS (R RAFE
activities (1,666,723) 2,742,035
Net cash inflow Be RN FRE (60,793) 404,209

“EC=F5% PEARKURERFRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBERRNE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #Z= 2023128318 It F[E

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Information about the financial position of the Company at

49. KR T B BMR KRR B

RBEPRRBAAR M BRARNERE

the end of the reporting period includes: 1=
2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥E T AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries WERHBAF 9,551,553 9,398,519
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NG E 3,191,055 3,792,622
Derivative financial instruments PTEEmT A 117,991 19,154
Bank balances IRITHE R 32,089 =
12,892,688 13,210,295
CURRENT ASSETS MENVEE
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE K E fth FE W SR IE 15 581
Bank balances and cash RITEHRNR S 87,866 92,969
Derivative financial instruments TSR TAE 460 18,260
88,341 111,810
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Other payables HAth FE T 5RIE 287 571
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR EENGI B 388,555 437,534
Long term bonds REGES 35,536 34,944
Bank borrowings SRITIEFR - 867,009
Derivative financial instruments PTEERBT A 3,017 14,388
427,395 1,354,446
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES MEE BT (339,054) (1,242,636)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #BER S AR 12,553,634 11,967,659

296 China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB B85 ¥R Y R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 2023128318 [t /&

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

49. AT MBR R R FE®

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ETF T ARETT
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARK
Share capital [N 675,869 675,869
Reserves R 7,700,149 7,790,072
TOTAL EQUITY B 8,376,018 8,465,941
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBAE
Bank borrowings RITIERK 636,807 =
Derivative financial instruments TEemIT A 17,342 43,646
Long term bonds REGES 3,523,467 3,458,072
4,177,616 3,501,718
12,553,634 11,967,659
Zhao Jiejun Sun Yugang
HEEE BER
Director Director
EF EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A

W

S R R M R

/=
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #Z= 2023128318 It F[E

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

49. KRR AR R TR R REE®

Movements in equity EREE
Share
Share Share Other award  Accumulated

capital premium reserve reserve losses Total

hx RHEE Rfifie  RORBRE i ER 3t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  AR%Tn  ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2022 RANE1A1RER 675,869 6,896,33% 1,382,199 20,266 (67,675) 8,906,995

Loss and total comprehensive expense for FREBR2AHLEE

the year = = = = (245,342) (245,342)

Vesting of award shares REROEE = = = (37776) 1,504 (36,272)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based  BERZIREEE MR (T4

payments GES - - - 44,950 - 44,950

Dividends recognised as distribution B2 AT RERE = (204,390) = = = (204,390)

Balance at 31 December 2022 RN2F12ANBESR 675869 6691946 1,382,199 27,440 (311513 8,465,941

Profit and total comprehensive income ~~ EREFIR2ARALE

for the year - - - - 5,091 5,091

Vesting of award shares REROEE - - - (27,475) (5,591) (33,066)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based B RRIRELE AR % 1)

payments ES - - - 50,049 - 50,049

Dividends recognised as distribution ARARERE - (111,997) - - - (111,997)

Balance at 31 December 2023 RABE12ANBRER 675,869 6,579,949 1,382,199 50,014 (312,013) 8,376,018

50. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 50. ERHPRER
Reference is made to the announcement dated 1 February M BB R2024 2 1AM RS - B

298

2024, that Modern Farming Wuhe, China Agricultural
Reclamation Industry Development Fund (Limited Partnership)

("China Agricultural”), Anhui Suida and Modern Farming

entered into a capital injection agreement on 1 February

2024, pursuant to which China Agricultural subscribed for

25.4% of the enlarged registered capital of Modern Farming

Wuhe by way of capital injection in cash for the sum of

RMB600 million.

China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBHRE

The following is a summary of the published audited consolidated LA T AR BEBRARKELRER AT LENE A A
financial statement of China Modern Dairy Holdings Limited and its RIEBAFEMNE HIELEZEE P B mEROHH

subsidiaries for the respective years. o
RESULTS E 4+
For the year ended 31 December BEI1I2H3TAILFE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2023F 2022F 20214 2020 20195

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR ARBTT ARBTT ARETR

Revenue WA 13,458,223 12,295,091 7,078,470 6,020,247 5,514,210
Profit before finance costs and tax BRRER AR HIBANEFI 750,243 974,600 1,233,354 1,103,028 721,208
Finance costs BERK (521,247) (379,559) (198,132) (318,624) (376,795)
Profit before tax BR 75 AT 228,996 595,041 1,035,222 784,404 350,413
Income tax expense FIEHES (43,562) (14,775) (2,023) (639) (556)
Profit for the year Byl 185,434 580,266 1,033,199 783,765 349,857
Profit for the year attrioutable to: UTERENEEET :
Owners of the Company ARAEEA 175,159 562,497 1,018,832 770,010 341,270
Non-controlling interests FEEERRIE R 10,275 17,769 14,367 13,755 8,587
185,434 580,266 1,033,199 783,765 349,857
Eamings per share (RMB) BRANAES)
Basic (cents) AR (%) 2.23 7.16 1443 12.07 5.54
Diluted (cents) #E5(5) 2.21 7.13 14,39 12.04 5.52

"‘ .'h "‘ﬁ —EocEER PERRNEBREEAT 299
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M E

As at 31 December R12H31H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20235 20226 20214 2020 20194
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Property, plant and equipment ER G 6,264,934 5,702,907 5312970 3,317,719 3,455,068
Right-of-use assets ERESE 2,198,546 1,256,949 725,164 303,849 320,161
Goodwill HE 2,417,915 2,406,658 2,075,591 1,322,457 1,371,266
Other intangible assets HtENEE 40,866 45,258 3,777 = =
Interest in associates REE N AR 771,047 458,917 353,278 289,860 215,392
Equity instruments at FVTOC| BATEARMEE
WARERTA 57,342 106,229 2,655 5,080 3,959
Prepayments BAFA 12,914 29,936 54,238 - -
Derivative financial instruments fTESRIE 117,991 19,154 67,537 - -
Pledged bank deposits BERRITER 32,089 = 127,043 122,706 =
Bank balances RITEH 677,843 236,281 201,881 20,637 -
Biological assets EMEE 11,927,977 10,631,171 9,404,924 7,101,243 7,459,359
Deferred tax assets ETHBRE 6,677 827 2337 - -
Net current liabilities REAETE (1,594,681) (541,093) (723,460) (1,881,191) (3,537,886)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERTBAR 22,931,460 20,353,194 17,607,929 10,602,360 9,287,319
Non-current liabilities ERHERE (11,088,696) (8,709,894) (6,493,195) (2,563,916) (2,079,618)
NET ASSETS EEFE 11,842,764 11,643,300 11,114,734 8,038,444 7,207,701
Capital and reserves BRR
Share capital e 675,869 675,869 675,869 555,535 551,007
Share premium and reserves B R(E & E 10,525,116 10,588,248 10,189,062 7,341,388 6,530,510
Equity attributable to owners of ARFHRE \EEER
the Company 11,200,985 11,264,117 10,864,931 7,896,923 7,081,517
Non-controlling interests IR 641,779 379,183 249,803 141,521 126,184
TOTAL EQUITY aER 11,842,764 11,643,300 11,114,734 8,038,444 7,207,701
China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. Annual Report 2023
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